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Cash and cash equivalents

ASSETS

Investment securities available—for—Sale .. ...ttt ittt eeeeeeneeeeeeeaneeeeenns

Loans Receivable:

CMO collateral .......
Finance receivables ..

Mortgage loans held-for—investment . ... ..ttt ittt ittt ettt eaeeeeeeeeenaeens
AllowancCe fOr 10AN 10SSES vt v vttt it i te et et et eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeaeeeeeeeeeneeens

Net loans receivable
Accounts receivable .....

Investment in Impac Funding Corporation ... ..ttt ittt ittt teeeeeeeeeaneeeeenes
Accrued dInterest receivable . ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e

Due from affiliates .....
Derivative assets .......

Other real estate owned

Other assets ............

Total assets .......

CMO borrowings ..........

Reverse repUrChase agreement S & . i ittt ittt ittt teee e eneeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeeeaneens
Borrowings secured by investment securities available-for-sale ..........iiiiiiinn.
Accumulated dividends payable ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e et e

Other liabilities ......

Total liabilities .

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock; $0.01 par value; 6,300,000 shares authorized; none issued or
outstanding at June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively ........c...c....
Series A junior participating preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,500,000 shares
authorized; none issued and outstanding at June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001
Series C 10.5% cumulative convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,200,000
shares authorized; none outstanding at June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001 ......
Common stock; $0.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 39,924,628 and
32,001,997 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2002 and December 31,

2001, respectively ..

Additional paid-—1n Capital ..ttt ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Accumulated other comprenensive LOSSES v it ittt ittt ittt ettt eaeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeanns
Notes receivable from commoOn StOCK SAleS v ittt ittt ittt ittt eeneeeeeeeenaeeeenns

Net accumulated deficit:

Cumulative dividends decClared ... ..ttt ittt ettt et eeeneeeeeeeeaeeeeeenns
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) . ...ttt ittt ettt

Net accumulated defdcit ...ttt ittt et e e et et ettt et e

Total stockholders'

LS 6 i

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity ... ..ttt ittt eeneeeeenns

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
and COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS)
(in thousands, except earnings per share data)

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

(Unaudited)
2002
INTEREST INCOME :
MOTEgagEe ASSEE S vttt it ittt ettt ettt et S 48,277
Other interest 1NCOmMe .. ...ttt ittt ittt e eeeeeeeeeannns 952
Total dnterest INCOmMEe . ... ittt ittt it ettt eeteeeeeeenns 49,229
INTEREST EXPENSE:
CMO DOT T OWINGS v ittt ittt e e ettt et e ettt aeeeeeeeeeaaeeeeneens 25,524
Reverse repurchase agreementsS ... ... iiiie et enneeeeeeeannns 5,348
Borrowings secured by investment securities .................. 475
Senior subordinated debentures ........ ... ittt -
Other DoOrrOWINgS & ittt ittt e ettt ettt et ettt eeeeeeeeeeaannn 328
Total Interest eXPENSE & . i i ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeannnn 31,675
Net interest 1nCOmME ... ittt ittt ittt e ettt et eeeeaeeeeeeneean 17,554
Provision for 1oan 10SSES v ittt ittt teeeeeeeeeeneeeneenenn 4,234
Net interest income after provision for loan losses .......... 13,320
NON-INTEREST INCOME :
Equity in net earnings of Impac Funding Corporation .......... 5,453
Loan servicing fees ..ttt ittt e et e e e e e e e e e 51
OLher 1NnCOmMe ..ttt ittt i ittt ettt ittt ettt 903
Total non—-interest 1NCOmMEe .. ...ttt ittt ittt tneeeeeeneennn 6,407
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE:
Professional ServViCeS v i ittt ittt ittt ettt teeeeeeeaeeeeeenees 1,080
General and administrative and other expense ................. 489
PersSONNEl EXPENSE .t vttt v e ettt eeeeeeenneeeeeeeenneeeeeeeeaeens 391
Loss (gain) on disposition of other real estate owned ........ 42
Write—-down on investment securities .........c.c.ciiiiiiiiiia.. -
Mark—-to-market 10Ss — FAS 133 ...ttt tteeteeeeennaaenns -
Total non-interest EXPEeNSEe ...ttt ii ittt teneeeeeeeeannnn 2,002

Earnings before extraordinary item and cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle .......... ... ..., 17,725
Extraordinary d1tem . ...ttt ittt e e e e e -
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ....... -

Net EarNingsS v it ittt ittt et e e e ettt et e ettt e e 17,725
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Less: Cash dividends on 10.5% cumulative convertible
preferred StOCK ..ttt ittt e e e e e e e e —— (787)

Net earnings available to common stockholders ................ 17,725 7,996

Other comprehensive earnings (loss):
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities arising

AUrIng Period ittt ittt it e e e e e e e e e e e e 678 659
Unrealized holding losses on hedging instruments
arising during period .. ...ttt e e e e e e e e (19,700) (88)
Less: Reclassification of gains (losses) included
In Net EarNinNgsS . i ittt ittt ettt e e e e et e 65 (43)
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period .... (18,957) 528
Comprehensive €arnings (lOSS) ettt tteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnns $ (1,232) $ 9,311
4

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
and COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (LOSS), CONTINUED
(in thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

For the Three Months For the S
Ended June 30, Ended J
2002 2001 2002
Earnings per share before extraordinary item and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle:
2 == $ 0.45 $ 0.44 S 0.88
Diluted ..t e e e e e e $ 0.44 $ 0.36 $ 0.87
Net earnings per share:
BaAS I G ettt ettt e e e e et $ 0.45 $ 0.39 $ 0.88
Diluted it e e e e e $ 0.44 $ 0.33 $ 0.87

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
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Cash flows from operating activities:

J LS S Y= o o e o L = O

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ..... ...ttt ittt eeeeeennenns
Equity in net earnings of Impac Funding Corporation .........c.eeiiiiiiiiiieeeeeennnn
Provision fOIr 10an 10SSES v vttt ittt ittt nnnneteeeeeeeeennnneeeeeeeeennnneeeeeeeens
Amortization of loan premiums and securitization costs ........ ittt
Gain on disposition of other real estate owned ... ...ttt ittt ittt teeeeeeeeeennenns
Write-down of investment securities available-for-sale ........ .t eennnnennn
Write-off of securitization costs from senior subordinated debentures ..............
Gain on sale of investment securities available-for-sale ......... it eennnnn.
Net change in accrued interest receivable .. ...ttt ittt eeaaeeaeenas
Net change in other assets and liabilities . ...ttt ittt eeeeeeaeenns

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ....... ...

Cash flows from investing activities:

Net change 1n CMO COllateral ... it iii ittt et ettt eaeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenns
Net change in finance receivables . ...ttt ittt ittt ettt ettt e et eeaeaaeeeeanns
Net change in mortgage loans held-for-investment . ........ ittt eeneeeeeeeenns
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned, nNet .. ...ttt ittt eneeneeneeens
Dividend from Impac Funding Corporation . ...ttt ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeaaeeeeeens
Sale of investment securities available—for—sale . ... ..ttt ittt tineeeeeeneeeeeneanns
Net principal reductions on investment securities available-for-sale ..................

Net cash used in investing activities . ...ttt ittt et e e et eeaeeenn

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net change in reverse repurchase agreements and other borrowings ............oeeeeevvnnn
Proceeds from CMO DOTTrOWING S & i i ittt ittt et ettt e et ettt eeeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeeeaeeeeeesns
Repayments Of CMO DOrrOWINg S & i i ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt eeeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeeeaneeeeesns
Dividends Padd v ui it e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et et e
Retirement of senior subordinated debentures ... .. ...ttt ittt eeeeeenneeeeeens
Proceeds from sale of commOn SEOCK ..ttt ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt eaaeeaeeen
Proceeds from exercise o0f sStoCk OpPLionS ...ttt ittt ettt et e ettt et e
Reductions (advances) on notes receivable—common StEOCK .+ v it ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeaennn

Net cash provided by financing activities .. ...ttt ittt eeee e

Net change in cash and cash equivalent s ... ...ttt ittt ettt eeneeeeeeeanns

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ....... ..ttt eeeeeennenns

Cash and cash equivalents at end oOf Period .. ...ttt ittt ettt eeeneenns
Supplementary information:

0 o o et Y A o T W I

Non-cash transactions:
Transfer of mortgage loans held-for-investment to CMO collateral ............cciiinnnn.
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Dividends declared and UNpPaid ...ttt ii ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeeeaeeeeeeens
Accumulated other comprehensive (loOSS) Gall ..ttt ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeanns
Loans transferred to other real estate owned . ... ...ttt ittt tteeeeeeeeeennenns

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)

1. Basis of Financial Statement Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q
and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the
information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In
the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring
adjustments, considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.
Operating results for the three-and six-month periods ended June 30, 2002 are
not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year
ending December 31, 2002. The accompanying consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
related notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001.

References to the Company refers to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., a
Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995, and its subsidiaries, IMH
Assets Corp. (IMH Assets), Impac Warehouse Lending Group, Inc. (IWLG) and its
affiliate, Impac Funding Corporation (IFC), together with its wholly-owned
subsidiaries Impac Secured Assets Corporation and Novelle Financial Services,
Inc. References to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (IMH) are made to differentiate
IMH, the publicly traded company, as a separate entity from IMH Assets, IWLG and
IFC. IMH is organized as a real estate investment trust (REIT) for federal
income tax purposes, which generally allows it to pass through qualified income
to stockholders without federal income tax at the corporate level, provided that
it distributes 90% of its taxable income to common stockholders.

The Company's results of operations have been presented in the
consolidated financial statements for the three- and six- months ended June 30,
2002 and 2001 and include the financial results of IMH's equity interest in net
earnings of Impac Funding Corporation (IFC), the mortgage operations. The
results of operations of IFC, of which 100% of IFC's preferred stock and 99% of
its economic interest is owned by IMH, are included in the results of operations
as "Equity in net earnings of Impac Funding Corporation." Additionally, the
Company's results of operations include the financial results of IMH Assets
Corp. (IMH Assets) and Impac Warehouse Lending Group (IWLG) as stand-alone
entities.

2. Organization

The Company 1is a nationwide acquirer, originator, securitizer and investor
of primarily non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans (Alt-A). Alt-A mortgage loans
consist primarily of mortgage loans that are first lien mortgage loans made to
borrowers whose credit is generally within typical Federal National Mortgage
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Association (Fannie Mae) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie
Mac) guidelines, but that have loan characteristics that make them
non-conforming under those guidelines. For instance, the loans may have higher
loan-to-value (LTV) ratios than allowable or may have excluded certain
documentation or verifications. Therefore, in making credit decisions, the
Company is more reliant upon the borrower's credit score and the adequacy of the
underlying collateral. Management believes that Alt-A mortgage loans provide an
attractive net earnings profile by producing higher yields without
commensurately higher credit losses than other types of mortgage loans. Since
1999, the Company has acquired and originated primarily Alt-A mortgage loans.
The Company also provides warehouse and repurchase financing to originators of
mortgage loans. Our ultimate goal is to generate consistent and reliable income
for distribution to our stockholders primarily from the earnings of our
long-term investment operations.

The Company primarily operates three core businesses: the long-term
investment operations, the mortgage operations and the warehouse lending
operations.

The long-term investment operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets,
invest primarily in Alt-A mortgage loans acquired from IFC. This business
primarily generates net interest income on its mortgage loan investment

portfolio and, to a lesser extent, its investment securities portfolio. Alt-A
mortgage loans are financed with collateralized mortgage obligations (CMO),
warehouse facilities and proceeds from the sale of capital stock.

The mortgage operations, conducted by IFC, acquire, originate, sell and
securitize primarily Alt-A mortgage loans and, to a lesser extent, sub-prime
mortgage loans (B/C loans). The mortgage operations generate income by
securitizing and selling loans to permanent investors, including the long-term
investment operations. This business also earns revenues from fees associated
with mortgage servicing rights, master servicing agreements and interest income
earned on loans held for sale. The mortgage operations primarily use warehouse
lines of credit to finance the acquisition and origination of mortgage loans.

The warehouse lending operations, conducted by IWLG, provide short-term
financing to mortgage loan originators by funding mortgage loans from their
closing date until they are sold to pre-approved investors. The warehouse
lending operations earn fees, as well as a spread, from the difference between
its cost of borrowings and the interest earned on advances. Generally, the
Company seeks to acquire Alt-A mortgage loans funded with warehouse facilities
provided by the warehouse lending operations which provides synergies with the
long-term investment operations and mortgage operations.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Method of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make significant estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may
differ materially from those estimates. Significant estimates made by management
include accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities and loan
loss provisions.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets," (SFAS 142). SFAS 142 applies to all acquired intangible assets whether
acquired singularly, as part of a group, or in a business combination. SFAS 142
supersedes Accounting Principles Bulletin (APB) Opinion No. 17, "Intangible
Assets," and carries forward provisions in APB Opinion No. 17 related to
internally developed intangible assets. SFAS 142 changes the accounting for
goodwill from an amortization method to an impairment-only approach. Goodwill
should no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least
annually at the reporting unit level. The accounting provisions are effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2001. As of June 30, 2002, the
Company's intangible assets and goodwill are not significant. The financial
impact of adopting this statement did not have a material impact on the
Company's financial condition and results of operations.

SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations," ("SFAS 143"),
addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement
costs. SFAS 143 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2002. Management anticipates that the financial impact
of SFAS 143 will not have a material effect on the Company's financial condition
and results of operations.

SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets," ("SFAS 144"), addresses financial accounting and reporting for the
impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121,
"Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
be Disposed Of," and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No.
30, "Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring
Events and Transactions," for the disposal of a business segment. SFAS 144 also
eliminates the exception to consolidation for a subsidiary for which control is
likely to be temporary. The provisions of SFAS 144 are effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001 and interim
periods within those fiscal years. The provisions of SFAS 144 generally are to
be applied prospectively. Management anticipates that the financial impact of
SFAS 144 will not have a material effect on the Company's financial condition
and results of operations.

SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of SFAS Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment
of SFAS Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections," ("SFAS 145"), updates,
clarifies and simplifies existing accounting pronouncements. SFAS 145 rescinds
SFAS No. 4, "Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt." SFAS 145
amends SFAS No. 13, "Accounting for Leases," to eliminate an inconsistency
between the required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and the required
accounting for eleven certain lease modifications that have economic effects
that are similar to sale-leaseback transactions. The provisions of SFAS 145
related to SFAS No. 4 and SFAS No. 13 are effective for fiscal years beginning
and transactions occurring after May 15, 2002, respectively. Management
anticipates that the financial impact of SFAS 145 will not have a material
effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities," ("SFAS 146"), requires the recognition of costs associated with
exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a
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commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS 146 replaces Emerging Issues Task
Force ("EITF") Issue No. 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain
Costs Incurred in a Restructuring) ." The provisions of SFAS 146 are to be
applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities initiated after December
31, 2002. Management anticipates that the financial impact of SFAS 145 will not
have a material effect on the Company's financial condition and results of
operations.

4. Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

In June 1998, the FASB issued with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," as amended by SFAS No. 137 and
SFAS No. 138, collectively, (SFAS 133). SFAS 133 establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative instruments, including a number of derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts, collectively referred to as
derivatives, and for hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognize
all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial
position and measure those instruments at fair value. If specific conditions are
met, a derivative may be specifically designated as (1) a hedge of the exposure
to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an
unrecognized firm commitment; (2) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows
of a forecasted transaction; or (3) a hedge of the foreign currency exposure of
a net investment in a foreign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an
available for sale security or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted
transaction.

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS 133 and the fair market value
of derivative instruments are reflected on the Company's financial statements.
On August 10, 2001, the Derivatives Implementation Group (DIG) of the FASB
published DIG G20, which further interpreted SFAS 133. On October 1, 2001, the
Company adopted the provisions of DIG G20 and net income and accumulated other
comprehensive income were adjusted by the amount needed to reflect the
cumulative impact of adopting the provisions of DIG G20. The following table
presents certain information related to derivative instruments and hedging
activities as of June 30, 2002 (in thousands) :

Related
Original Fair Amount in
Notional Value Other
Face of Comprehensive
Amount Derivatives Index Income
Caps and collars not
associated with
CMOS viviiiiiiiinnnn $1,937,008 S (8,739) 1 mo. LIBOR $(12,596)
Cash in margin
account ............. 20,307 20,307 N/A ——
Caps, collars and
swaps associated
with CMOs ........... 2,782,790 (12,324) 1 mo. LIBOR (22,862)
99% of OCI activity
at IFC ... 110,000 (604) FNMA (255)
Totals .vvvvviiinnn $4,850,105 $ (1,360) $(35,713)

Unamort
Derivat
Instrun

10,5

10
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The following table presents certain information related to derivative
instruments and hedging activities as of December 31,

thousands) :

2001

(dollars in

Related
Original Fair Amount in
Notional Value Other Unamort
Face of Comprehensive Derivat
Amount Derivatives Index Income Instrum
Caps and collars not
associated with
CMOS v iviiiiiiiinnnn $1,860,790 $(13,659) 1 mo. LIBOR $(15,240) $ 1,5
Cash in margin
account ............. 18,787 18,787 N/A ——
Caps, collars and
swaps associated
with CMOs ........... 1,070,500 (4,372) 1 mo. LIBOR (12,722) 8, 3
99% of OCI activity
at IFC ... 36,000 (158) FNMA (90)
Totals ..o $2,986,077 $ 598 $(28,052) $ 9,9

5. Reconciliation of Net Earnings per Share

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net
earnings per share for the periods shown as if all stock options and 10.5%
cumulative convertible preferred stock (Preferred Stock) were outstanding for
the periods indicated (in thousands, except earnings per share):

For the Thre
Ended Jun

2002
Numerator for earnings per share:
Earnings before extraordinary 1tem ... ...ttt i i e $17,725
ExXtraordinary 1L em ...ttt it it et e e e e e et et et -
J LS T Y= ol o Y o L = O 17,725
Less: Dividends paid to preferred stockholders ........ ..t nnnnn. -
Net earnings available to common stockholders ...........iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiennnnn. $17,725
Denominator for earnings per share:
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period ... 39,522
Impact of assumed conversion of Preferred Stock ..........iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnn. -
Net effect of dilutive stock OpPLionNSs ...ttt ittt i ittt ettt e et eeeee e 715
Diluted weighted average common and common equivalent shares ................ 40,237
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Earnings per share before extraordinary item:

2T = T

L G Y

Net earnings per share:

2T = T

L G Y

The Company had none and 5,839 stock options during the three months ended
June 30, 2002 and June 30, 2001, respectively, that were not considered in the
dilutive calculation of earnings per share as the exercise price was higher than

the market price for the period.

10

Numerator for earnings per share:
FEarnings before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change in

ACCOUNtLING PrinCiple o it ittt ittt ettt e et e ettt e et e e
ExXtraordinary 1L em ...ttt it et e e e e e e e ettt e e e
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ........ i,

FEarnings after extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change in

in accoUNting PrincCiple ...ttt it ittt e e e e e e ettt e e
Less: Dividends paid to preferred stockholders ........ ..ttt nnnnn.

Net earnings available to common stockholders .........iiiiiiiiiinttieenneneennns

Denominator for earnings per share:
Basic weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period

Impact of assumed conversion of Preferred Stock ..... ...ttt eeeennn
Net effect of dilutive stock OpPLionSs ...ttt ittt e ettt et eeeee e

Diluted weighted average common and common equivalent shares ................

Net earnings per share before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle:

2T = e

L G Y

Net earnings per share:

2T 0= T

L G Y

$ 0.45
$ 0.44
$ 0.45
$ 0.44

For the Six
Ended Jun
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The Company had 17,127 and 15,136 stock options during the six months
ended June 30, 2002 and June 30, 2001, respectively, that were not considered in
the dilutive calculation of earnings per share as the exercise price was higher
than the market price for the period.

11

6. Mortgage Assets

Mortgage Assets consist of investment securities available-for-sale,
mortgage loans held-for-investment, CMO collateral and finance receivables. As
of June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001, Mortgage Assets consisted of the
following (in thousands):

June 30, Decemb
2002 20
Investment securities available-for-sale:
Subordinated securities collateralized by mortgages ............... $ 22,525 S
Net unrealized gain (1) . ii ittt ittt ittt ettt eeaeeeeeneenns 5,613
Carrying value of investment securities available-for-sale ..... 28,138
Loans Receivable:
CMO collateral--
CMO collateral, unpaid principal balance .........iiiiieeeeennnnns 3,382,143 2,1
Unamortized net premiums 0N 1OANS ...ttt it ittt eeeeeeeoneeeeenns 53,531
SeCUritization EXPENSES & ittt ittt et et e et et et 14,707
Fair value of derivative instruments allocated to CMO collateral .. (12,324)
Carrying value of CMO collateral . ... ..t iiinieeeeeneeeeeeeenns 3,438,057 2,2
Finance receivables, net of pledge balances (2)-—-—
Due from affiliates ..ttt ittt ettt et ettt ettt 225,872 1
Due from other mortgage banking companies .........oiiiiiieennneen.. 343,439 3
Carrying value of finance receivables ...... ..t eeennn. 569,311 4
Mortgage loans held-for-investment--
Mortgage loans held-for-investment, unpaid principal balance ...... 10,718
Unamortized net disScCoUNLTS ON 10aGNS v ittt ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeeeaenes (40)
Carrying value of mortgage loans held-for-investment ........... 10,678
Carrying value of Gross Loans Receivable ...... ..t itennnnenn. 4,018,046 2,7
Allowance fOr 10aAN L1OSSES vt ittt ittt et ettt ettt teteseeeeeaeneas (16,934) (
Carrying value of Net Loans Receivable ........... .. 4,001,112 2,7
Total carrying value of Mortgage ASSELS ..ttt eeeenneneeeeennnn $ 4,029,250 S 2,7
(1) Unrealized gains on investment securities available-for-sale is a
component of accumulated other comprehensive losses in stockholders'
equity.

13
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(2) Outstanding advances on warehouse lines that the warehouse lending
operations makes to affiliates and external customers.

7. Allowance for Loan Losses

The Company makes a monthly provision for estimated loan losses on its
long-term investment portfolio as an increase to allowance for loan losses. The
provision for estimated loan losses is primarily based on a migration analysis
based on historical loss statistics, including cumulative loss percentages and
loss severity, of similar loans in the Company's long-term investment portfolio.
The loss percentage is used to determine the estimated inherent losses in the
investment portfolio. Provision for loan losses is also based on management's
judgment of net loss potential, including specific allowances for known impaired
loans, changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio, the value of the
collateral and current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers'
ability to pay. The adequacy of the allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a
monthly basis by management to maintain the allowance at levels sufficient to
provide for inherent losses. The migration system analyzes historical migration
of mortgage loans from original current status to 30—, 60- and 90-day
delinquency, foreclosure, and other real estate owned and liquidated. The
principal balance of all loans currently in the long-term investment portfolio
are included in the migration analysis until the principal balance of loans
either become real estate owned or are paid in full. The statistics generated by
the migration analysis are used to establish the general valuation for loan
losses. The following tables present activity for allowance for loan losses for
the periods shown (in thousands) :

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

2002 2001
Balance, beginning of period ................ $ 14,764 $ 6,295
Provision for loan 1l0SSE€S ...t eneennnn 4,234 3,905
Charge-offs, net of recoveries .............. (2,064) (2,383)
Balance, end of period ......iiiiiierrnnnnnn. $ 16,934 $ 7,817

12
For the Six Months
Ended June 30,

2002 2001
Balance, beginning of period ................ $ 11,692 $ 5,090
Provision for loan 1l0SSES ..t iiiineeneennnn 7,941 7,943
Charge-offs, net of recoveries .............. (2,699) (5,2106)
Balance, end of period ......iiiiiernnnnnn. $ 16,934 $ 7,817

8. Segment Reporting

The Company internally reviews and analyzes its operating segments as
follows:

o the long-term investment operations, conducted by IMH and IMH
Assets, invests primarily in non-conforming Alt-A residential

14
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mortgage loans acquired from the mortgage operations and
mortgage-backed securities secured by or representing interests in
such loans and in second mortgage loans;

o the warehouse lending operations, conducted by IWLG, provides
warehouse and repurchase financing to affiliated companies and to
approved mortgage bankers, a majority of which are correspondents of
IFC, to finance mortgage loans; and

o the mortgage operations, conducted by IFC, Impac Lending Group
(ILG), a division of IFC, and Novelle Financial Services (NFS), a
subsidiary of IFC, purchases and originates primarily non-conforming
Alt-A mortgage loans, second mortgage loans and, to a lesser extent,
B/C loans from its network of third party correspondent sellers,
mortgage brokers and retail customers. IFC is an unconsolidated
taxable REIT subsidiary of IMH and its results of operations are
shown as "Equity interest in net earnings of IFC."

The following table shows reporting segments as of and for the six months
ended June 30, 2002 (in thousands) :

Long-Term Warehouse
Investment Lending (a)
Operations Operations Eliminations
Balance Sheet Items
CMO collateral $3,438,057 S - $ -
Total assets 3,901,136 600,493 (219,715)
Total stockholders' equity 397,210 79,706 (219, 6006)
Income Statement Items
Interest income S 75,990 $ 17,257 S (950)
Interest expense 49,928 10,118 (950)
Equity interest in net earnings
of IFC (b) - - 10,062
Net earnings 16,369 6,943 10,062

The following table shows reporting segments for the three months ended
June 30, 2002 (in thousands) :

Income Statement Items

Interest income S 40,535 $ 9,637 S (943)
Interest expense 26,947 5,671 (943)
Equity interest in net earnings
of IFC (b) - - 5,453
Net earnings 8,446 3,826 5,453
13

The following table shows reporting segments as of and for the six months
ended June 30, 2001 (in thousands) :
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Long-Term Warehouse
Investment Lending (a)
Operations Operations Eliminations
Balance Sheet Items
CMO collateral $1,439,848 S - S -
Total assets 1,829,747 676,335 (328,609)
Total stockholders' equity 268,931 67,151 (148,247)
Income Statement Items
Interest income S 58,405 $ 23,264 S (4,604)
Interest expense 44,361 17,865 (4,604)
Equity interest in net earnings
of IFC (b) - - 4,818
Net earnings 252 4,855 4,818
The following table shows reporting segments for the three months ended
June 30, 2001 (in thousands) :
Income Statement Items
Interest income S 29,006 $ 11,483 S (2,823)
Interest expense 20,947 8,991 (2,823)
Equity interest in net earnings
of IFC (b) - - 3,528
Net earnings 2,991 2,264 3,528
(a) Elimination of inter-segment balance sheet and income statement items.
(b) The mortgage operations are accounted for using the equity method and are
an unconsolidated qualified REIT subsidiary of the Company.
9. Investment in Impac Funding Corporation
The Company is entitled to 99% of the earnings or losses of IFC through
its ownership of 100% of the non-voting preferred stock of IFC. As such, the
Company records its investment in IFC using the equity method. Under this
method, original investments are recorded at cost and adjusted by the Company's
share of earnings or losses. The following tables are financial information for
IFC for the periods presented (in thousands) :
14
BALANCE SHEETS
June 30,
2002
ASSETS
Cash S 27,671 S
Investment securities available-for-sale 94
Mortgage loans held-for-sale 241,057

December 31,

28,612

174,172
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Mortgage servicing rights
Premises and equipment, net
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'

Borrowings from IWLG

Due to affiliates
Deferred revenue
Accrued interest expense
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Shareholders' Equity:

Preferred stock

Common stock

Retained earnings

Cumulative dividends declared

Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss)

Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Gain on sale of loans
Loan servicing income
Other non-interest income

Total non-interest income

Personnel expense

General and administrative and other expense
Amortization of mortgage servicing rights
Provision for repurchases

Mark-to-market loss - FAS 133

Total non-interest expense
Earnings before income taxes and cumulative effect

of change in accounting principle
Income taxes

EQUITY

S 238,425
14,500
3,779

336
32,701

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

$ 174,136
14,500
4,479

453
26,914
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Earnings before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle 5,508 3,549
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle —= -

Net earnings 5,508 3,549

Less: Cash dividends on preferred stock (3,713) (2,475)

Net earnings available to common stockholders $ 1,795 $ 1,074
15

10. Accounts Receivable

An accounting entry for $132.5 million was recorded to accounts receivable
for the pre-funding of the CMO that was completed on June 26, 2002. Pre-funding
allows the Company to complete a securitized transaction and lock-in financing
terms and conditions before mortgage loans securing CMOs are delivered to the
trustee. However, the Company must establish a pre-funding account with the
trustee whereby all or a portion of the proceeds of the sale of one or more
classes of bonds created by the CMO will be deposited in the account to be
released as additional mortgage loans are transferred. As of July 31, 2002,
mortgage loans were transferred to the trustee thereby satisfying all
requirements of the pre-funding arrangement.

11. Stockholders' Equity

During the six months ended June 30, 2002, accumulated other comprehensive
losses increased by $10.0 million due to a $9.3 million increase in unrealized
loss on derivative assets and a $711,000 increase in unrealized loss on
investment securities available-for-sale.

During the six months ended June 30, 2002, the Company issued 7.4 million
shares of common stock and received net proceeds of $57.0 million.

During the three months ended June 30, 2002, the Company sold 489,300
shares of common stock pursuant to its sales agency agreement which provided net
proceeds of approximately $5.5 million.

On June 25, 2002, the Company declared a second quarter cash dividend of
$0.43 per common share, or $17.2 million, which was paid on July 12, 2002 to
common stockholders of record on July 3, 2002.

On March 26, 2002, the Company declared a first quarter cash dividend of
$0.40 per common share, or $15.8 million, which was paid on April 16, 2002 to
common stockholders of record on April 3, 2002.

12. Subsequent Events
On July 17, 2002, the Company filed an Articles of Amendment with the
State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland on increasing

authorized shares of Common Stock. The increase was approved by the shareholders
on June 25, 2002.

16
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Item 2: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations

This Quarterly Report contains certain forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements, some of which are
based on various assumptions and events that are beyond our control, may be
identified by reference to a future period or periods or by the use of
forward-looking terminology, such as "may," "will," "believe," "expect,"
"anticipate," "continue," or similar terms or variations on those terms or the
negative of those terms. Actual results could differ materially from those set
forth in forward-looking statements due to a variety of factors, including, but
not limited to, adverse economic conditions, the ability to generate sufficient
liquidity, including completing securitizations and earning interest on our
mortgage loans, different interest rate fluctuations on our assets and
liabilities, changes in the difference between short-term and long-term interest
rates, increase in prepayment rates on our mortgage assets, changes in
assumptions regarding estimated loan losses, the availability of financing and,
if available, the terms of any financing. For a discussion of the risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from those contained in
the forward-looking statements refer to "Risk Factors" in this Quarterly Report.
We do not undertake, and specifically disclaim any obligation, to publicly
release the results of any revisions that may be made to any forward-looking
statements to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or
circumstances after the date of such statements.

The terms "Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc., a Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995, and its
subsidiaries, IMH Assets Corp., or "IMH Assets," Impac Warehouse Lending Group,
Inc., or "IWLG," and its affiliate, Impac Funding Corporation, or "IFC,"
together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Impac Secured Assets Corporation and
Novelle Financial Services, Inc. References to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., or
"IMH," are made to differentiate IMH, the publicly traded company, as a separate
entity from IMH Assets, IWLG and IFC.

IMH is a mortgage real estate investment trust ("REIT"). Together with our
subsidiaries and affiliate, IFC, we are a nationwide acquirer, originator,
securitizer and investor of primarily non-conforming Alt-A mortgage loans
("Alt-A"). Alt-A mortgage loans consist primarily of mortgage loans that are
first lien mortgage loans made to borrowers whose credit is generally within
typical Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") and the Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") guidelines, but that have loan
characteristics that make them non-conforming under those guidelines. For
instance, the Alt-A mortgage loans may have higher loan-to-value LTV ratios than
allowable or may have excluded certain documentation or verifications.
Therefore, in making credit decisions, we are more reliant upon the borrower's
credit score and the adequacy of the underlying collateral. Alt-A credit quality
loans generally have a credit score of 600 or better while "A" credit quality
loans generally have a credit score of 640 or better.

We believe that the non-conforming Alt-A mortgage market is expanding
because this market niche provides mortgage borrowers with valuable financing
alternatives to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and sub-prime lenders. We also believe
that Alt-A mortgage loans provide an attractive net earnings profile by
producing higher yields without commensurately higher credit losses than other
types of mortgage loans. Since 1999, we have acquired and originated primarily
Alt-A mortgage loans. We also provide warehouse and repurchase financing to
originators of mortgage loans. Our ultimate goal is to generate consistent and
reliable income for distribution to our stockholders primarily from the earnings
of our long-term investment operations.

Critical Accounting Policies
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Certain accounting policies require us to make significant estimates and
assumptions, which have a material impact on the carrying value of certain
assets and liabilities, and we consider these to be critical accounting
policies. The estimates and assumptions we use are based on historical
experience and other factors, which we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from these estimates
and assumptions which could have a material impact on the carrying value of
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet dates and our results of operations
for the reporting periods. We believe the following are critical accounting
policies that require the most significant estimates and assumptions that are
particularly susceptible to significant change in the preparation of our
financial statements:

o Allowance for losses on loans. For further information, see note 7
on page 12 of notes to consolidated financial statements and pages
21 and 22 of this section; and

17

o Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. For
further information, see note 4 on pages 9 and 10 of notes to
consolidated financial statements and "Item 3. Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" on page 45.

Significant Transactions

On February 7, 2002, IMH issued 7.4 million shares of common stock at a
price of $8.25 per share and received net proceeds of $57.0 million.

On March 26, 2002, IMH declared a first quarter cash dividend of $0.40 per
common share, or $15.8 million, which was paid on April 16, 2002 to common
stockholders of record on April 3, 2002.

On June 25, 2002, IMH declared a second quarter cash dividend of $0.43 per
common share, or $17.2 million, which was paid on July 12, 2002 to common
stockholders of record on July 3, 2002.

During the three months ended June 30, 2002, IMH issued and sold 489,300
shares of common stock pursuant to its sales agency agreement at an average net
price of $11.21 per share, which provided net proceeds of approximately $5.5
million.

Operating Segments

We primarily operate three core businesses: the long-term investment
operations, the mortgage operations, and the warehouse lending operations.

Long-Term Investment Operations

The long-term investment operations, conducted by IMH and IMH Assets,
invest primarily in Alt-A mortgage loans. This business primarily generates net
interest income on its mortgage investment portfolio and, to a lesser extent,
its investment securities portfolio. Alt-A mortgage loans are financed with
collateralized mortgage obligations ("CMOs"), warehouse facilities and proceeds
from the sale of capital stock. During the first six months of 2002, the
long-term investment operations acquired $1.6 billion of primarily Alt-A
adjustable-rate mortgages ("ARMs") secured by first liens on residential
property from the mortgage operations. Of the Alt-A mortgages acquired during
the first six months of 2002, 72% were acquired with prepayment penalty features
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with a weighted average coupon of 6.56% and a weighted average credit score of
684. As of June 30, 2002, the long-term mortgage investment portfolio was $3.4
billion of which approximately 94% were ARMs and 6% were fixed rate mortgages
("FRMs") . The long-term mortgage investment portfolio had a weighted average
coupon of 7.13%, a weighted average margin of 3.15% and an original weighted
average credit score of 676. Ninety-six percent of long-term mortgage investment
portfolio were Alt-A mortgages, 65% had prepayment penalty features with a
weighted average expiration period of 22 months and 50% were six-month London
Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") indexed hybrid loans ("six month hybrids"). Six
months hybrids have initial fixed interest rate periods of two to five years,
which subsequently adjust to ARMs, and had an average interest rate adjustment
period of approximately 13 months as of June 30, 2002.

Mortgage Operations

The mortgage operations, conducted by IFC, acquire, originate, sell and
securitize primarily Alt-A mortgage loans and, to a lesser extent, sub-prime
mortgage loans ("B/C loans"). The mortgage operations generate income by
securitizing and selling loans to permanent investors, including the long-term
investment operations. This business also earns revenues from fees associated
with mortgage servicing rights, master servicing agreements and interest income
earned on loans held for sale. The mortgage operations primarily use warehouse
lines of credit to finance the acquisition and origination of mortgage loans.
Loan acquisitions and originations by the mortgage operations were $2.6 billion
during the first six months of 2002. Of mortgages acquired or originated during
the first six months of 2002, 75% had prepayment penalty features and 69% were
ARMs. During the first six months of 2002, the mortgage operations sold $1.6
billion of mortgage loans to the long-term investment operations, issued real
estate mortgage investment conduits ("REMICs") totaling $594.7 million and sold
$308.6 million of mortgage loans to first party investors. As of June 30, 2002,
the master servicing portfolio was $6.9 billion and the loan delinquency rate of
mortgages in the master servicing portfolio which were 60 or more days past due,
inclusive of foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies, was 4.70%.
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Warehouse Lending Operations

The warehouse lending operations, conducted by IWLG, provide short-term
financing to mortgage loan originators by funding mortgage loans from their
closing date until they are sold to pre-approved investors. The warehouse
lending operations earn fees, as well as a spread, from the difference between
its cost of borrowings and the interest earned on advances. As of June 30, 2002,
the warehouse lending operations had $498.0 million of short-term warehouse
lines of credit available to 59 non-affiliated customers, of which $343.4
million was outstanding.

Results of Operations--Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2002 as compared to the Three Months Ended
June 30, 2001

Net earnings for the second quarter of 2002 was $17.7 million, or $0.44
per diluted share, as compared to net earnings of $8.8 million, or $0.33 per
diluted share, for the second quarter of 2001. Net earnings rose as net interest
income increased $7.0 million due to an increase in average mortgage assets
while equity in net earnings of IFC, the Company's taxable REIT subsidiary,
increased $1.9 million.

Net interest income increased 66% to $17.6 million during the second
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quarter of 2002 as compared to $10.6 million during the second quarter of 2001
as total average mortgage assets rose. Total average mortgage assets increased
85% to $3.7 billion during the second quarter of 2002 as compared to $2.0
billion during the second quarter of 2001 as the long-term investment operations
acquired $2.5 billion of mortgage loans for long-term investment since the end
of the second quarter of 2001.

Yield on Mortgage Assets declined 221 basis points to 5.26% during the
second quarter of 2002 as compared to 7.47% during the second quarter of 2001 as
interest rates on mortgage loans declined. The decline in mortgage interest
rates was the result of short-term interest rate reductions by the Federal
Reserve Bank during 2001 and 2002 in response to a faltering economy and the
events of September 11, 2001. Short-term interest rates reached historical lows
during 2002. As short-term interest rates and mortgage rates declined, borrowing
costs on Mortgage Assets declined as well. Yield on borrowings on Mortgage
Assets declined 219 basis points to 3.58% during the second quarter of 2002 as
compared to 5.77% during the second quarter of 2001.

The decrease in net interest spread resulted in a 22 basis point decrease
in net interest margins on Mortgage Assets to 1.85% during the second quarter of
2002 as compared to 2.07% during the second quarter of 2001. Margin compression
during the second quarter of 2002 was primarily due to the acquisition of
six-month LIBOR indexed ARMs ("six month ARMs") since the end of the third
quarter of 2001. Prior to the third quarter of 2001, the long-term investment
operations primarily acquired six month hybrids which have initial fixed
interest rate periods of two to five years and subsequently change to six month
ARMs .

The acquisition of six month ARMs compressed net interest margins as six
month ARMs typically have lower initial interest rates than six month hybrids.
The acquisition of six month ARMs dramatically changed the composition of the
mortgage loan investment portfolio and reduced its weighted average coupon.
However, since six month ARMs generally have longer expected durations than six
month hybrids, we expect that six month ARMs will generate more consistent and
reliable cash flows over a longer time horizon while at the same time reducing
interest rate risk in an ever-changing interest rate environment.

The acquisition of six month ARMs also compressed net interest margins as
we were able to finance a higher percentage of six month ARMs securing CMOs than
we could previously finance with six month hybrids as collateral for CMOs.
Although this caused an overall increase in leverage on the mortgage loan
investment portfolio and compressed net interest margins, we were able to
efficiently use available capital and earn as comparable a return on the capital
invested in six month ARMs as we previously earned on six month hybrids.

In addition, because we frequently finance the acquisition of mortgage
loans with CMOs, we significantly reduce our exposure to liquidity risk by
converting the financing of loans from reverse repurchase agreements, which are
subject to margin calls, to long-term debt financing, which are not subject to
margin calls. Currently, the average amount of time between when the mortgage
operations acquires and originates a mortgage loan and when the mortgage loan is
securitized is 30 to 45 days.

19

We expect a favorable interest rate environment for the remainder of 2002
as the economy slowly recovers from the current recession. The Federal Reserve
Bank did not raise short-term interest rates at its last meeting as it indicated
that the pace of the economic recovery remains uncertain. There appears to be no
imminent plans by the Federal Reserve Bank to increase short-term interest in
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the near term. We feel that interest rate hedging instruments that are currently
in place, a significant volume of ARMs that have been acquired since the end of
the third quarter of 2001 and our on-going hedging policy will help to mitigate
possible adverse effects that rising interest rates may have on future earnings.

The following table summarizes average balance, interest and weighted
average yield on Mortgage Assets and borrowings on Mortgage Assets for the
second quarters of 2002 and 2001 and includes interest income on Mortgage Assets
and interest expense related to borrowings on Mortgage Assets only (dollars in
thousands) :

For the Three Months
Ended June 30, 2002

Average Wtd. Avg
Balance Interest Yield
Mortgage Assets
Securities collateralized by mortgages S 28,655 S 655 9.14%
Loans receivable:
CMO collateral (1) 2,865,465 37,750 5.27
Mortgage loans held-for-investment (1) 96,062 1,231 5.13
Finance receivables:
Affiliated 430,283 4,895 4.55
Non-affiliated 249,362 3,746 6.01
Total finance receivables 679,645 8,641 5.09
Total Loans receivable 3,641,172 47,622 5.23
Total Mortgage Assets $3,669,827 $48,277 5.26%
Borrowings on Mortgage Assets
CMO borrowings (2) $2,769,705 $25,524 3.69%
Reverse repurchase agreements - mortgages 719,328 5,348 2.97
Borrowings secured by investment securities 10,714 475 17.73
Total Borrowings on Mortgage Assets $3,499,747 $31,347 3.58%
Net Interest Spread (3) 1.68%
Net Interest Margin (4) 1.85%
(1) Interest income includes amortization of acquisition costs.
(2) Interest expense includes amortization of securitization costs.
(3) Net interest spread is calculated by subtracting the weighted average

yield on total borrowings on Mortgage Assets from the weighted average
yield on total Mortgage Assets.

(4) Net interest margin is calculated by subtracting interest expense on total
borrowings on Mortgage Assets from interest income on total Mortgage

Assets and then dividing by the total average balance for Mortgage Assets.

Due to the acquisition of a high percentage of mortgage loans with
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prepayment penalties, constant prepayment rates ("CPR") improved to 26% during
the second quarter of 2002 as compared to 41% during the second quarter of 2001.
CPR results from the unscheduled principal pay down or payoff of mortgage loans
prior to the contractual maturity date or contractual payment schedule of the
mortgage loan. Mortgage loans acquired from the mortgage operations with
prepayment penalty features help to mitigate CPR and corresponding premium and
securitization cost amortization as a result of refinancing activity. Loan
premiums paid for acquiring mortgage loans and securitization costs for
obtaining financing are amortized to interest income and interest expense over
the estimated lives of the mortgage loans or related borrowings.

The long-term investment operations acquired $1.1 billion of primarily
Alt-A mortgage loans from the mortgage operations during the second quarter of
2002. The following table summarizes mortgage loan acquisitions for the periods
indicated (in thousands) :
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LOAN ACQUISITION SUMMARY
(excludes premiums paid)

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

2002 2001
Balance % Balance %
Volume by Type:
Adjustable rate ..... ... $1,095,144 100 $362,048 98
Fixed rate ...t iin ittt ieinennnn 867 0 5,679 2
Total Loan Acquisitions ........... $1,096,011 $367,727
Volume by Product:
Six month LIBOR indexed ARMS ......... $ 785,040 72 $ 20,954 6
Six month LIBOR indexed hybrids (1) .. 310,104 28 341,094 93
Fixed first trust deeds .............. 556 0 -
Fixed second trust deeds ............. 311 0 5,679 1
Total Loan Acquisitions ........... $1,096,011 $367,727
Volume by Credit Quality:
Alt=A 10GNS 4ttt ettt e eeeeeenneeeennens $1,091,232 100 $365,971 100
B/C 1OANS &ttt ittt ettt eeeeeeeeennnn 4,779 0 1,756 0
Total Loan Acquisitions ........... $1,096,011 $367,727
Volume by Purpose:
PUrChasSe &ttt ettt ettt $ 680,806 62 $233,768 64
Refinance . ...ttt ittt eeeennnneens 415,205 38 133,959 36
Total Loan Acquisitions ........... $1,096,011 $367,727

Volume by Prepayment Penalty:
With prepayment penalty .............. $ 835,124 76 $228,653 62
Without prepayment penalty ........... 260,887 24 139,074 38
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Total Loan Acquisitions ........... $1,096,011 $367,727

(1) Mortgage loans are fixed rate for initial two to five year periods and
subsequently adjust to the indicated index plus a margin.

Seventy-two percent of mortgage loans acquired by the long-term investment
operations from the mortgage operations during the second quarter of 2002 were
six month ARMs as compared to 6% during the second quarter of 2001. The shift
from acquiring primarily six month hybrids prior to the end of the third quarter
of 2001 to primarily acquiring six month LIBOR indexed ARMs reflects a widening
gap between short- and long-term interest rates and adjustable- and fixed-rate
mortgages and borrowers belief that short-term interest rates will not increase
significantly in the near term. The acquisition for long-term investment of a
higher than expected volume of ARMs from the mortgage operations has shifted
projected future earnings from less reliance on gain on sale of loans as a
source of revenue to net interest income generated from the mortgage loan
investment portfolio.

To finance the acquisition of mortgage loans during the second quarter of
2002, the long-term investment operations issued $1.2 billion of CMOs, which
were primarily AAA rated bonds, and were priced on a weighted average basis of
one-month LIBOR plus 42 basis points. In addition, we raised $5.5 million upon
the issuance of 489,300 shares of common stock at an average net price of $11.21
per share. Common stock was sold as part of our sales agency agreement to sell
up to 3,594,082 shares from time to time, at our discretion, at market prices.

We continue to maintain an allowance for loan losses relative to total
loans receivable at the same ratio as last year—-end when total assets were $2.9
billion. We believe that maintaining sufficient levels of loan loss allowances
combined with acquiring mortgages with favorable credit profiles will help to
mitigate our credit risk. Allowance for loan losses increased 44% to $16.9
million as of June 30, 2002 as compared to $11.7 million as of December 31,
2001. Allowance for loan losses expressed as a percentage of loans receivable,
which includes CMO collateral, mortgage loans held-for-investment and finance
receivables, was 0.42% as of June 30, 2002 as compared to 0.43% as of December
31, 2001. As of June 30, 2002, total non-performing assets were $88.1 million,
or 2.06% of total assets, as compared to $69.3 million, or 2.43% of total
assets, as of December 31, 2001. Mortgage loans that were 60 or more days
delinquent, including foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies, was 3.10% of the
long-term mortgage investment portfolio as of June 30, 2002 as compared to 3.84%
as of December 31, 2001.
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We make monthly provisions for estimated loan losses on our long-term
investment portfolio as an increase to allowance for loan losses. The provision
for estimated loan losses is primarily based on a migration analysis based on
historical loss statistics, including cumulative loss percentages and loss
severity, of similar loans in our long-term investment portfolio. The loss
percentage is used to determine the estimated inherent losses in the investment
portfolio. Provision for loan losses is also based on management's judgment of
net loss potential, including specific allowances for known impaired loans,
changes in the nature and volume of the portfolio, the value of the collateral
and current economic conditions that may affect the borrowers' ability to pay.
During the second quarter of 2002, provision for loan losses was $4.2 million as
compared to $3.9 million for the second quarter of 2001. Actual loan losses, net
of recoveries, during the second quarter of 2002 were $2.1 million as compared
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to actual loan losses, net of recoveries, of $2.4 million during the second
quarter of 2001.

Equity in net earnings of IFC increased 57% to $5.5 million during the
second quarter of 2002 as compared to $3.5 million during the second quarter of
2001 as loan acquisitions and originations and sales volume rose. Loan
acquisitions and originations during the second quarter of 2002 was $1.4 billion
as compared to $764.9 million during the second quarter of 2001. The increase in
loan acquisitions and originations resulted in loan sales of $1.5 billion during
the second quarter of 2002 and gain on sale of loans of $19.6 million as
compared to loan sales of $786.4 million and gain on sale of loans of $12.9
million during the second quarter of 2001. Refer to "Results of
Operations——-Impac Funding Corporation" for more information on the operating
results of IFC.

Core Operating Earnings. Core operating earnings for the second quarter of
2002 increased to $17.7 million, or $0.44 per diluted share, as compared to core
operating earnings of $10.5 million, or $0.39 per diluted share, for the second
quarter of 2001. Core operating earnings reflect recurring earnings from
operations and exclude one-time, non-recurring income and expense items and the
effect of fair market accounting for derivative instruments and hedging
activities. Core operating earnings is a concept not recognized by generally
accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") and may not be comparable to core
operating earnings of other companies.

The following table summarizes the calculation of core operating earnings
and a reconciliation of core operating earnings to net earnings (in thousands,
except earnings per share amounts):

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

2002 2001
Nel CarNINgS vttt ittt ettt ettt et et e e eeaeeeeeseeeeennaeeenns $17,725 $ 8,783
Adjustments to net earnings:
Mark-to-market 1oss — FAS 133 ...ttt nnnnnennnnn - 581
Write-down on investment securities available-for-sale . - 108
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .... - 1,006
Core operating EarNiNgsS .. ee oo eeeeeeennnneeeeeeenenns $17,725 $10,478
Core operating earnings per share .........oiiiiieeeennnnnn. $ 0.44 $ 0.39

Estimated Taxable Earnings. Estimated taxable earnings for the second
quarter of 2002 were $18.5 million, or $0.46 per diluted share, as compared to
$10.4 million, or $0.38 per diluted share, during the second quarter of 2001.
Estimated taxable earnings during the second quarter of 2002 were greater than
net earnings per GAAP as excess provision for loan losses cannot be deducted
from taxable earnings. During the second quarter of 2002, provision for loan
losses of $4.2 million were in excess of actual loan charge-offs, net of
recoveries, of $2.1 million. In addition, estimated taxable earnings for the
second quarter of 2002 reflects a $3.7 million dividend from IFC on its
after-tax net earnings of $5.5 million. The board of directors declared a cash
dividend of $0.43 per share during the second quarter of 2002, which was paid on
July 12, 2002 to stockholders of record on July 3, 2002.
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The following table summarizes the calculation of estimated taxable
earnings and a reconciliation of estimated taxable earnings to net earnings (in
thousands, except earnings per share amounts):

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

2002
Nel CaArNINgS ittt ittt ettt ettt e e e e eeaeeeeseeeeeeanaeeenennens $ 17,725
Adjustments to net earnings:
Mark-to-market 1osSs — FAS 133 ...ttt enneenneneanns -
Write-down on investment securities available-for-sale .... -
Loan 10SS ProvVISIon ..ttt ittt ittt et e e e 4,234
Dividends from TEC ...ttt ittt ittt et ettt eeeeneeeeeeneeneean 3,713
Cash received from previously charged-off assets .......... 473
Tax deduction for actual loan lO0SSES .t vi ittt ineeneennennns (2,064)
Equity in net earnings of IFC ...ttt iiiiiiiieeeeeennnn (5,453)
Tax difference of amortization of derivative instruments .. (140)
Estimate taxable earnings (1) ...ttt iii ettt eeeeeeeeneenns $ 18,488
Estimated taxable earnings per share (1) .......cuiiiieeeennn. S 0.406
(1) Reflects calculation of estimated taxable earnings generated by the

Company during periods shown. Excludes remaining quarterly tax deduction
of $2.7 million during 2001 for amortization of the termination of the
Company's management agreement in 1997, the deduction for dividends paid
and the availability of a deduction attributable to a net operating loss
carry forward. As of December 31, 2001, the Company's estimated federal
net operating loss carry forwards were $21.5 million, which expire in the
year 2020, and estimated state net operating loss carry forwards of $21.5
million, which expire in the year 2010, that are available to offset
future taxable income.

Results of Operations-- Impac Funding Corporation

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2002 as compared to the Three Months Ended
June 30, 2001

Net earnings increased 57% to $5.5 million during the second quarter of
2002 as compared to $3.5 million during the second quarter of 2001 as loan
acquisitions and originations and sales volume rose. Loan acquisitions and
originations increased 81% to $1.4 billion during the second quarter of 2002 as
compared to $764.9 million during the second quarter of 2001. Loan acquisitions
and originations during the second quarter of 2002 was driven by low mortgage
rates, strong housing demand, innovative loan programs and IFC's automated
underwriting system, IDASL, which enhances the origination process.

The increase in loan acquisitions and originations resulted in loan sales
of $1.5 billion during the second quarter of 2002 which contributed to gain on
sale of loans of $19.6 million as compared to loan sales of $786.4 million which
contributed gain on sale of loans of $12.9 million during the second quarter of
2001. Additionally, profit margins on mortgage loans sold during the second
quarter of 2002 were more favorable as compared to profit margins on mortgage
loans sold during the second quarter of 2001. IFC's goal is to securitize loans
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more frequently as less capital is required, higher liquidity is maintained and
less interest rate and price volatility during the mortgage loan accumulation
period results.

23
The following table summarizes mortgage loan acquisitions and originations

for the periods indicated (in thousands) :

LOAN PRODUCTION SUMMARY
(excludes premiums paid)

For the Three Months
Ended June 30,

2002 2001
Balance % Balance %
Volume by Type:
Fixed rate ......iiiiiiiiiiinnnnnn. S 404,007 29 $401,882 53
Second trust deeds .........cciiiiin. 24,191 2 9,843 1
Adjustable rate:
Six month LIBOR ARMS .+t eweenn.. 624,123 22,279
Six month LIBOR hybrids .......... 335,098 330,865
Total adjustable rate ............... 959,221 69 353,144 46
Total Loan Production ............ $1,387,419 $764,869
Volume by Channel:
Correspondent acquisitions .......... $1,036,472 75 $593, 649 78
Wholesale and retail originations ... 256,381 18 171,220 22
Novelle Financial Services .......... 94,566 7 - 0
Total Loan Production ............ $1,387,419 $764,869
Volume by Credit Quality:
Alt=A 10ANS vttt ittt e eeeennnnaeeenns $1,287,377 93 $761,211 100
B/C 10OGNS 4ttt e ettt eeeteaeeeeneaennn 100,042 7 3,658 0
Total Loan Production ............ $1,387,419 $764,869
Volume by Purpose:
PUrChase ..ttt ettt ieeeeennnns $ 839,140 60 $458,997 60
Refinance ......iiiiiiiiieeenennnnns 548,279 40 305,872 40
Total Loan Production ............ $1,387,419 $764,869
Volume by Prepayment Penalty:
With prepayment penalty ............. $1,101,865 79 $509, 564 67
Without prepayment penalty .......... 285,554 21 255,305 33
Total Loan Production ............ $1,387,419 $764,869
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Net interest income increased to $2.0 million during the second quarter of
2002 as compared to $479,000 during the second quarter of 2001 as average loans
held for sale increased and net interest margins widened. Average loans held for
sale increased to $450.4 million during the second quarter of 2002 as compared
to $236.1 million during the second quarter of 2001 as a result of higher loan
acquisitions and originations. Net interest margins increased to 2.09% during
the second quarter of 2002 as compared to 1.01% during the second quarter of
2001 as interest rate spreads on FRMs and ARMs widened.

Total non-interest expense increased to $12.0 million during the second
quarter of 2002 as compared to $8.0 million during the second quarter of 2001.
The increase in total non-interest expense was primarily due to an increase in
personnel expense as staff was added to meet greater loan acquisition and
origination volumes. Although non-interest expense increased during the second
quarter of 2002, fully loaded expense to acquire and originate an Alt-A mortgage
loan declined to 76 basis points during the second quarter of 2002 as compared
to 95 basis points during the second quarter of 2001. Fully loaded expense
includes both direct costs incurred to acquire and originate Alt-A mortgage
loans, which includes loan origination and sales and marketing costs, and
indirect costs, which includes accounting, administration, legal and information
technology costs.

Results of Operations--Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2002 as compared to the Six Months Ended June
30, 2001

Net earnings for the first six months of 2002 were $33.4 million, or $0.87
per diluted share, as compared to net earnings of $9.9 million, or $0.37 per
diluted share, for the same period of 2001. Net earnings rose as net interest
income increased by $13.8 million, equity in net earnings of IFC increased by
$5.3 million and mark-to-market losses on derivative instruments decreased by
$5.8 million. Since fair market adjustments on derivative instruments, in
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accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 ("SFAS
133"), "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," were

recorded to stockholders' equity during the first six months of 2002, net
earnings were unaffected. During the first six months of 2001, SFAS 133 resulted
in mark-to-market losses on derivative instruments and a corresponding reduction
to net earnings of $5.8 million.

Net interest income increased 71% to $33.2 million during the first six
months of 2002 as compared to $19.4 million during the same period of 2001 as
total average mortgage assets rose. Total average mortgage assets increased 74%
to $3.3 billion during the first six months of 2002 as compared to $1.9 billion
during the same period of 2001 as the long-term investment operations acquired
$2.5 billion of mortgage loans for long-term investment since the end of the
second quarter of 2001. Yield on Mortgage Assets declined 238 basis points to
5.43% during the first six months of 2002 as compared to 7.81% during the same
period of 2001 as interest rates on mortgage loans declined. The decline in
mortgage interest rates was the result of short-term interest rate reductions by
the Federal Reserve Bank during 2001 and 2002 in response to a faltering economy
and the events of September 11, 2001. Short-term interest rates reached
historical lows during 2002. As short-term interest rates and mortgage rates
declined, borrowing costs on Mortgage Assets declined as well. Yield on
borrowings on Mortgage Assets declined 258 basis points to 3.69% during the
first six months of 2002 as compared to 6.27% during the same period of 2001.
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The decrease in net interest spread resulted in a 3 basis point decrease
in net interest margins on Mortgage Assets to 1.92% during the first six months
of 2002 as compared to 1.95% during the first six months of 2001. Margin
compression during the first six months of 2002 was primarily due to the
acquisition of six month ARMs since the end of the third quarter of 2001. The
acquisition of six month ARMs compressed net interest margins as six month ARMs
typically have lower initial interest rates than six month hybrids. The
acquisition of six month ARMs also compressed net interest margins as we were
able to finance a higher percentage of six month ARMs securing CMOs than we
could previously finance with six month hybrids as collateral for CMOs.

The following table summarizes average balance, interest and weighted
average yield on Mortgage Assets and borrowings on Mortgage Assets for the first
six months of 2002 and 2001 and includes interest income on Mortgage Assets and
interest expense related to borrowings on Mortgage Assets only (dollars in
thousands) :

For the Six Months
Ended June 30, 2002

Average Wtd. Avg
Balance Interest Yield
Mortgage Assets
Securities collateralized by mortgages ....... $ 30,500 $ 1,088 7.13%
Loans receivable:
CMO collateral ...ttt ittt 2,604,277 72,201 5.54
Mortgage loans held-for-investment ........... 55,745 1,200 4.31
Finance receivables:
Affiliated ...t e e 408,175 9,185 4.50
Non-affiliated ....... ..., 244,498 7,029 5.75
Total finance receivables ............00... 652,673 16,214 4.97
Total Loans receivable ..........ccciuoo.. 3,312,695 89,615 5.41
Total Mortgage ASSEetS i vviiieneeeeeeneeennnnn $3,343,195 $90, 703 5.43%
Total Mortgage Assets
Borrowings on Mortgage Assets
CMO DOTTOWINGS vt v v e ettt et eeeeeennnaeeeesennn $2,517,207 $47,930 3.81%
Reverse repurchase agreements - mortgages .... 650, 669 9,638 2.96
Borrowings secured by investment securities .. 11,525 1,024 17.77
Total Borrowings on Mortgage Assets .......... $3,179,401 $58,592 3.69%
Net Interest Spread 1.74%
Net Interest Margin 1.92%
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The long-term investment operations acquired $1.6 billion of primarily
Alt-A mortgage loans from the mortgage operations during the first six months of
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2002. The following table summarizes mortgage loan acquisitions for the periods
indicated (in thousands) :

LOAN ACQUISITION SUMMARY
(excludes premiums paid)

For the Six Months
Ended June 30,

2002 2001
Balance % Balance %
Volume by Type:
Adjustable rate ......... ... $1,586,925 100 $541,216 99
Fixed rate ...ttt iinnnn. 867 0 5,679 1
Total Loan Acquisitions ....... $1,587,792 $546,895
Volume by Product:
Six month LIBOR indexed ARMs ..... $1,107,973 70 $ 24,050 4
Six month LIBOR indexed hybrids .. 478,952 30 517,166 95
Fixed first trust deeds .......... 556 0 -
Fixed second trust deeds ......... 311 0 5,679 1
Total Loan Acquisitions ....... $1,587,792 $546,895
Volume by Credit Quality:
Alt=A 10ANS 4ttt eeeeennnnneens $1,581,158 100 $542,738 99
B/C 1lOANS vttt ittt teteeeneeennnn 6,634 0 4,157 1
Total Loan Acquisitions ....... $1,587,792 $546,895
Volume by Purpose:
PUrChase ...ttt ettt ieeennnnn $ 970,825 61 $360,891 66
Refinance ......iiiiiiiienennnnn. 616,967 39 186,004 34
Total Loan Acquisitions ....... $1,587,792 $546,895
Volume by Prepayment Penalty:
With prepayment penalty .......... $1,136,649 72 $339,290 62
Without prepayment penalty ....... 451,143 28 207,605 38
Total Loan Acquisitions ....... $1,587,792 $546,895

Seventy percent of mortgage loans acquired by the long-term investment
operations from the mortgage operations during the first six months of 2002 were
six month ARMs as compared to 4% during the same period of 2001. The shift from
acquiring primarily six month hybrids prior to the end of the third quarter of
2001 to primarily acquiring six month LIBOR indexed ARMs reflects a widening gap
between short- and long-term interest rates and adjustable- and fixed-rate
mortgages and borrowers belief that short-term interest rates will not increase
significantly in the near term. The acquisition for long-term investment of a
higher than expected volume of ARMs from the mortgage operations has shifted
projected future earnings from a reliance on gain on sale of loans as a source
of revenue to net interest income generated from the balance sheet.

To finance the acquisition of mortgage loans during the first six months
of 2002, the long-term investment operations issued $1.7 billion of CMOs, which
were primarily AAA rated bonds, and were priced on a weighted average basis of
one-month LIBOR plus 41 basis points. In addition, we raised net proceeds of
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approximately $57.0 million upon the issuance of 7.4 million shares of common
stock and sold 489,300 shares of common stock under our sales agency agreement,
which provided net proceeds of approximately $5.5 million.

During the first six months of 2002 and 2001, provision for loan losses
was $7.9 million. Actual loan losses, net of recoveries, during the first six
months of 2002 were $2.7 million as compared to $5.2 million during the same
period of 2001.

Equity in net earnings of IFC increased 110% to $10.1 million during the
first six months of 2002 as compared to $4.8 million during the same period of
2001 as loan acquisitions and originations and sales volume rose. Loan
acquisitions and originations during the first six months of 2002 was $2.6
billion as compared to $1.4 billion during the same period of 2001. The increase
in loan production resulted in loan sales of $2.5 billion during the first six
months of 2002 which contributed to gain on sale of loans of $35.7 million as
compared to loan sales of $1.4 billion
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which contributed to gain on sale of loans of $20.5 million during the first six
months of 2001. Refer to "Results of Operations—-Impac Funding Corporation" for
more information on the operating results of IFC.

Core Operating Earnings. Core operating earnings for the first six months
of 2002 increased to $34.4 million, or $0.90 per diluted share, as compared to
core operating earnings of $16.8 million, or $0.63 per diluted share, for the
same period of 2001. Core operating earnings reflect recurring earnings from
operations and exclude one-time, non-recurring income and expense items and the
effect of fair market accounting for derivative instruments and hedging
activities. Core operating earnings for the first six months of 2002 were higher
than net earnings as core operating earnings exclude $1.0 million in write-down
of investment securities available-for-sale. Core operating earnings is a
concept not recognized by GAAP and may not be comparable to core operating
earnings of other companies.

The following table summarizes the calculation of core operating earnings
and a reconciliation of core operating earnings to net earnings (in thousands,
except earnings per share amounts):

For the Six Months
Ended June 30,

2002 2001

Nel CarNINgS &ttt ittt ittt ettt e et eeeeeeeeeseeeeennaaeeeeens $33,374 $ 9,925
Adjustments to net earnings:

Mark-to-market 10sSs — FAS 133 ...ttt tneennneeenns - 1,445

Write—-down on investment securities available-for-sale .. 1,039 107

Extraordinary 1Lem .. ...ttt ittt et ittt et - 1,006

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ..... - 4,313
Core operating EarNiNgS v v et eeeeeeeneenneeeeeeeeennns $34,413 $16,796
Core operating earnings per share .........ieieeeeeeeneennnns $ 0.90 $ 63
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Estimated Taxable Earnings. Estimated taxable earnings for the first six
months of 2002 were $35.4 million, or $0.92 per diluted share, as compared to
$18.9 million, or $0.71 per diluted share, during the same period of 2001.
Estimated taxable earnings during the first six months of 2002 were greater than
net earnings per GAAP as excess provision for loan losses cannot befont-size: 9pt">
K’Lynne Johnson

Principal Occupation: Former CEQO, President and Executive Chair of Elevance Renewable Sciences, Inc., a glo
Age: 49
Director Since: 2013

Ms. Johnson was Executive Chair of Elevance Renewable Sciences, Inc. from October 2015 until the end of February

Qualifications

As a result of her work experience, Ms. Johnson has acquired significant knowledge of Asia and Europe, markets whic

Dirk A. Kempthorne

Principal Occupation: President and CEO, American Council of Life Insurers
Age: 66

Director Since: 2009

Governor Kempthorne was appointed to his current position with the American Council of Life Insurers in November
2010. Prior to that, he served as the 49t United States Secretary of the Interior from June 2006 until January 2009.
From January 1999 until his appointment as Secretary of the Interior, Governor Kempthorne served as the Governor
of Idaho. He was also a United States Senator representing the State of Idaho from 1993 to 1999 and was the Mayor
of Boise, Idaho from 1986 to 1993. Governor Kempthorne has been Chairman of the National Governors
Association, Chairman of the Western Governors Association and President of the Council of State Governments. He
also served as a member of the Homeland Security Task Force.

Other Board Experience

Governor Kempthorne is a member of the Board of Directors of Olympic Steel.
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Qualifications

Governor Kempthorne’s lengthy experience in government, both on the federal and state level, makes Governor
Kempthorne well qualified to serve as a director of the Company, which interfaces with numerous regulatory
agencies in several facets of its operations.

Paul J. Norris

Principal Occupation: Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of W. R. Grace & Co., a manufacturer
of specialty chemicals

Age: 70

Director Since: 2006

Until May 2005, Mr. Norris served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of W. R. Grace & Co., a manufacturer
of specialty chemicals. Mr. Norris was actively engaged in W. R. Grace’s businesses for the six years prior to his
retirement as Chief Executive Officer. He resigned as a member of W. R. Grace’s Board of Directors in February
2010. Mr. Norris joined W.R. Grace as President and CEO in November 1998 and became Chairman in January
1999. Prior to joining W.R. Grace, Mr. Norris was at AlliedSignal Inc. (now known as Honeywell) for nine years and
served as Senior Vice President and President, Specialty Chemicals, from 1997 to 1998; President, AlliedSignal
Polymers Division from 1994 to 1997; and President, AlliedSignal Chemicals & Catalysts (formerly Fluorine
Products Division) from 1989 to 1994. From 1981 to 1989, Mr. Norris served in various executive capacities with
Engelhard Corporation (now a part of BASF Corporation), including President of Catalysts and Chemicals, Senior
Vice President and General Manager of Catalysts, and Vice President and Business Director for Petroleum Catalysts.

Other Board Experience

Mr. Norris has previously served on the Board of Directors of Borden Chemicals, Inc., Ecolab, Inc. and Nalco
Holding Company, and he served as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sealy Corporation. He
also previously performed advisory services for Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co.

Qualifications

As the former Chairman and CEO of a specialty chemical company and with over 35 years in the chemical industry,
as well as a director on public company boards of directors, Mr. Norris has significant business and corporate
governance experience relevant to the Company which makes him well qualified to serve as a director.

FMC CORPORATION - Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement 11
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Margareth @Ovrum

Principal Occupation: Executive Vice President, Technology, Projects & Drilling of Statoil ASA, an
international oil and gas exploration and production company

Age: 59

Director Since: 2016

Ms. @vrum has served as Executive Vice President of Statoil ASA since 2004. She has global responsibility for
technology research, procurement, projects and drilling. Prior to her current position, she held numerous senior
leadership positions within Statoil, including Executive Vice President, Technology and New Energy; Executive Vice
President, Health and Safety; Senior Vice President, Operations Support; Vice President, Veslefrikk Field; and
Platform Manager.

Other Board Experience

Ms. @vrum is a member of the Board of Directors of Alfa Laval AB.

Qualifications

Ms. @vrum’s strong operations background provided her with deep experience in process technology, safety,
sustainability and environmental management, all of which are critically important to a chemical company. Further,
her wide international view and exceptional knowledge of European markets, where the Company has approximately
one quarter of its business, acquired while executing very large projects in a number of different countries, make her
a valuable contributor to the Board of the Company.

Robert C. Pallash

Principal Occupation: Retired President, Global Customer Group and Senior Vice President of Visteon
Corporation, an automotive parts manufacturer

Age: 66

Director Since: 2008

Until December 2013, Mr. Pallash served as President, Global Customer Group and Senior Vice President of Visteon
Corporation, an automotive parts manufacturer, since January 2008. From August 2005 to January 2008, Mr. Pallash
was Senior Vice President, Asia Customer Group for Visteon. He joined Visteon in September 2001 as Vice
President, Asia Pacific. Visteon filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in
May 2009 and exited in October 2010. Prior to joining Visteon, Mr. Pallash served as President of TRW Automotive
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Japan from 1999.

Other Board Experience

Until December 2013, Mr. Pallash served on the Board of Directors of Halla Climate Controls in South Korea, a
majority-owned subsidiary of Visteon Corporation.

Qualifications

Mr. Pallash’s international experience, particularly in Asia where the Company has approximately one-quarter of its
business, as well as his experience in the automotive industry, which is important to the Company’s Lithium business,
enables him to bring significant value as a member of the Board.

William H. Powell

Principal Occupation: Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of National Starch and Chemical
Company, a producer of specialty polymers, electronic and engineering materials, and specialty food
ingredients

Age: 72

Director Since: 2011

Mr. Powell retired as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of National Starch and Chemical Company in 2006. He
joined National Starch in 1976 and held numerous management and executive positions in the company. When
National Starch was a subsidiary of the UK chemical company ICI PLC, Mr. Powell was an Executive Vice President
and a director of ICI PLC. Prior to joining National Starch, he was with Novamont Corporation and Air Products and
Chemicals, Inc., and served as an officer in the United States Air Force.

Other Board Experience

Mr. Powell currently serves as a non-executive director for Granite Construction Incorporated and PolyOne
Corporation.

Qualifications
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Mr. Powell’s deep background in the chemical industry, his global expansion and innovation systems experience, his
extensive public company board service, and his role as a chief executive officer during periods of growth add great
value to the Board of the Company.

Vincent R. Volpe, Jr.

Principal Occupation: Chairman, CEO and President and Principal of the LeHavre Athletic Club, France’s
oldest professional soccer team

Age: 60

Director Since: 2007

In 2015 Mr. Volpe became Chairman, CEO and President and Principal of the LeHavre Athletic Club, France’s oldest
professional soccer team. Until September 2015, Mr. Volpe was the Chief Executive Officer, President and a director
of Dresser-Rand Group, Inc., a leading supplier of rotating equipment solutions to the worldwide oil, gas,
petrochemical and process industries. He had served in those positions since his election in September 2000.
Previously he served as Chief Operating Officer of Dresser-Rand Group, Inc. from 1999 until September 2000. After
joining Dresser-Rand in 1981, Mr. Volpe held several diverse management positions. He served as President, Turbo
Products Division from 1997-1999; President-Europe from 1996-1997; Vice President and General Manager, Turbo
Products Division-European Operations from 1993-1996; Executive Vice President, European Operations from
1992-93; and Vice President, Marketing and Engineering, Steam & Turbo Products-European Operations.

Other Board Experience

Mr. Volpe is an advisor to the Board of Directors of Archbishop Walsh High School (Olean, NY).

Qualifications

Based on his previous role as the CEO of a large manufacturing company, as well as other significant positions
within that company, Mr. Volpe has the senior executive, operating and corporate governance experience necessary
to provide valuable oversight to the Company in the conduct of its business. His significant international experience
and linguistic capabilities are also of great advantage to the Company, with 75% of its business outside of North
America.
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IV.INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Meetings

During 2017, the Board of Directors held five regular meetings and two telephonic meetings. All incumbent directors
attended at least 75% of the total number of meetings of the Board and all Committees on which they served.

Committees and Independence of Directors

The Board of Directors has five standing Committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation and Organization
Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, an Executive Committee and a Sustainability
Committee.

The Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are all
composed of non- employee directors, each of whom has been determined by the Board to be independent on the basis
set forth below. With the exception of the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Brondeau, no director or nominee is currently,
or was within the past three years, employed by the Companys, its subsidiaries or affiliates.

The Board has affirmatively determined that none of the non-employee directors has any material business, family or
other relationship with the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates other than as a director, and that they all qualify as
independent. Specifically, the independent directors are Messrs. Cordeiro, D’ Aloia, Greer, Kempthorne, Norris,
Pallash, Powell and Volpe, Ms. Johnson and Ms. @vrum. In order to be considered independent by the Board, a
director or nominee must meet the requirements set forth in the SEC and New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) rules
regarding independence.

Mr. Cordeiro is an executive officer of Cabot Corporation, a business that has engaged in transactions with the
Company in the past year. The Board has determined that none of these transactions, individually or in the aggregate,
were material to the Company or the other entity, and that Mr. Cordeiro does not have a material interest in the
transactions. Furthermore, the Board noted that that the transaction amounts fall below the thresholds established by
the NYSE for determining independence. The Company’s purchases from Cabot Corporation were $150,479.97 in
2017 and $49,325.14 in 2016; and there were no sales or purchases in 2015. On the basis of its evaluation, the Board
has concluded that Mr. Cordeiro meets the independence standards applied by the Board.
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Audit Committee

The Board of Directors has adopted a written charter that outlines the duties of the Audit Committee, including
conducting an annual self- assessment. A current copy of the Charter is posted on the Company’s website, as described
in the section below entitled “Corporate Governance Documents”. The principal duties of this Committee, among other
things, include:

Review the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’s internal controls

Review the annual report, proxy statement and periodic SEC filings such as the Company’s reports on Form 10K and
10Q, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis, and ensure that the Company’s financial reports fairly
represent its operations

Review the effectiveness, scope and performance of activities of the independent registered public accounting firm
and the internal auditor function

Review significant changes in accounting policies

Select the independent registered public accounting firm and confirm its independence

Review potentially significant litigation

Review federal income tax issues

Review the Company’s policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management

Review with management the Company’s earnings releases

Monitor the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

Pre-approve audit and non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm

Members: Mr. Cordeiro (Chair), Mr. D’ Aloia, Mr. Norris, Mr. Pallash, and Mr. Volpe. The Board of Directors has

determined that both Messrs. Cordeiro and D’ Aloia meet the SEC requirements for an “audit committee financial expert”
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and all current members of the Committee are “financially literate” as required by the NYSE. The Board has also
determined that no current Audit Committee member sits on the audit committee of more than three public companies.

Number of Meetings in 2017: 6
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Compensation and Organization Committee

The Board of Directors has adopted a written charter that outlines the duties of the Compensation Committee,
including conducting an annual self-assessment. A current copy of the Charter is posted on the Company’s website, as
described in the section below entitled “Corporate Governance Documents”.

The principal duties of this Committee are discussed more fully in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, and
include, among other things:

Review and approve compensation policies and practices for senior executives

Review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer and
the other executive officers

Review as necessary the Company’s compensation programs, policies and practices with respect to risk assessment

Review performance and establish the total compensation for the Chief Executive Officer and other senior executives

Administer the Company’s Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan and determine whether to authorize any delegation
permitted under the plan

Review the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and based on such review, recommend to the Board of Directors
that it be included in the annual proxy statement

Review stockholder votes and other input on executive compensation practices and independently determine if any
changes are necessary

Review significant organizational changes and management succession planning

Recommend to the Board of Directors candidates for officers of the Company
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Review the terms of employment agreements, severance agreements, change in control agreements and other
compensatory arrangements for senior executives

Oversee evaluation of management performance and development

Review executive stock ownership guidelines and oversee clawback, hedging, and pledging policies

Members: Mr. Greer (Chair), Ms. Johnson, Mr. Norris and Mr. Powell.

Number of Meetings in 2017: 4

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Board of Directors has adopted a written charter that outlines the duties of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee, including conducting an annual self-assessment. A current copy of the Charter is posted on
the Company’s website, as described in the section below entitled “Corporate Governance Documents”. The principal
duties of this Committee, among other things, include:

Review and recommend candidates for director

Recommend Board of Directors meeting formats and processes

Oversee corporate governance, including an annual review of governance principles

Review and approve director compensation policies, including the determination of director compensation

Oversee Board of Directors and Committee evaluation procedures

Determine director independence

Recommend whether to accept or reject a director resignation or take other action, where a director has failed to
receive a majority of votes cast in an uncontested director election
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Members: Mr. Volpe (Chair), Mr. Cordeiro, Mr. D’ Aloia, Mr. Greer, Mr. Kempthorne and Ms. @vrum.

Number of Meetings in 2017: 3

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee acts in place of the Board of Directors when the full Board of Directors is not in session.

Members: Mr. Brondeau (Chair), Mr. D’ Aloia, Mr. Greer and Mr. Cordeiro (Alternate).

Number of Meetings in 2017: 1

Sustainability Committee

The Board of Directors has adopted a written charter that outlines the duties of the Sustainability Committee,
including conducting an annual self-assessment. A current copy of the Charter is posted on the Company’s website, as
described in the section below entitled “Corporate Governance Documents”. The principal duties of this Committee,
among other things, are to:

Monitor the Company’s Sustainability Program, including program development and advancement, goals and
objectives, and progress toward achieving those objectives, as well as the following subprograms:

Employee occupational safety and health, and process safety programs

Environmental responsibility

Programs with regard to the American Chemistry Council’s Responsible Car initiative
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Members: Mr. Kempthorne (Chair), Ms. Johnson, Ms. @vrum, Mr. Pallash and Mr. Powell.

Number of Meetings in 2017: 3

Director Who Presides Over Executive Sessions

In accordance with the FMC Corporation Statement of Governance Principles, Policies and Procedures, the
non-employee members of the Board of Directors meet in regularly scheduled executive sessions without
management. The Lead Director, Mr. D’ Aloia, presides over these sessions. See the section below entitled “Board
Leadership Structure” for additional information regarding the role of the Lead Director. In addition, see the section
below entitled “Communicating with the Board” for procedures for communicating with the Lead Director.

Director Compensation

Compensation Policy

The Company maintains the FMC Corporation Non-Employee Directors Compensation Policy to provide for the
compensation described below. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing
and approving director compensation. Competitive market data on director pay levels and design practices are
prepared by and reviewed with the Company’s consultant, Aon. The Non-Employee Directors Compensation Policy is
not applicable to directors who are also employees of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Brondeau received no
additional compensation for his service as a director. For a description of the compensation paid to Mr. Brondeau for
his service during 2017 as our CEO, see below under the heading “Executive Compensation”.

Retainer and Fees

Currently, each non-employee director is paid an annual retainer of $100,000 or a prorata amount for any portion of a
year served. The retainer is paid in quarterly installments in cash, unless the director elects to receive all or part of it in
restricted stock units (or “RSUs”). Restricted stock units paid in respect of the annual retainer are subject to forfeiture on

44



Edgar Filing: IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q/A

a prorata basis if the director does not serve for the full year in respect of which the retainer is paid. The forfeiture
condition is waived in the event of a change in control of the Company or if the director’s service ceases due to his or
her death or disability. Each director who chairs a Committee is paid an additional $10,000 per year except the
Chairman of the Compensation Committee who is paid an additional $15,000 per year, and the Chairman of the Audit
Committee who is paid an additional $20,000 per year. Audit Committee members also receive an additional $5,000
annual retainer. The Lead Director is paid an additional $25,000 annual retainer.

Annual Grant of Restricted Stock Units

Currently, each non-employee director also receives an annual grant of restricted stock units having a value of
$130,000 on the date of grant. These restricted stock units vest at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held in the year
following the date of grant or, if sooner, upon a change in control of the Company. In addition, these restricted stock
units will vest on a prorata basis if the director dies before the Annual Meeting at which the units would have
otherwise vested.

Payment of Vested Restricted Stock Units

A director is permitted to specify, prior to the year in which the restricted stock units are credited, the date upon which
he or she wishes to receive payment in Common Stock of the fully vested restricted stock units. The directors’ ability
to sell any distributed shares remains subject to the restrictions of the Company’s Director Stock Ownership Policy,
which policy is described below.

Other Compensation

Non-employee directors receive dividend equivalent rights on all restricted stock units awarded as part of their annual
retainers and on any vested restricted stock units awarded as an annual grant. Such dividend equivalent rights are
credited in the form of additional restricted stock units equal in value to the cash dividends paid to stockholders. No
other remuneration is paid to non-employee directors for services as a director of the Company. Non-employee
directors do not participate in the Company’s nonqualified deferred compensation
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plan or employee benefit plans, including, but not limited to, the qualified and nonqualified pension plans. The
Company supports the charitable donations of directors under its matching gifts plan that provides a dollar-for-dollar
match of gifts up to $15,000 per year to certain educational institutions, arts and cultural organizations, and
conservation and civic organizations.

Director Stock Ownership Policy

The Company has established guidelines setting expectations for the ownership of Company stock by directors. The
Director Stock Ownership Policy requires that directors hold a minimum of five times the value of the annual retainer,
or $500,000. For this purpose, undistributed shares underlying restricted stock units (both vested and non-vested) are
considered “held” by a director. Directors are not permitted to sell shares of Company stock, other than to satisfy tax
liabilities triggered by Company equity grants, until they are within five years from mandatory retirement. If they have
less than five years until mandatory retirement but at least four years, they may sell up to 20% of their shares of
Company stock in excess of the $500,000 threshold (their “excess shares”). If they have less than four years until
mandatory retirement but at least three years, they may sell up to 40% of the excess shares they then hold. If they have
less than three years until mandatory retirement but at least two years, they may sell up to 60% of the excess shares
they then hold. Finally, if they have less than two years until mandatory retirement, they may sell any excess shares
they then hold. The policy ceases to apply to a director once he or she ceases to serve as a director, and exceptions
may be granted by the disinterested members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee on a case by
case basis. No exceptions were granted in 2017.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION TABLE 2017

The table below shows the total compensation paid to each non-employee director who served on the Board during
2017.

Fees Earned All Other

or Paid in Cash® Stock Awards® Compensation® Total
Name &) ® %) %)
(a) (b) () (d) (e)
Eduardo E. Cordeiro 123,333 130,056 9,644 263,033
G. Peter D’ Aloia 130,000 130,056 12,833 272,889
C. Scott Greer 115,000 130,056 7,028 252,084
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K’Lynne Johnson 100,000 130,056 8,677 238,733
Dirk A. Kempthorne 110,000 130,056 27,354 267,410
Paul J. Norris 105,000 130,056 32,720 267,776
Margareth @vrum 100,000 130,056 1,047 231,103
Robert C. Pallash 105,000 130,056 18,834 253,890
William H. Powell 100,000 130,056 12,865 242,921
Vincent R. Volpe, Jr. 115,000 130,056 36,979 282,035

Mr. D’ Aloia, Ms. Johnson, Mr. Kempthorne, Mr. Norris, and Mr. Volpe each elected to receive his or her $100,000
(1)cash retainer in RSUs, which resulted in the grant of 1366 of RSUs to such directors. Ms. @vrum elected to receive
half of her $100,000 cash retainer in RSUs, which resulted in the grant of 683 of RSUs to her.

The amounts in Column (c) reflect the grant date fair value of directors’ stock awards for 2017 computed in
accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note (14) to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in the
Company’s report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2017 for the assumptions used in the valuations
that appear in this column. The grant date for all directors was May 1, 2017 and the number of shares granted was
based on a closing price of $73.23 as of that date. The aggregate number of restricted stock units outstanding at
fiscal year-end for each non-employee director is as follows: Mr. Cordeiro, 8,558; Mr. D’ Aloia, 23,414; Mr. Greer,
13,733; Ms. Johnson, 16,907; Mr. Kempthorne, 24,979; Mr. Norris, 53,582; Ms. @vrum, 4,824; Mr. Pallash,
31,734; Mr. Powell, 13,452; and Mr. Volpe, 37,183.

2

This total includes the amount of dividend equivalent payments made to each director, as well as Company
charitable donations under the matching gifts plan, which are limited to $15,000 per director per year. Such

(3)matching gifts included: for Mr. Cordeiro, $5,000; for Mr. Kempthorne, $13,400; for Mr. Powell, $5,000; and for
Mr. Volpe, $15,000. The balance of the amount shown for each director is comprised of dividend equivalent
payments.

Corporate Governance

Communicating with the Board

Stockholders and any interested parties may communicate with the Board of Directors, the Lead Director, or any
individual member of the Board as follows: Communications must be in writing, sent care of the Corporate Secretary,
FMC Corporation, FMC Tower at Cira Centre South, 2929 Walnut Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104. All
communications with the Board, the Lead Director or any individual director will be delivered as addressed.
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Director Nomination Process

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and other members of the Board identify candidates for
consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. An executive search firm may also be

utilized to identify qualified candidates for consideration. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
evaluates candidates based on the qualifications for director described in its Charter and summarized in the section
above entitled “Director Qualifications”. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee then presents qualified
candidates to the full Board of Directors for consideration and selection. The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee will consider nominees for election to the Board that are recommended by stockholders, applying the same
criteria for candidates as discussed above, provided that a description of each nominee’s qualifications for the
directorship, experience and background, a written consent by a nominee to act as such, and other information

specified in the By-Laws, accompany the stockholder’s recommendation.

In addition to proposing a candidate for possible nomination by the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee, any stockholder is entitled to directly nominate one or more candidates for election to the Board of
Directors in accordance with the Company’s By-Laws. Notice of a stockholder’s intent to nominate one or more
candidates for election as directors at the 2019 Annual Meeting must be delivered to the Company at the address set
forth below, not later than January 24, 2019. All nominations, together with the additional information required by the
Company’s By-Laws, must be sent to the Corporate Secretary, FMC Corporation, FMC Tower at Cira Centre South,
2929 Walnut Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104. A copy of the Company’s By-Laws may be obtained by writing to the
Corporate Secretary at the same address. The Board reserves the right not to include such nominees in the proxy
statement.

Our by-laws include a proxy access provision which allows a stockholder, or a group of up to 20 stockholders, owning
3% or more of our outstanding common stock continuously for at least three years, to nominate and include in our
proxy materials director nominees constituting up to two individuals or 20% of the Board (whichever is greater),
provided that the stockholder(s) and the nominee(s) satisfy the requirements specified in Article IV, Section 2 and 2A
of our by-laws. Notice of any such nomination for the 2018 Annual Meeting must be received by the Corporate
Secretary of the Company at FMC Tower at Cira Centre South, 2929 Walnut Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, no
earlier than October 17, 2018 nor later than November 16, 2018. However if the date of our 2019 Annual Meeting is
more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after April 24, 2019 (the anniversary of the 2018 Annual Meeting)
then notice by the stockholder must be received no earlier than the close of business on the 120t day prior to the 2019
Annual Meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (i) the 90t day prior to the 2019 Annual
Meeting and (ii) the tenth day following the day on which notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the 2019
Annual Meeting is given or made to stockholders.

Annual Performance Review
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The Board and Committees perform annual self-evaluations of their performance. A lengthy questionnaire is sent to
each director covering several topics, including Board structure and composition (and what additional skills, if any,
may be needed), preparation of members and whether they stay abreast of issues, understanding of Company strategy,
whether expectations and concerns are adequately communicated to the CEO, CEO succession planning procedures,
performance of committees, and length and content of Board meetings. Each Committee member also completes a
shorter questionnaire assessing the performance of his or her Committee.

After obtaining written responses to the questionnaires, the Corporate Secretary conducts a telephone interview with
each director to elicit elaboration of views expressed and any other issues the director wishes to discuss. A written
report summarizing the responses from the questionnaires and the telephone interviews is presented to the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee to determine whether any action is required, with a copy of the report also
going to the full Board. Individual responses remain anonymous to ensure complete candor.

Any concern or issue with regard to an individual director’s performance would be reviewed with the Lead Director for
discussion with the director and any further action. The Board is committed to ensuring that its members maintain the
necessary skills, qualifications, experience and diversity, and the Board will continue to consider and implement
changes to the composition of the Board in light of its annual performance evaluations.

Retirement/Resignation Policy for Directors

Pursuant to our Statement of Governance Principles, Policies and Procedures, it is the policy of the Board that
non-employee Directors will retire from the Board no later than the annual meeting following their 75t birthdays. The
Board believes that long-tenured directors can be beneficial because of their deep knowledge of the Company
acquired through service, the continuity and stability they offer, and their grasp of the historical perspectives that can
inform Company strategy.

In addition, our Statement of Governance Principles, Policies and Procedures also requires that a non-employee
Director submit his or her resignation from the Board upon termination of his or her active service as an employee or a
significant change in responsibilities. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall review the
situation and make a recommendation to the Board as to whether to accept the resignation. In the case of any such
required retirement or resignation, the Board may request that a director who would otherwise be due to retire or
resign continue his or her service if (a) the policy would result in multiple director retirements in any 12-month period
or (b) the Board deems such service to be in the best interest of our stockholders.
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In accordance with our majority voting standard for the election of directors in uncontested elections, incumbent
director nominees are required to tender a contingent resignation which would become effective if (i) the nominee
does not receive a majority of the votes cast with respect to his or her election at any meeting of stockholders at which
directors are being elected and (ii) the Board accepts such resignation.

Directors who are also executive officers of the Company are expected to retire from the Board simultaneous with
retirement as an executive of the Company unless requested by the Board to continue as a Board member for an
agreed period.

Attendance at Annual Meetings

The Company’s policy is that all directors are expected to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders. All incumbent
directors attended the 2017 Annual Meeting.

Stockholder Proposals for the 2019 Annual Meeting

Stockholders may make proposals to be considered at the 2019 Annual Meeting. In order to make a proposal for
consideration at the 2019 Annual Meeting, a stockholder must deliver notice to the Company at the address set forth
below, containing certain information specified in the By-Laws, not less than 60 or more than 90 days before the date
of the meeting. However, if the Company provides public disclosure of the date of the 2019 Annual Meeting less than
70 days in advance of the meeting date, then the deadline for the stockholder’s notice and other required information is
10 days after the date of the Company’s notice or public disclosure of the date of the Annual Meeting.

In addition to being able to present proposals for consideration at the 2019 Annual Meeting, stockholders may also be
able to have their proposals included in the Company’s proxy statement and form of proxy for the 2019 Annual
Meeting. In order to have a stockholder proposal included in the proxy statement and form of proxy, the proposal must
be delivered to the Company at the address set forth below not later than November 16, 2018, and the stockholder
must otherwise comply with applicable SEC requirements. If the stockholder complies with these requirements for
inclusion of a proposal in the Company’s proxy statement and form of proxy, the stockholder need not comply with the
notice requirements described in the preceding paragraph.
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A copy of the Company’s By-Laws may be obtained by writing to the Corporate Secretary, and all notices referred to
above must be sent to the Corporate Secretary, FMC Corporation, FMC Tower at Cira Centre South, 2929 Walnut
Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104.

Corporate Governance Documents

The Company’s website is located at www.fimc.com. The following corporate governance documents are posted on the
Investor Relations page of the website:

Audit Committee Charter

Compensation and Organization Committee Charter

FMC Statement of Governance Principles, Policies and Procedures (This document includes both the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee Charter and the Company’s Corporate Governance Principles.)

Sustainability Committee Charter

Board Leadership Structure

Currently the positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are combined. Our
Corporate Governance principles provide that the Board should consider the issue of separation of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer positions under the circumstances prevailing from time to time. When the positions are not
separate, a Lead Director shall be appointed from among the independent directors. The Board has determined that the
current Board structure, which combines the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman positions, and includes a Lead
Director, best serves the interests of the Company and its stockholders. Combining the two roles allows for clear
accountability, effective decision-making, alignment with corporate strategy, and continuity of leadership, while
maintaining full engagement of the independent directors. As set forth in the Corporate Governance Principles, the
responsibilities of the Lead Director under this structure include: serving as the liaison between the Chairman and the
independent directors, advising on information sent to the Board, approving meeting agendas and schedules, calling
meetings of the independent directors, and presiding at all meetings at which the Chairman is not present, including
executive sessions. G. Peter D’ Aloia was reappointed Lead Director in April 2016 for a term of two years.

FMC CORPORATION - Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement 18

52



Edgar Filing: IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q/A

Board’s Role in Overseeing the Risk Management Process

As part of the Company’s risk management process, the Board regularly discusses with management the Company’s
major risk exposures, their potential financial impact on the Company, and the steps the Company takes to manage
them. The Board also reviews the designation of the management person or entity responsible for managing such
risks, and evaluates the steps being taken to mitigate the risks. The Board’s monitoring role is carried out by either the
full Board or a Committee that reports to the Board, depending on the risk in question. The Board has determined that
a separate Risk Committee is not warranted at this time.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy

The Company has a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Policy that applies to all directors, officers (including its
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Controller) and employees. It is posted on the Investor Relations
page of the Company’s website at www.finc.com.

The Company intends to post any amendments to, or waivers from, the Policy required to be disclosed by either SEC
or NYSE regulations on the Corporate Governance Guidelines section of the Investor Relations page of the Company’s
website.

Compensation and Organization Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During the last fiscal year, Messrs. Greer, Norris, Powell and Ms. Johnson served as members of the Compensation
Committee. All members of the Compensation Committee during 2017 were non-employee directors, each of whom
has been determined by the Board to be independent on the basis described in the above section entitled “Committees
and Independence of Directors”. None of the current or former members listed above has been an officer or employee
of the Company, and no executive officer of the Company has served on any board of directors or compensation
committee of any other company for which any of the Company’s directors served as an executive officer at any time
during 2017.

Related Party Transactions Policy
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The Board of Directors Statement of Policy with respect to Related Party Transactions sets forth the Company’s
position and procedures with respect to review, approval or ratification of related party transactions, including the
types of transactions addressed by the Policy, and the corporate function responsible for applying the Policy and
related procedures.

Under the Policy, “related parties™ are defined to include executive officers and directors of the Company and their
immediate family members, a stockholder owning in excess of 5% of the Company (or its controlled affiliates), and
entities in which any of the foregoing have a substantial ownership interest or control. With respect to any transaction
where a related party receives a benefit in excess of a de minimis amount of $5,000 (when aggregated with all similar
transactions) the Policy requires that the transaction be pre-approved (or, if less than $120,000, ratified) by the Audit
Committee and disclosed where required by SEC rules. The Policy also provides that any related party who is
presented with a “corporate opportunity” within the Company’s line of business, must first offer that opportunity to the
Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an ordinary course of business transaction between the Company and an
entity of which a director of the Company is an executive officer or significant stockholder of the entity, provided the
director does not otherwise have a material interest in the transaction, the Policy provides a different standard for the
review and approval of transactions that involve payments in any year to or from the Company in excess of either: (i)
1% of the Company’s annual consolidated revenue for the most recently completed fiscal year or (ii) the greater of $1
million or 1% of the other entity’s consolidated revenue for the most recently completed fiscal year. If the transaction
does not exceed the above-mentioned thresholds (and the director does not have a material interest in the transaction),
the transaction will be reviewed by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee as part of its review of
director independence. If the director does have a material interest in the transaction, regardless of whether the
above-mentioned thresholds are exceeded, the transaction must be approved or ratified by the Audit Committee in
accordance with the preceding paragraph.

In the event of an ordinary course of business transaction that exceeds the above-mentioned thresholds where the
director does not have a material interest, the transaction is not required to be pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
Instead, the Audit Committee will review the transaction as soon as possible and will determine whether to either
ratify or disallow the transaction. In the case of any such transaction associated with prospective directors, review and
approval by the Audit Committee must occur prior to the director’s election. After approval or ratification, in each case
the director will provide updated information at least annually on the aggregate payments involved in the transaction.
This information will be reviewed by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee in connection with its
review of directors’ independence. If the aggregate amounts involved in the transaction exceed the thresholds noted
above, the Audit Committee shall be required again to review and ratify the transaction.

The Related Party Transactions Policy does not apply to transactions available to all employees generally and
transactions involving solely matters of executive compensation.
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There were no related party transactions to be approved or ratified by the Audit Committee under the Policy or

disclosed pursuant to SEC rules. Notwithstanding the foregoing, please see information relating to non-material
transactions within the past three years between the Company and the organization of which Mr. Cordeiro is an
executive officer, in the above section entitled “Committees and Independence of Directors”.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP
V.
OF FMC CORPORATION

Management Ownership

The following table shows, as of December 31, 2017, the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by
each current director or nominee for director, the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, and
all current directors, nominees for director and executive officers as a group. Each director or nominee and each
executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table (“NEOs”) beneficially owns less than one percent of the
Common Stock.

Beneficial Ownership

Name on December 31, 2017 Eﬁzm of
FMC Common Stock
Pierre Brondeau(! 869,590 *
Eduardo E. Cordeiro® 14,678 *
G. Peter D’ Aloi&? 09,448 *
Mark Douglas™® 133,214 *
Paul GravesD 120,700 *
C. Scott Greer® 54,112 *
K’Lynne Johnso®? 15,131 *
Dirk A. Kempthorne® 29,805 *
Eric Norris()®) 220 *
Paul J. Norris® 58,806 *
Margareth @vrum® 3,048 *
Robert C. Pallash®® 36,950 *
William H. Powell® 15,827 *
Andrea E. Utecht() 186,757 *
Vincent R. Volpe, Jr.2) 50,333 *
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All current directors, nominees and executive officers as a group—15

persons(D®) 1,688,619 1.2

*Less than one percent of class
Shares “beneficially owned” include: (i) shares owned or controlled by the individual; (ii) shares held in the FMC
Corporation Savings and Investment Plan for the account of the individual as of December 31, 2017; (iii) restricted
stock units, whether or not vested; (iv) shares subject to options that are exercisable within 60 days of December
31, 2017; and (v) shares subject to performance-based restricted stock units that will be settled within 60 days of
December 31, 2017. Item (iii) includes restricted stock units which the holder has no power to vote or dispose of,
but in respect of which the holder is entitled to a cash payment equal to the amount of any dividends paid by the
Company on its Common Stock. These units are: 80,482 for Mr. Brondeau, 52,709 for Mr. Graves, 56,746 for Mr.

(1)Douglas, 11,745 for Mr. Norris, 26,441 for Ms. Utecht, and 228,123 for all executive officers as a group. Item (iv)
includes options to purchase 482,635 shares for Mr. Brondeau; options to purchase 36,484 shares for Mr. Graves;
options to purchase 55,368 shares for Mr. Douglas; options to purchase 59,129 shares for Ms. Utecht; and options
to purchase 633,616 shares for all executive officers as a group. Item (v) only includes 56,774 shares that were
earned in respect of the special performance-based restricted stock unit grant made to Mr. Brondeau in 2015 and
will be issued within 60 days of December 31, 2017. It does not include any of the performance-based restricted
stock units that were granted to the NEOs in 2016 or 2017, to which dividend equivalent rights are attached in all
cases.
Includes vested restricted stock units credited to individual accounts of non-employee directors (see section above
entitled “Director Compensation”). The number of restricted stock units credited to directors included in the table
above is as follows: Mr. Cordeiro, 6,782; Mr. D’ Aloia, 21,638; Mr. Greer, 11,957; Ms. Johnson, 15,131; Mr.
Kempthorne, 23,203; Mr. Norris, 51,806; Ms. @vrum, 3,048; Mr. Pallash, 29,958; Mr. Powell, 11,676; and Mr.

(2) Volpe, 35,407. Directors have no power to vote or dispose of shares represented by restricted stock units until the
shares are distributed and, until such distribution, directors have only an unsecured claim against the Company.
The holders of these restricted stock units will be credited with additional restricted stock units having a value
equal to the amount of any dividends paid by the Company on its Common Stock. Such amounts are included in
the table above.

(3)Mr. Norris’ service with the Company ceased on October 31, 2017.
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Other Security Ownership

Based on available information, the persons listed below beneficially own more than five percent of the Company’s
outstanding shares of Common Stock as of December 31, 2017:

Amount and Nature Percent
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner . . 0

of Beneficial Ownership

Class

The Vanguard Group, Inc. 14,089,425 shares M 10.49 %
100 Vanguard Boulevard
Malvern, PA 19355
Glenview Capital Management, LL.C and Larry Robbins 10,668,384 shares 2 795 %
767 Fifth Avenue, 44t Floor
New York, NY 10153
FMR LLC and Abigail P. Johnson 9,382,609 shares (3) 6.988 %
245 Summer Street
Boston, MA 02210
BlackRock, Inc. 9,261,241 shares “ 690 %

55 East 52d Street
New York, NY 10055

Based on a Schedule 13G/A filing dated February 9, 2018, as of December 31, 2017, The Vanguard Group, Inc.
(1)had sole voting power as to 190,582 of such shares, shared voting power as to 39,969 shares, sole dispositive
power as to 13,863,770 shares and shared dispositive power as to 225,655 shares.

Based on a Schedule 13G/A filing dated February 14, 2018, as of December 31, 2017, Glenview Capital
Management, LL.C and Larry Robbins had shared voting power and shared dispositive power as to all of the shares.
Based on a Schedule 13G filing dated February 13, 2018, as of December 31, 2017, FMR LLC had sole voting
(3)power with respect to 605,656 of such shares and FMR LLC and Abigail P. Johnson had sole dispositive power
over all of the shares.

Based on a Schedule 13G/A filing dated January 31, 2018, as of December 31, 2017, BlackRock, Inc. had sole
voting power as to 8,144,606 of such shares and sole dispositive power as to all of the shares.

2

“)
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VIL.EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following Compensation Discussion & Analysis describes the philosophy, objectives and structure of our fiscal
year 2017 executive compensation program. This section is intended to be read in conjunction with the tables which
immediately follow, which provide further historical compensation information for our named executive officers
(“NEOs”) as identified below.

The NEOs in 2017 were:

Pierre Brondeau President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Paul Graves Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Mark Douglas President, FMC Agricultural Solutions

Eric Norris®V  President, FMC Health and Nutrition

Andrea Utecht Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

(1)Mr. Norris’ service with the Company ceased on October 31, 2017.

Quick CD&A Reference Guide

Executive Summary _ Section [ 22
Objectives and Philosophy  Section II 26
Compensation Determination Process _ Section III 26
Components of Executive Compensation _Section IV 28

Additional Compensation Policies and Practices Section V. 34

Executive Summary
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FMC’s 2017 performance was driven by strong results from both operating segments, as well as the acquisition of a
significant portion of DuPont’s crop protection business and research and development organization, which closed on
November 1, 2017. These factors led to FMC adjusted earnings per share rising 41 percent from 2016 to 2017. In our
Agricultural Solutions segment, the actions we took in 2015-2016 positioned FMC’s legacy business to significantly
outperform the overall agricultural chemicals market, which contracted for a third consecutive year. The DuPont
acquisition provided a financial lift in the final two months of 2017, but, more importantly, it transformed FMC’s
Agricultural Solutions business into a tier-one leading provider of agricultural chemicals. In the Lithium segment,
FMC announced its intention to separate FMC Lithium into a publicly traded company during 2018. FMC also opened
a new lithium hydroxide plant in China to meet accelerating demand for FMC’s products in the electric vehicle market.
FMC remains on track to reach 30,000 metric tons per year of lithium hydroxide capacity by the end of 2019 and to
more than double lithium carbonate production at its Argentina site to 40,000 metric tons per year by 2022. The
actions we have taken throughout 2016-2017 position FMC to deliver significant earnings growth in 2018 and our
long-term fundamentals remain solid.

Our corporate performance reflected our exceptional stock price performance. Highlights include, as compared to
2016 performance:

Consolidated revenue of $2,879 million, representing a 13 percent increase

Consolidated GAAP earnings per diluted share of $3.99, representing a 156 percent increase

Consolidated adjusted earnings per diluted share of $2.71, representing a 41 percent increase

Agricultural Solutions segment earnings of $486 million, representing a 21 percent increase

Lithium segment earnings of $127 million, representing an 80 percent increase

Our TSR for 2017 was approximately 65% (compared with 57% TSR in 2016), placing us in the upper quartile of our
peers

All of the aforementioned achievements are reflective of our culture, our people and our strategic business goals.
Further, we believe our executive team has been properly motivated through our executive compensation program to
focus on the achievement of these goals, both in the short term and long term. While we are proud of the achievement
of many of our operational goals in 2017, we also realize that an intense focus on the long-term health and direction of
the Company is essential. As such, our executive compensation program has been carefully constructed to properly
motivate executives to create long-term, sustainable stockholder value, and to only reward executives for the
achievement of various goals. In fact, we link a significant portion of compensation, including approximately 86% of
our CEO’s compensation, directly to key measures of our corporate performance — including adjusted earnings, cash
outflows and share price performance (both absolute and relative).

Our Compensation Committee and management have also engaged in deep, robust stockholder engagement and
dialogue regarding our executive compensation program and our corporate governance.
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Through these extensive efforts, we have listened to the views of a substantial proportion of our stockholders about
our pay program. In the process, we also established critical feedback channels to ensure that we receive and consider
such input going forward. Incorporating stockholder feedback continues to be a vibrant and consistent part of the
compensation design process.

How Our Pay Program Works

We believe that the design and structure of our pay program, and in particular our incentive plans, support FMC’s
business strategy and organizational objectives while successfully aligning executive focus and interest with that of
stockholders. This section of our Compensation Discussion and Analysis demonstrates this. Our annual incentive plan
reflects a balanced mix of income statement and balance sheet metrics, while our long-term performance awards are
based on relative TSR performance to align with stockholder value. All elements have been carefully chosen and
utilized; as you’ll see, the value received and realizable for FMC executives is aligned with corporate performance.

Elements of Pay

Our compensation program is designed to reward executives for achievement of our Company’s short-term and
long-term strategic goals. In doing so, we have also constructed the pay program to attract and retain world-class
talent and to align executive compensation pay opportunities with the interests of stockholders. The Compensation
Committee has selected the following framework to achieve these objectives:

Target Direct Compensation Mix

Consistent with our objectives as stated above, and our overarching focus on pay and performance alignment, as
illustrated in the graphic below:

The largest portion of compensation is variable, at-risk pay, in the form of annual and long-term incentives (including
annual incentive, RSUs, options and performance-based RSUs)
Our program provides a balance between long-term and short-term awards, consistent with our business strategy
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Compensation Program Governance

Our Compensation Committee is responsible for oversight of the Company’s compensation program and values. A
significant part of this is aligning management interests with the Company’s business strategies and goals, as well as
the interest of our stockholders, while also mitigating excessive risk taking. To that end, FMC has committed to
numerous governance practices and safeguards to ensure the compensation program does not misalign those interests.

What We Do What We Don’t Do

Use equity for long-term incentive awards No highly l‘everag‘ed incentive plans that encourage
excessive risk taking

Determine long-term incentive award guidelines based on

relative TSR

Provide change in control benefits under double-trigger

circumstances only

Benchmark against peers whose profile, operations, and

business markets share similarities with the Company

Require significant executive share ownership No uncapped incentive award payments

Apply anti-pledging and anti-hedging policy for

Company shares

Provide a clawback policy designed to recoup incentive =~ No immediate vesting of stock options or restricted stock

compensation paid to executive officers based on units except for certain change-in-control with termination

erroneously prepared financial statements and retirement-eligible situations

As of 2010, no new tax gross-ups under our executive

officer pay program

No excessive perquisites
No guaranteed bonuses

No discounted stock options

No repricing or backdating of stock options

Engage an independent advisor

Maintain an appropriate balance between short-term and
long-term compensation which discourages short-term
risk taking at the expense of long-term results

Consideration of Results of the Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation

Stockholder Engagement — Winter 2017-2018

Overview. Over the past two years, Compensation Committee Chair Scott Greer and Compensation Committee
member K’Lynne Johnson, together with our Vice President, Human Resources Kyle Matthews, General Counsel
Andrea Utecht and Investor Relations Director Michael Wherley, have engaged in deep, robust stockholder
engagement and dialogue regarding our executive compensation program and our corporate governance. Through
these extensive efforts, we have heard the views of a substantial proportion of our stockholders about our pay
program, and we have learned a great deal. Our stockholders provided quality commentary on our compensation and
governance practices, giving us valuable and important insights. In the process, we also established critical feedback
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channels to ensure that we receive and consider such input going forward. Incorporating stockholder feedback
continues to be a vibrant and consistent part of our compensation design process.

Broadest QOutreach to Date. In late 2017 and early 2018, we conducted our farthest-reaching engagement effort yet,
contacting the Company’s top 100 investors, representing more than 80% of our outstanding shares, as well as
Institutional Shareholder Services, Inc. (“ISS”) and Glass Lewis & Co. In this round, we directly engaged with 65% of
our stockholders. We had discussions with holders representing approximately 30% of our outstanding stock,
including new stockholders and stockholders we did not connect with previously, broadening the number of voices we
heard. Holders of approximately 35% of our outstanding stock declined our invitation to talk to management or a
Compensation Committee member. The balance of the stockholders that we contacted did not respond to multiple
invitations for a call. We believe that at least some of the holders who declined the invitation to engage did so because
they do not have major objections to the structure of our current executive compensation program.

Context: 2017 Strategic Developments and Company Performance. These calls enabled us to listen directly to the

voices of stockholders and to take in what we heard. We were also able to note the significant increase in our stock
price for the one-, three- and five-year periods ended in 2017, our strategic transformation to focus predominantly on
agricultural chemicals, our acquisition of assets from DuPont, our sale of a line of business to DuPont, the expansion
of our Lithium business to capitalize on the electric vehicle market and its pending separation into a separate
company, our strong operating results in the midst of the changes in our business, and aspects of our executive
compensation approach in light of chemicals businesses being inherently cyclical businesses.

Responsiveness to Stockholder Feedback

Say on Pay Votes. The Compensation Committee’s decision to conduct the most recent round of engagement was
based in part on that fact that, at the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, our Say on Pay vote received 62% support
from voting stockholders. While this meant the proposal “passed,” and did represent an increase from the 46% support
the Say on Pay proposal received in 2016, it remained well below results in prior years when support levels typically
exceeded 90%. The Compensation Committee considered this outcome and was disappointed with the lack of
material, year-over-year improvement. While the Compensation Committee believed that the Company’s executive
compensation program had been effective in implementing the Company’s stated compensation philosophy and
objectives and that compensation and disclosure changes made in the past year had been responsive to stockholder
feedback, a substantial percentage of stockholders still did not support the Say on Pay proposal.
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Accordingly, the Compensation Committee and management agreed that additional and enhanced discussions with
stockholders should be pursued in advance of the 2018 Annual Meeting and on an ongoing basis to better understand
the views of our investors. The Compensation Committee’s decision to conduct this deeper engagement considered the
prior efforts in connection with the 2016 and 2017 Annual Meetings.

After the 2016 Annual Meeting, the Company had reached out to stockholders representing approximately 80% of our
outstanding shares, with more than 50% of our holders responding and either agreeing to speak with us or declining to
have a call based on their general satisfaction with our pay practices. All of these discussions were led by at least one
member of our Compensation Committee, and typically also included representatives from our Investor Relations and
Human Resources teams. The discussions that ensued were instrumental in enhancing our understanding of investor
expectations regarding the design and disclosure of our executive compensation programs. Investors conveyed that a
special one-time equity award granted to Mr. Brondeau, our CEO, in 2015 was a key driver of votes against the 2016
Say on Pay proposal.

During the time leading up to the 2017 Annual Meeting, we again reached out, contacting nearly 70% of our holders
and engaging with almost 40% of them. During these engagements, a number of stockholders likened the granting of
special restricted stock unit Key Manager Awards (“KMA”) in 2016 to NEOs with the special equity award granted to
Mr. Brondeau in 2015. Although the KMAs differed in size and structure from the special equity award in 2015, these
stockholders considered the granting of KMAs on the heels of Mr. Brondeau’s award as consecutive “one-off” awards
that suggested the core incentive program might be ineffective and poorly aligned with stockholder interests. Further,
similar to investor concerns that the 2016 proxy had provided insufficient context and rationale regarding Mr.
Brondeau’s award, some stockholders felt a similar level of insight was missing in 2017 in connection with the KMAs.

Because the KMAs were a longstanding and relatively modest component of the Company’s compensation program,
the Compensation Committee had not contemplated that the awards might be perceived differently as circumstances
changed over time. Further, the Compensation Committee had not yet received stockholder feedback on Mr.
Brondeau’s special equity award at the time the KMAs were granted. Historically, KMAs have been used very
sparingly, with only 78 awards in the past 10 years, only nine of which were to individuals who were named executive
officers at the time of grant. Given the disconnect that was revealed over the perception of the KMAs, the
Compensation Committee has enhanced its process in connection with the use of these awards, and will apply strict
scrutiny to their use for any executive officer. The Compensation Committee did not grant any KMAs to NEOs in
2017 and does not plan to grant any to NEOs in 2018.

Changes Made To Date Based on Stockholder Input

In response to our prior stockholder engagement initiatives over the past two years, we made the changes listed below:

Responsible use of equity: The Compensation Committee has committed to continuing to use equity judiciously and

keeping our dilution and burn rate within market and industry norms
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Shift to higher proportion of performance-based equity in Long Term Incentive Plan: The performance-based portion
of the CEO’s long-term incentive has been increased from 33% to 50%, and the proportion for the other NEOs has
been increased from 33% to 40%

Shift to performance-based RSUs in Long Term Incentive Plan from performance-based cash awards

Enhanced and continue to enhance CD&A disclosure regarding components of the program

Disclosed more information about the 2015 CEO special equity award

Added best practice features to the equity incentive plan such as a minimum vesting requirement for most awards and
a prohibition on liberal share recycling

Maintained CEO total direct compensation at the same level in 2017 as in 2016 and 2015

Added proxy access in December 2016

Common Themes Heard in Winter 2017-2018 Stockholder Engagement

The discussions in advance of the 2018 Annual Meeting have been instrumental in enhancing our understanding of
investor viewpoints regarding the design and disclosure of our executive compensation programs. The following are
some common themes from these discussions:

Overall program and design: As we heard in our prior rounds of stockholder engagement, the design of the regular
ongoing compensation program and the structure in general are viewed as sound and sufficiently performance based.
Annual Incentive: Additional disclosure regarding how goals are set for the performance metrics and the rigor of such
goals would be helpful, as well as more specificity about why such goals have been chosen. (We have enhanced the
disclosure in this proxy statement under ‘“Business Performance Incentives” below.)

Peer group changes: When there are changes to the executive compensation peer group, a description of the rationale
for these changes would enhance readers’ understanding of that aspect of the process.

Enhanced context for grants of KMAs in 2016: KMAs are generally viewed as a valuable tool to be used strategically,
but prior disclosure about the Compensation Committee’s rationale for making such awards and the sparing use of
them was insufficient, and was a key driver of votes against Say on Pay in 2017; grants of such one-off equity awards
to NEOs, in the year after the special equity award to the CEO, raised some concerns.

We received a variety of other comments, although none achieved wide consensus, including the following:

Long-Term Incentive: Some suggested that we consider adding another performance metric to our long-term incentive
plan in addition to Total Stockholder Return (TSR), as TSR alone might not be an adequate incentive given the
cyclical nature of the chemicals business and our focus on the agricultural chemicals market

Long-Term Incentive: Some questioned whether the design of our long-term incentive program is sufficiently long
term

Stockholder Feedback: A Vital Input to the Compensation Committee’s Decision-Making Process
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The Compensation Committee is considering all of the feedback received from the stockholder engagement efforts as
it contemplates the design of the executive compensation program going forward. The Compensation Committee is of
the view that during the process of the Company’s current strategic transformation to focus predominantly on
agricultural chemicals, setting goals can be more challenging. As such, it is not yet an appropriate time to make
further significant changes to
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executive compensation programs, because visibility into the future is inferior to visibility during more stable time
periods. The Compensation Committee is, however, in the process of incorporating all of the stockholder input and
considering how to apply it in the design of the program and the selection of performance metrics. As part of this
process, the Compensation Committee is contemplating or has taken steps to effectuate: enhancing disclosure
regarding the Annual Incentive, the peer group companies, the long-term incentive plan and the KMAs; further
changes to the use of KMAs, especially for NEOs; adding another metric to the long-term incentive plan; and other
changes.

The Compensation Committee looks forward to continuing its dialogue with stockholders on an ongoing basis in years
to come.

Objectives and Philosophy

The Company’s executive compensation program is designed to attract, motivate and retain top talent, to pay for
performance and to align the financial interests of the NEOs with those of the Company’s stockholders. In designing
compensation arrangements for NEOs, the Compensation Committee has considered the importance of:

Balancing variable compensation components so that appropriate focus is put on achieving both short-term and
long-term operating and strategic objectives;

Motivating the NEOs to achieve desired financial and operational results using sound business judgment and without
inappropriate risk taking; and

Ensuring that the achievement of key financial goals and strategic objectives is financially rewarding for the NEO.

We believe it is critical to pay executives at a competitive level relative to our peer group in order to attract and retain
the talent we need to deliver high performance. In addition to looking at our peer group, we make individual pay
decisions based on a variety of factors such as company, business unit and individual performance, scope of
responsibility, critical needs and skills, leadership potential and succession planning.

The Compensation Committee believes that subjecting a significant percentage of total direct compensation (“TDC”) to
performance conditions helps focus the executive on achieving key objectives that are important to delivering the
performance expected by stockholders. The Compensation Committee has determined, based on an assessment of the
Company’s executive compensation programs by its consultant, that its compensation policies and programs do not
give rise to inappropriate risk taking or risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the
Company.
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Compensation Determination Process

Role of Compensation and Organization Committee and CEO

The Compensation Committee recognizes its responsibility to maintain a competitive executive compensation
program that will ensure the Company’s ability to attract, motivate and retain top talent while at the same time aligning
the financial interests of the executives with stockholders. Pay for performance and market-based compensation are
important elements of the Company’s compensation philosophy. The Company considers several measures of
corporate performance, job performance and labor market dynamics in the design and administration of the NEO
compensation arrangements described later in this section.

The Compensation Committee establishes total compensation for the chairman, president and CEO annually at its
February meeting. The Compensation Committee reviews and evaluates the performance of the CEO and develops
base salary and incentive payment recommendations for the review and approval of the full Board of Directors. The
CEO does not participate in Compensation Committee or Board discussions regarding his own compensation.

The Compensation Committee, with the input of the CEO, also establishes compensation for all the other NEOs.
Specifically, the CEO evaluates the performance of the other NEOs annually and makes recommendations to the
Compensation Committee each February regarding the compensation of those other NEOs. The CEO’s input is
particularly important in connection with base salary adjustments and the determination of Annual Performance
Incentive (“API”) ratings as part of our Annual Incentive program. In each of these instances, the process starts with the
CEO’s recommendation, and that recommendation is afforded great weight by the Compensation Committee. The
CEO participates in Compensation Committee discussions regarding other NEOs’ compensation. The Compensation
Committee views the CEQO’s significant role in the compensation process for other NEOs, and the deference afforded
to his recommendations, as appropriate in light of his greater familiarity with the day-to-day performance of his direct
reports and the importance of incentive compensation in driving the execution of managerial initiatives developed and
led by the CEO. That said, the Compensation Committee makes the ultimate determination regarding the
compensation of each of the NEOs.

Role of Compensation Consultant

Aon served as the Compensation Committee’s independent compensation consultant during 2017. Aon’s advice was
taken into consideration for all aspects of 2017 compensation as delineated in the Summary Compensation Table

For 2017, Aon provided the Compensation Committee with advice and counsel on a broad range of executive
compensation matters. The scope of their services included, but was not limited to, the following:

69



Edgar Filing: IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS INC - Form 10-Q/A

Apprising the Compensation Committee of compensation-related trends and developments in the marketplace;
Informing the Compensation Committee of regulatory developments relating to executive compensation practices;
Advising the Compensation Committee on appropriate peer companies for compensation pay levels and design
practices, as well as relative performance comparisons;
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Providing the Compensation Committee with an assessment of the market competitiveness of the Company’s
executive compensation;

Assessing the executive compensation structure to confirm that no design elements encourage excessive risk taking;
Assessing the relationship between executive compensation and corporate performance; and

Recommending changes to the executive compensation program to maintain competitiveness and ensure consistency
with business strategies, good governance practices and alignment with stockholder interests.

At the time that FMC engaged Aon as its executive compensation advisor, the Compensation Committee was aware of
the types and general magnitude of the fees for other services that Aon provided to FMC. Aon was selected because
the Compensation Committee is confident that the team advising on executive compensation issues was both highly
qualified and would be independent.

For 2017, in determining the independence of Aon, the Compensation Committee considered independence in light of
the six independence factors set forth in the SEC rules and NYSE listing standards. In particular, the Compensation
Committee gave substantial weight to the fact that amounts paid to Aon for services other than executive
compensation consulting constituted only 0.057% of Aon’s total revenue. In addition, the total fees paid by the
Company to the consultants for all services during fiscal year 2017 were substantially less than 0.06% of Aon’s total
revenue for the applicable fiscal year. In total, fees paid to Aon during 2017 for services not related to Aon’s work with
the Compensation Committee, such as insurance brokerage services, global benefits consulting, benefit support for the
Health and Nutrition transaction, and retirement and investment consulting, were approximately $6,584,569. Fees paid
to Aon during 2017 for services related to recommending the amount and form of executive and director
compensation were approximately $410,647. Aon had been providing services to FMC prior to the Compensation
Committee’s selection of Aon for executive compensation consulting services.

In terms of assessing independence, the Compensation Committee also gave credit to the safeguards that Aon’s
executive compensation practice has put in place to maintain its independence. The Compensation Committee also
considered that no business or personal relationships exist between any members of the consultants’ teams advising the
Company on the one hand, and the Company, any members of the Compensation Committee or any executive officers
on the other hand, other than in connection with the services provided. Therefore, the Compensation Committee has
concluded that Aon is independent, as no conflict of interest exists between Aon and the Company.

Peer Group

The Company relies on both industry surveys and analysis of proxy statements from peer companies (the “Market”)
prepared by its compensation consultant to assess the market competitiveness of the components of its NEO
compensation and to validate the appropriateness of TDC, including the appropriate mix of cash and equity, as well as
NEO benefits and perquisites. Proxy statement data may not be available for all jobs that are direct comparisons to
jobs held by the Company’s NEOs. In such cases, the Company relies more on the broader survey data to assess
acceptable ranges for the elements of executive compensation. The Company also believes that internal equity is an
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important and necessary consideration in valuing jobs. The Company may, as a matter of policy, adjust individual
components of TDC to align with its general executive pay philosophy as described in the preceding section.
However, the Company does not adjust components of TDC based on the amount of compensation earned by an NEO
in any prior period.

The Company believes that the market for executive talent can generally be measured every other year. As such, in
connection with determining 2017 executive compensation, the Company used the existing market study of executive
compensation at peer companies used as an input for 2016 executive compensation. The peer group is reviewed
periodically for appropriateness and comparability. Criteria used for selecting peer group companies include: similar
industry representation, revenue and market capitalization in the range of one-third to five times FMC. While
competitive, size-adjusted positional benchmark data was prepared consistent with past practice, this benchmark data
was inconsequential to the compensation awards for 2017.

Airgas, Inc. Huntsman Corporation

Air Products & Chemicals, Inc. Ingredion Incorporated

Albemarle Corporation International Flavors and Fragrances, Inc.
Ashland, Inc. Olin Corporation

Celanese Corporation PPG Industries, Inc.

Chemtura Corporation Scott’s Miracle-GRO Company

Cytec Industries Inc. Syngenta AG

Eastman Chemical Company = The Mosaic Company
Ecolab Inc. The Valspar Corporation

Grace, (W.R.) & Company Westlake Chemical Corporation
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Market

Cap Revenue

($mm) ($mm)

20 Peers

25th percentile $5,783 $ 3,046
Median $ 9,589 $ 5,351
75th percentile $ 17,081 $9,137
FMC Corporation

$10,129  $3,282
Rank 52% 27%

Statistics reflect FY 2016 data for revenue and April 2017 market cap for those with available data. FMC’s FY
2016 revenue amount of $3,282mm was the reported amount at the time the Compensation Committee
" determined 2017 executive compensation. FMC’s FY 2016 revenue amount was subsequently recast to reflect
the reclassification of the Company’s Health and Nutrition business as a discontinued operation.

Note

Components of Executive Compensation

The NEO compensation program consists of three primary elements: base salary, an annual incentive and a long-term
incentive. Each of these elements is commensurate with the level of responsibility and impact of our results for each
executive.

Base Salary

Salary ranges for NEOs are established based on similar positions in other companies of comparable revenue, size and
complexity included in the Market. Performance levels from “does not meet expectations” to “exceeds expectations”
provide guidance for the administration of salaries.

Starting salaries are based on the employee’s skills, experience, expertise and expected job performance. Subsequent
salary adjustments for the NEOs (except the CEO) are based on job performance as assessed by the CEO who
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recommends the appropriate base salary to the Compensation Committee for their approval. The Compensation
Committee itself determines any salary adjustment for the CEO. Base salary reviews are part of the broader
compensation review that occurs at the February meeting of the Compensation Committee and focus on the
performance of the NEOs in their respective major responsibility areas (“MRAs”). MRAs include but are not limited to,
financial management, customer relations, strategic planning and business development, operational excellence, safety
performance, staffing and talent management, performance management, and litigation management. Salary increases
occur annually on April 1. The following table represents the change in base salary for the NEOs in 2017.

2016 Base 2017 Base %
Salary Salary Change

NEO
Pierre Brondeau $1,166,440 $1,200,000 2.9 %
Paul Graves $681,798  $702,252 3.0 %
Mark Douglas  $585,155  $602,710 3.0 %
Eric Norris $403,820 $411,896 2.0 %

Andrea Utecht $498,305 $513,254 3.0 %

Annual Incentive

The Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan (“ICSP”) is a stockholder-approved plan designed to facilitate the delivery
of both short-term and long-term incentives.

The Annual Incentive is a cash component of the ICSP that rewards NEOs for the achievement of key short-term
objectives. It is designed to recognize and reward both individual and team achievement. The Compensation
Committee reviews and approves the award design, performance measures and objectives. The Compensation
Committee also reviews and approves the award results and payouts.

Annual Incentive opportunities were unchanged in 2017, and were as follows:

Target Maximum
(as a % of base
salary)

Pierre Brondeau 120% 240%
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Paul Graves 60% 120%
Mark Douglas  70% 140%
Eric Norris 60% 120%

Andrea Utecht 60% 120%
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The Annual Incentive is comprised of two components:

Business Performance Incentive (“BPI”)
Annual Performance Incentive (“API")

The weighting of the BPI and API components was in each case 70% BPI and 30% API.

Business Performance Incentive (‘“BPI’’)

For 2017, the BPI component is focused on two key corporate-wide financial measures, adjusted earnings and cash
outflow, and one key business-unit measure, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). For Messrs. Brondeau and
Graves and Ms. Utecht, their 2017 BPI performance measures were weighted between adjusted earnings (70%) and
cash outflow (30%). For Mr. Douglas, his 2017 BPI performance measure included the two corporate financial
measures, as well as a business unit EBIT measure. In connection with Mr. Norris’ cessation of service on October 31,
2017, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Norris a prorated Annual Incentive award based on a target level of API and
BPI performance.

The BPI metrics and targets are determined by the Compensation Committee after review of the budget targets set for
the respective businesses and for the Company as a whole. The Compensation Committee reviews the relevant
financial objectives set as a result of the detailed budgeting process, and assesses various factors related to the
achievability of these budget targets. These factors include, but are not limited to: external factors outside the control
of the management team, such as currency exchange rates, market conditions, and regulatory actions; the risks
associated with achieving specific actions which underpin the budget targets, such as achieving manufacturing targets,
launching new products, completing capital investments on-schedule, and obtaining cost savings; the implied
performance relative to peers; and the implied performance relative to prior years. Based on this review, the
Compensation Committee determines the metrics to be measured and what performance it considers to be an
appropriate target for a metric, as well as what performance, relative to this target, would represent a minimum
performance (below which no amount is paid) and a maximum performance (above which no additional amount is
paid). Once these targets are defined, a curve is defined which sets out the amount to be paid at any point between
zero and the maximum payout for each metric, based on actual performance. The weighting of each metric in
calculating the total amount to be paid is set by reference to the Compensation Committee’s assessment of the relative
importance of each metric to the Company as a whole in that year.

Metrics, targets and actual results for 2017 were as follows:
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Maximum
Name CszrIn onents Target ﬁg;‘;;ls@ Percent BPI Rating gzggall BPI
p PerformanceV Performance? of &
Target Component

Pierre Brondeau

Adjusted 301.0m 337.0m 331.7m  70%  1.85

Earnings

Cash Outflow -343.0 m -243.0 m -291.5m  30% 1.52 1.75
Paul Graves

Adjusted 301.0m 337.0m 331.7m  70%  1.85

Earnings

Cash Outflow -343.0 m -243.0 m -291.5m  30% 1.52 1.75
Mark Douglas
Corporate Adjusted 301.0 m 337.0m 3B317m 35%  1.85

Earnings

Cash Outflow -343.0 m -243.0 m 291.5m  15% 1.52
FMC Agricultural pp 405.0 m 455.0 m 486.6 m® 50%  1.66 1.706
Solutions
Eric Norris®®
Andrea Utecht

Adjusted 301.0m 337.0m 331.7m  70%  1.85

Earnings

Cash Outflow -343.0 m -243.0 m -291.5m  30% 1.52 1.75

The target performance signifies performance that will yield a BPI rating of 1.0. The business performance
(1)incentive awards have possible payouts at any point from zero to the respective maximums shown; therefore no
threshold is given.
(2) The maximum performance signifies performance that will yield a BPI rating of 2.0.
The levels of these BPI measures may differ from the amounts reported in our financial statements because the BPI
measures are adjusted to exclude gains or losses attributable to (i) certain extraordinary and/or non-recurring events
(such as business acquisitions or dispositions or business restructuring charges), and (ii) certain other items not
reflective of operating performance (such as the impact of changes in currency exchange rates or changes in
accounting principles). In 2017, however, these adjustments did not materially affect the amount of any NEO’s
Annual Incentive Award.
The actual results reported include EBIT for the acquired portion of DuPont’s crop protection business for the last
two months of the year, as adjusted in accordance with footnote (3) above. However, in determining Mr. Douglas’
BPI rating for this metric, the Compensation Committee used its best efforts to base such rating on the legacy
Agricultural Solutions business EBIT only.
In connection with Mr. Notrris’ cessation of service on October 31, 2017, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Norris a
prorated Annual Incentive award based on a target level of API and BPI performance.

3)

“)

)

Annual Performance Incentive (‘“‘API”)

The API generally consists of a set of non-financial objectives specific to each NEO, but may include financial
measures at the discretion of the CEO. The CEO’s 2017 APIs, as approved by the Committee, included objectives
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relating to: 1) signing and obtaining necessary regulatory approvals for closing the transformative transaction with
DuPont for acquisition of a significant portion of its crop protection business and the divestiture of the Company’s
Health and Nutrition business, putting in place the people and functions, systems and transition services agreements
that would allow the DuPont carve out business to operate without interruption, and integrating the DuPont business
and achieving cost and revenue synergies (all of the foregoing the “DuPont Transaction Objectives”); 2) demonstrating
sales and earnings growth in the Agricultural Solutions business excluding the DuPont business
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(“the legacy Agricultural Solutions business”) despite a flat market, maintaining discipline on the balance sheet and
collection of accounts receivable, lowering the inventory level of products in the channel, and focusing on price; 3)
overseeing the successful start-up of a new lithium hydroxide plant and strategy for ensuring sufficient long-term
capacity for both lithium hydroxide and lithium carbonate; and 4) safety.

Mr. Brondeau’s principal accomplishments which formed the basis for his API rating set forth below include leading
the Company’s efforts at successfully executing on the DuPont Transaction Objectives noted above, which has
transformed the Company into a tier-one crop protection company with a broader, geographically-balanced product
portfolio and strong discovery research, and with no interruption in the business post-closing. This transaction
required several months of intense negotiation and creative structuring of a swap of businesses, resulting in very
favorable economic terms for the Company in its acquisition of the DuPont crop protection assets. Post signing of the
definitive agreement, due to the carve out nature of the DuPont business and the lack of corporate functions and
infrastructure being transferred, more than 50 transition services and other “work around” agreements needed to be
negotiated and implemented at closing, a clone of DuPont’s IT system had to be established to enable business
transactions to be accounted for and serviced, and more than 250 employees had to be hired. Post-closing, intense
efforts have been ongoing to integrate the DuPont business and the legacy Agricultural Solutions business to achieve
both cost and revenue synergies.

At the same time, under Mr. Brondeau’s leadership, the legacy Agricultural Solutions business’ earnings grew
significantly year over year in a flat market, with the business generating strong cash flow and improving working
capital, outperforming competitors in a challenging market. The Lithium business also had a very strong year from an
operational and financial standpoint, with an EBIT growth of 80% versus the prior year. The new lithium hydroxide
capacity in China came in on time and under budget, and the new hydroxide facility was running above name plate
capacity in the fourth quarter. The Lithium business is now well-positioned to be separated in the second half of 2018.
In the area of safety, the Company again achieved a record low injury rate for the year of 0.18.

In addition, the CEO established API measures and objectives unique to each NEO as set forth below.

Mr. Graves’ APIs consisted of 1) the DuPont Transaction Objectives, 2) ensuring that investors recognized the benefits
of the DuPont transaction, and 3) advancing the process of separating the Lithium business. Mr. Graves’ principal
accomplishments which formed the basis for his API rating set forth in the table below include: being an integral
member of the core team responsible for successfully achieving the DuPont Transaction Objectives, including
specifically due diligence, valuation and negotiation of the extremely complex DuPont transaction in a very
compressed time frame and under significant regulatory pressure, as well as overseeing the sign-to-close process (the
details of which activities, together with the benefits of the transaction, are described under Mr. Brondeau’s
accomplishments above), and meeting post-acquisition with analysts and investors to explain the rationale and

benefits of the transaction — the success of which is evidenced by the TSR of 65% for 2017, in the upper quartile of our
peers. In addition, Mr. Graves spent extensive time and effort helping to develop the rationale for the separation of the
Lithium business, including clarifying and enhancing the strategy for the business and the investment case, identifying
any key hurdles to the separation and developing a plan to address them ahead of the separation, and developing the
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proposed mechanism and timing for the separation.

Mr. Douglas’ APIs consisted of 1) the DuPont Transaction Objectives; 2) maintaining a robust technology pipeline for
the legacy Agricultural Solutions business; 3) certain strategic financial imperatives for the legacy Agricultural
Solutions business, including receivables reduction and collection of past due accounts, especially in Brazil, strong
cash generation, and control over SAR spending; 4) safety; and 5) organizational initiatives, including diversity. Mr.
Douglas’ principal accomplishments which formed the basis for his API rating set forth in the table below include:
being an integral member of the core team responsible for successfully achieving the DuPont Transaction Objectives,
including due diligence, valuation, negotiation of the extremely complex DuPont transaction in a very compressed
time frame and under significant regulatory pressure and playing a key role in the thus far successful integration with
no interruption of business (the details of which activities, together with the benefits of the transaction are described
under Mr. Brondeau’s accomplishments above); for the legacy Agricultural Solutions business, reducing past due
accounts in Brazil by more than $100M, achieving record cash flow, growing EBIT significantly year over year in a
flat market, improving working capital, and outperforming competitors. The technology pipeline of the legacy
Agricultural Solutions business continued to be on track with significant field trial work on a number of active
ingredients and preparation for the 2018 launch of a new fungicide in North America. From an organizational
standpoint, the new operating committee of the combined DuPont and legacy Agricultural Solutions business is 50%
women, with more than 50% of the legacy Agricultural Solutions business’ EBITDA under the management of a
woman. Finally, with regard to safety, the injury rate in the legacy Agricultural Solutions business was 0.16 versus the
prior year of 0.23, with zero injuries since mid-August 2017.

Ms. Utecht’s APIs consisted of 1) the DuPont Transaction Objectives, 2) preparation for compliance with new EU data
privacy regulation, 3) maintaining legal costs at or under budget, 4) managing legal strategy for two major
environmental remediation sites currently in litigation, 5) providing developmental opportunities for inside attorneys,
6) supporting diversity and inclusion initiatives, and 7) participating in stockholder outreach to achieve a favorable
vote on the Say on Pay proposal. Ms. Utecht’s principal accomplishments which formed the basis for the rating set
forth in the table below include being an integral member of the core team responsible for successfully achieving the
DuPont Transaction Objectives, including due diligence, drafting and negotiation of the extremely complex DuPont
transaction in a very compressed time frame and under significant regulatory pressure, managing the legal support
needed to obtain regulatory approvals worldwide, and managing legal support for more than 50 ancillary agreements
needed in the sign to close period (the details of which activities and the benefits of the transaction are described

under Mr. Brondeau’s accomplishments above); leading a team responsible for creating data inventories and flows in
preparation for instituting controls, policies and procedures required by EU data privacy legislation in 2018;
maintaining legal costs within budget; participating in committees supporting 2018 Company and employee—organized
initiatives relating to diversity and inclusion; and helping to achieve a passing rate on the Say on Pay proposal.
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The overall API rating for each NEO consists of a weighted average of the results of his or her rating on each of his or
her individual API objectives, and the resulting weighted index yields an overall API rating between zero and 2.0. The
API ratings set forth in the table below for Messrs. Brondeau, Graves and Douglas and Ms. Utecht reflect, among
other things, the extraordinary amount of work and corresponding benefit to the Company in achieving the DuPont
Transaction Objectives.

The API rating for Mr. Norris is at target as provided by the agreement under which Mr. Norris exited the Company in
connection with the sale of the Health and Nutrition business.

The actual Annual Incentive amounts earned in 2017 by the NEOs appear in footnote (2) to Column (g) of the
Summary Compensation Table. Annual Incentive calculations are provided in the table below for each NEO in 2017.

2017 ACTUAL PERFORMANCE AND PAYOUTS TABLE

BPI 2017
API
BPI API Target
NEO % of % of Rating Incentive Actual
Target

Target  Rating Incentive
Pierre Brondeau 70 % 1.75 30 % 2.0 $1,429932 $2,609,627
Paul Graves 70 % 1.75 30 % 2.0  $418321 $763,435
Mark Douglas 70 % 1706 30 % 20  $418,862 $751,228
Eric Norris() 70 % 1.00 30 % 1.0 $204,737  $204,737

Andrea Utecht 70 % 1.75 30 % 2.0 $305,738  $557,971

In connection with Mr. Norris’ cessation of service on October 31, 2017, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Norris a
prorated Annual Incentive award based on a target level of API and BPI performance.

ey

Long-Term Incentives
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In 2017, long-term incentives were granted to executives via three different vehicles: stock options, restricted stock
unit awards and performance-based restricted stock unit awards.

The Compensation Committee believes that LTI awards should compensate NEOs, in a meaningful way, for
delivering sustainable long-term value to stockholders. LTI awards for the NEOs, except for the CEO, are
recommended by the CEO and approved by the Compensation Committee. The LTI award for the CEO is
recommended by the Compensation Committee and approved by the full Board of Directors. All LTI awards are
approved during the February meetings of the Compensation Committee and the Board.

Generally, LTIs vest based on the NEO’s continued service over a three year period, and unvested LTIs are forfeited
upon a cessation of service. In certain cases, however, awards may vest upon or following a termination, as further
described in the “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” section of this proxy.

2017 LTI Vehicle Mix

The target values for the annual LTI awards granted in 2017 were as follows:

NEO RSUs ($)  Options ($) PSUs($)  Total ($)
Pierre Brondeau $1,100,000 $1,650,000 $2,750,000 $5,500,000
Paul Graves $299,126  $299,126  $398,834  $997,086
Mark Douglas  $251,756  $251,756  $335,675  $839,187
Eric Norris $124,288  $124,288  $165,718  $414,294

Andrea Utecht  $200,005  $200,005 $266,673  $666,683

Stock Option Awards

In determining the number of options required to meet the compensation level approved for an NEO, the Company
divides that portion of the Compensation Committee-approved LTI award value related to stock options by the fair
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value of the option based on a Black-Scholes pricing model calculation using a 30-day average stock price for the
period immediately preceding the February meeting of the Compensation Committee.

The exercise price of all stock option awards to NEOs is equal to the closing price of the Company’s stock on the date
of the grant.
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Restricted Stock Unit Awards

In determining the amount of restricted stock units required to meet the compensation level approved for an NEO, the
Company divides that portion of the LTI award value related to restricted stock units for that year by a 30-day average
stock price for the period immediately preceding the February meeting of the Compensation Committee.

Once the vesting condition is satisfied, the shares, less any shares used to satisfy statutory tax withholding obligations,
are issued to the NEO.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awards

In 2017, performance-based awards were granted in the form of performance-based restricted stock unit awards. The
Compensation Committee believes that having share based performance awards closely aligns pay with performance
in the interests of the stockholders.

Historically, we granted performance-based awards in the form of performance-based cash awards. The change in
2016 from performance- based cash to performance-based RSUs affects the presentation of LTI in the Summary
Compensation Table below relative to 2015 grants, because of differences in how cash and stock are required to be
reported under SEC rules. Specifically, performance-based cash is reported only when and if earned, whereas
performance-based RSUs are reported in the year of grant, based on their grant date (i.e. target) value, without regard
to when or if the awards are ultimately earned. Because of this required difference in presentation, caution should be
used in comparing 2017 or 2016 compensation to 2015 compensation in the Summary Compensation Table. This will
no longer be a consideration beginning with the next proxy statement.

These awards are based on relative TSR performance as measured over a three-year period compared to the group of
peer companies (54) listed below. In an effort to maintain a consistent and robust peer group of relevant performance
peers, the 2017-2019 peer group reflects all companies included in the S&P 1500 Composite Chemical Index plus
select additional chemical company peers, including companies that are not included in the index. The 2017-2019 peer
group differs from the 2016-2018 peer group because it uses the index, and also because of substitutions for
companies that were acquired and the removal of foreign companies that were not listed on a U.S. stock exchange.

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.
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Akzo Nobel N.V.
Albemarle Corporation.
American Vanguard Corporation
Ashland Global Holdings
Balchem Corporation
BASF SE

Cabot Corporation

Calgon Carbon Corporation
Celanese Corporation

CF Industries Holdings, Inc.
The Chemours Company

The Dow Chemical Company
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E. I. duPont de Nemours and Company

Eastman Chemical Company
Ecolab, Inc.

Ferro Corporation
Flotek Industries, Inc.
H. B. Fuller Company
FutureFuel Corp.

W.R. Grace & Co.
Hawkins, Inc.
Huntsman Corporation
Ingredion Incorporated
Innophos Holdings, Inc.

Innospec Inc.

International Flavors & Fragrances, Inc.
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Intrepid Potash, Inc.

Koppers Holdings, Inc.

Kraton Corporation

LANXESS Solutions US Inc.
LSB Industries, Inc.
LyondellBasell Industries N.V.
Minerals Technologies, Inc.
Monsanto Company

The Mosaic Company
NewMarket Corporation

Olin Corporation

PolyOne Corporation

PPG Industries, Inc.

Praxair, Inc.

Quaker Chemical Company
Rayonier Advanced Materials, Inc.
RPM International, Inc.
A.Schulman, Inc.

The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company
Sensient Technologies Corporation
The Sherwin-Williams Company
Stepan Company

Syngenta AG

Tredegar Corporation

Valhi, Inc.
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The Valspar Corporation

Westlake Chemical Corporation
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The Compensation Committee selected TSR to incent management to achieve long-term stockholder returns that are
superior to the Company’s peers. This helps to directly align management with stockholder interests. Like for the
2016-2018 grant, TSR performance is calculated as four point-to-point measurements from 2017-2019. TSR
performance is calculated for each of the three calendar years, as well as for the three- year period as a whole. Each of
these four measurement periods carries a weight of 25% in calculating the final number of shares due. When the
performance measure has been met for a particular calendar year during the three-year period of the award, that

portion of units is “banked”, but is not considered “earned” and shares will not be delivered unless and until the executive
remains in service for the three-year performance period (except in certain circumstances as described below under the
heading entitled “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control”) and the performance is approved by the
Compensation Committee. In addition, if cash dividends were paid to the Company’s stockholders during the
applicable measurement period, dividend equivalent units are credited with respect to the banked units, and are
delivered to the executive if and when the banked units are delivered.

Any value earned by executives for these awards is based on the Company achieving a relative performance measure
of TSR at or above the 35t percentile (the threshold). For performance at the 35% percentile 50% of the target units
will be banked (no units are banked for performance at less than the 35t percentile). For performance at the 50t
percentile (the target) one times the target units are banked, and for performance at the 80th percentile or higher, a
maximum of two times the target units are banked. If the cumulative three-year TSR performance for the period is
negative, that portion (25%) of the payout is capped at 100% (target). For example, in the event of a broad and
protracted market downturn, if the Company’s cumulative three-year TSR performance is negative, but still superior to
most of the peer group, the payout for the three-year measurement period will be limited to target (even though
performance in that scenario would have exceeded target). The Compensation Committee believes it is appropriate to
limit payout in such circumstances, notwithstanding relative outperformance.

The Compensation Committee believes that the increasing cyclicality of the Company’s business as it moves to a
100% agricultural chemical company with the separation of its Lithium business beginning in 2018, and the difficulty
of finding peers with the same type of industry exposure, necessitate both a payment for performance beginning at the
35% TSR percentile, and a system for banking payouts based in part on one year periods.

Percentile Ranking of

Company’s Total
Shareholder Return
Versus Peer Group Percentage of the Target Units
Level Total Shareholder 8 g
Banked
Return
Below Threshold Below t‘he 35th 0%
Percentile
Threshold 35th Percentile 50%
Target 50th Percentile 100%
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Maximum 80th Percentile or higher 200%

TSR Peer Group Target
Measurement Periods PerformancePercentile 0.0 1.0 2.0 TSR Rating
2016-2018 Grant Year 2 (2017 TSR) 64.85% 86% <35%50%80% 2.00
2017-2019 Grant Year 1 (2017 TSR) 65.12% 88% <35%50%80% 2.00

2017 TSR performance and peer group percentiles differ because of a slight variation in the calculation methodology
and peer group used in the 2016-2018 award and 2017-2019 award.

2015-2017 Special Equity Award

In February 2015, the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, granted Mr.
Brondeau a special equity award consisting of 50% performance-based restricted stock units (PRSUs) and 50%
options vesting based on three years of continuous service. The awards had a total grant date fair value of $4,000,000.
Whether the PRSUs were earned depended on the relative TSR of the Company to a peer group of companies for the
three-year performance period 2015-2017. At the time the award was contemplated and ultimately made, the
Compensation Committee felt it was an important step in recognizing Mr. Brondeau’s continued leadership of the
Company at a critical time in its evolution towards complete transformation of the Company’s portfolio through
several significant acquisitions and divestitures, and at a time when there were significant changes taking place in the
chemicals industry, led by the announcement of the transactions involving The Dow Chemical Company and DuPont.
It was the Compensation Committee’s view that this grant was needed for retentive purposes and that any risk to
stockholders associated with the size of the award was mitigated by the use of rigorous performance hurdles that
ensure that value is only delivered to Mr. Brondeau if value is also provided to stockholders.

For the relevant performance period, the Company’s relative TSR performance was as follows:

TSR Peer Group Target
Measurement Periods PerformancePercentile 0.0 1.0 2.0 TSR Rating

3 Year TSR 2015 -201770.52% 74% <35%50%80% 1.80

Relative TSR performance for the 2015-2017 cycle was achieved at a rating of 1.80, between target and maximum
performance. As such, 56,774 shares were earned and delivered to Mr. Brondeau in 2018.
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2015-2017 Performance-based Cash Awards

Below is a discussion of performance-based cash awards that vested in 2017.

TSR performance for the cash award was calculated as a point-to-point measurement from 2015-2017. For relative
performance at the 35t percentile (the threshold) a payment equal to 40% of target is made. (No payment is made for
performance at less than the 35 th percentile.) For relative performance at the 50 th percentile (the target) a payout of
one times target is made, and for relative performance at the 80t percentile or higher, a maximum payout of two times
target is made.

Details concerning the calculation of the payment for the 2015-2017 award cycle are set forth below:

TSR Peer Group Target
Measurement Periods Performance Percentile 0.0 1.0 2.0 TSR Rating

3 Year TSR 2015 -201770.52% 74% <35%50%80% 1.80

The Company’s TSR performance from 2015-2017 was 70.52% placing it at 74% of its peer group percentile. This
yielded a payout at 180% of target for each grantee, as follows: $3,299,940 for Mr. Brondeau, $575,100 for Mr.
Graves, $484,020 for Mr. Douglas, $169,920 for Mr. Norris, and $384,480 for Ms. Utecht. Mr. Norris’ payout was
prorated since his service with the Company ceased on October 31, 2017. No further performance-based cash awards
have been granted by the Company. As described above, this pay element has been replaced with PRSUs.

Additional Compensation Policies and Practices

Executive Stock Ownership Policy

The Company has established guidelines setting expectations for the ownership of Company stock by executive
officers. The ownership targets are as follows:
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Position Required Salary Multiple
CEO 6x base salary
CFO 3x base salary

President of Agricultural Solutions 3x base salary

All other NEOs 2x base salary

These ownership guidelines are reviewed against our peer company practices and, if necessary, adjusted every other
year in conjunction with the formal market study of executive compensation. NEOs have a period of up to five years
from the date of their election to meet the guidelines. In addition, the Company does not permit the sale of shares
acquired upon the exercise of options or upon the vesting of time-based or performance-based restricted stock unit
awards in an amount greater than 50% of the grant if the ownership targets have not been met.

All NEOs are in compliance with current ownership guidelines.

Anti-Hedging and Anti-Pledging Policies

The Company has adopted a policy which, with respect to Company stock, prohibits the directors and officers of the
Company, as well as their immediate family members, from (i) engaging in any forms of hedging or monetization
transactions, or (ii) pledging or creating a security interest, or (iii) any other transaction that would directly or
indirectly reduce the risk of holding Company stock.

Clawback Policy

The Company has adopted a clawback policy designed to recoup incentive compensation paid to executive officers
based on erroneously prepared financial statements. If an accounting restatement is required because of material
non-compliance with any financial reporting requirement, all incentive compensation paid or credited to each current
or former executive officer for the restated period (up to three years) will be recalculated based on restated results. To
the extent the recalculated incentive compensation is less than the incentive compensation actually paid or credited to
such executive officer for that period, the excess amount must be forfeited or returned to the Company. Alternatively,
the Company is authorized to offset the forfeitable amount from compensation owed currently or in the future to such
executive officer. The Compensation Committee is authorized to interpret this policy and make all determinations
necessary for the policy’s operation.
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Tax Deductibility of Executive Compensation

As part of its role, the Compensation Committee considers to what extent the Company can deduct any of its
executive compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. Generally, a public company cannot
deduct compensation in excess of $1 million paid in any year to a Company’s chief executive officer, chief financial
officer and the three other most highly compensated officers. However, before 2017 tax reform, certain “qualified
performance- based compensation”, was not subject to this $1 million limitation. In designing our compensation
programs and in making awards to our executive officers, the Compensation Committee is mindful of whether
compensation will be deductible, but it retains the flexibility to award compensation that is not deductible in order to
meet the objectives of our compensation philosophy. The Compensation Committee is currently assessing the effects
of the changes to Section 162(m) under 2017 tax reform, which generally will apply to executive compensation in
2018 and onward.

Potential Benefits Related to Change in Control or NEO Termination

The Compensation Committee believes that the long-term interests of stockholders are best served by providing
reasonable income protection for NEOs to address potential change in control situations in which they may otherwise
be distracted by their potential loss of employment in the event of a successful transaction. The Company has entered
into an executive severance agreement with each NEO that provides certain financial benefits in the event of a change
in control. These are “double trigger” arrangements — i.e., severance benefits under these arrangements are only triggered
by a qualifying event (see section of this proxy statement entitled “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in
Control”) that also results in the executive’s termination of employment under certain specified circumstances within 24
months following the event. Likewise, unless the Board decides otherwise, the vesting of otherwise unvested LTI and
KMA awards will accelerate only upon the occurrence of both a qualifying change in control event and such
termination of employment. The Compensation Committee also determined that, beginning in 2010, the Company
would not enter into any agreements to pay an additional cash amount to cover any excise or similar tax under Section
4999 of the IRC in respect of any of the benefits subject to such excise taxes for any individual newly eligible for a
change-in-control agreement. Of the current NEOs, only Ms. Utecht would be eligible for an additional cash amount

to cover such excise taxes, due to the grandfathered status of her existing agreement. In addition, the Compensation
Committee has approved benefit guidelines applicable to the NEOs in the event of the termination of their

employment unrelated to a change in control, which are intended to provide reasonable transition assistance. The

details of all of the above-described benefits are set forth in the section of this proxy statement entitled “Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control”.

Pension Benefits

Only Mr. Norris and Ms. Utecht are eligible for retirement benefits under (i) a qualified defined benefit plan (the
“Qualified Plan”) available on a non-discriminatory basis to all employees hired before July 2007 who meet the service
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criteria; and (ii) a nonqualified defined benefit plan (the “Nonqualified Plan’), which is designed to restore the benefits
that would have been earned under the Qualified Plan, absent the limits placed by the Internal Revenue Code. The
details of these defined benefit plans are set forth in the Pension Benefits Table 2017 and the narrative that follows it.

Compensation and Organization Committee Report

This Compensation and Organization Committee Report shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any
filing made by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, notwithstanding any general
statement contained in any such filing incorporating this proxy statement by reference, except to the extent the
Company incorporates such Report by specific reference.

The Compensation and Organization Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis with the management of the Company. Based on this review and these discussions, we have recommended to
the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K and the Company’s proxy statement.

The preceding report has been furnished by the following members of the Compensation and Organization
Committee:

C. Scott Greer, Chairman

K’Lynne Johnson

Paul J. Norris

William H. Powell
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Executive Compensation Tables

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 2017

Salary
Name and
Principal Year ($)
Position
(a) (b) (o)
PIERRE
BRONDEAU 2017 1,191,610
President,
Chief 2016 1,149,830
Executive
Officer
and Chairman
of the Board 2015 1,100,000
PAUL
GRAVES 2017 697,138
Executive
Vice President 2016 678,456
and
Chief
Financial 2015 649,147
Officer
MARK
DOUGLAS 2017 598,321
President
EMC 2016 582,286
Agricultural =515 557 135
Solutions
ERIC
NORRIS® 2017 341,228
President 2016 402,165
Healthand ), 5 345 033
Nutrition

Bonus
%)
(d)

205,900

Stock
Awards®M®)

®
(d)

3,766,572

4,085,842

4,511,199

681,964

1,996,480

340,575

573,952
1,881,577

286,613

283,404
824,816
106,592

Option
Awards®

%
(e)

1,605,902

1,738,172

4,008,131

291,135

308,935

345,174

245,032
260,009

290,533

120,974
128,365
108,024

Non-Equity

Incentive Plan
Compensation®

&)
®

5,909,567

2,552,623

1,812,360

1,338,535

753,100

516,072

1,235,248
685,602

384,923

374,657
293,789
283,888

Change

In

Pension All Other

Value® Compensation® Total

$) ® $)

(8 (h) (@)

N/A 538222 13,011,873
N/A 589,910 10,116,377
N/A 313,963 11,745,653
N/A 196,893 3,205,665
N/A 222,922 3,959,893
N/A 128,704 1,979,672
N/A 166,696 2,819,249
N/A 180,619 3,590,093
N/A 96,029 1,615,230
451,024 52,130 1,829,317
321,569 42,094 2,012,798
152,399 17,605 1,010,541
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ANDREA
UTECHT
Executive
Vice
President,
General
Counsel and
Secretary

The amounts in these columns reflect the grant date fair value of stock and option awards computed in accordance
with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures. See Note (14) to the Consolidated

(1)Financial Statements contained in the Company’s report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2017 for
the assumptions used in the valuations that appear in these columns. The awards in column (d) are comprised of
restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units.

For 2017, the totals listed in this column include amounts earned under the Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan
as follows: (i) with respect to the Annual Incentive for 2017, for Mr. Brondeau, $2,609,627; for Mr. Graves,
$763,435; for Mr. Douglas, $751,228; for Mr. Norris, $204,737; and for Ms. Utecht, $557,971; and (ii) with
respect to the performance-based cash component of the 2015-2017 Long-Term Incentive Award, for Mr.
Brondeau, $3,299,940; for Mr. Graves, $575,100; for Mr. Douglas, $484,020; for Mr. Norris, $169,920; and for
Ms. Utecht, $384,480.

2)

For 2017, the amounts listed in this column are attributable to changes in the pension values under the Company’s
(3)qualified and nonqualified defined benefit plans. Details of these defined benefit plans are set forth in the Pension
Benefits Table 2017 and the narrative that follows.

For 2017, the amounts stated in this column include: (i) with respect to the Company’s matching contribution to the
FMC Corporation Savings and Investment Plan, for Messrs. Brondeau, Graves, Douglas, and Norris and Ms.
Utecht, $10,800; (ii) with respect to the Company’s matching contribution to the FMC Corporation Non-Qualified
Savings and Investment Plan, for Mr. Brondeau $138,969; for Mr. Graves, $47,210; for Mr. Douglas, $40,557; for
Mr. Norris, $23,424; and for Ms. Utecht, $31,467; (iii) with respect to the Company’s core contributions to the
Qualified and Nonqualified Savings and Investment Plans, for Mr. Brondeau, $13,500 for the Qualified Plan and
$173,712 for the Nonqualified Plan; for Mr. Graves, $13,500 for the Qualified Plan and $59,012 for the
Nongqualified Plan; and for Mr. Douglas, $13,500 for the Qualified Plan and $50,696 for the Nonqualified Plan;
(iv) with respect to dividends paid on unvested restricted stock units, for Mr. Brondeau, $70,888; for Mr. Graves,
$37,154; for Mr. Douglas, $39,444; for Mr. Norris, $14,885; and for Ms. Utecht, $19,024. The amounts in this
column also include the aggregate incremental costs for the following: for Mr. Brondeau, financial planning
$25,000, personal use of the Company airplane $94,913, a golf club membership, and reserved parking; for Mr.
Graves, financial planning, executive long-term disability insurance, a golf club membership, and reserved
parking; for Mr. Douglas, financial planning, a golf club membership and reserved parking; for Mr. Norris,
financial planning; and for Ms. Utecht, financial planning, executive long-term disability insurance and reserved
parking. The aggregate incremental cost for each of the foregoing perquisites and personal benefits that was
quantified was calculated based on the amount the Company paid for such benefit times the percentage of personal
use not reimbursed to the Company.

“)
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For 2017, the amounts listed in this column include: (i) performance-based restricted stock unit grants for Mr.
Brondeau, 39,890 units; for Mr. Graves, 5,785 units; for Mr. Douglas, 4,869 units; for Mr. Norris, 2,404 units; and
for Ms. Utecht, 3,868 units; and (ii) annual restricted stock unit grants for Mr. Brondeau, 18,559 units; for Mr.
Graves, 5,047 units; for Mr. Douglas, 4,248 units; for Mr. Norris, 2,097 units; and for Ms. Utecht, 3,375 units. Per
SEC rules, the values of PRSUs are reported in this column based on their probable (target) outcomes at the grant
date. However, the terms of the PRSUs permit additional shares to be earned based on above-target performance.
In each case, the maximum numbers of shares that may be earned is equal to twice the target amount. The grant
date value of the maximum number of shares that may be earned under the PRSUs was $5,347,653 for Mr.
Brondeau, $775,537 for Mr. Graves, $652,738 for Mr. Douglas, $322,280 for Mr. Norris, and $518,544 for Ms.
Utecht.

(&)

Mr. Norris’ service with the Company ceased on October 31, 2017. Pursuant to a retention letter between the
Company and Mr. Norris dated April 4, 2017 and subsequent communications between the Company and Mr.
Norris, upon cessation of his employment, Mr. Norris became entitled to certain payments and benefits, including a
$205,900 retention bonus as reflected in column (d). The payments and benefits received by Mr. Norris upon
cessation of his employment with the Company are more fully described below, under the heading “Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control — Eric Norris”.

(6)
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The Summary Compensation Table lists all 2015, 2016 and 2017 compensation, as defined by the rules of the SEC,
for the Chief Executive Officer, any individual who served as the Chief Financial Officer during any part of 2017,
each of the Company’s other executive officers that served as of the end of the fiscal year, and Mr. Norris. The base
salary, Annual Incentives, and Long Term Incentives (consisting of stock options, restricted stock units and
performance-based restricted stock units), paid or awarded to these officers were determined by the Compensation
Committee, as also described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis. The material terms of the Annual
Incentive and Long Term Incentive awards are also described under “Components of Executive Compensation” under
the Compensation and Discussion Analysis. The material terms of the qualified and nonqualified defined benefit
plans, which are the basis for the accruals reported in Column (g) of the Summary Compensation Table above, are
described in the narrative to the Pension Benefits Table.

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS TABLE 2017

Estimated Future Payouts

Under
Equity Incentive Plan All
Awards Other All Other
Estimated Future Payouts Number of Shares of Stock  Option Gr
Under
NOH-quilty Incentive Plan Stock or Units® Awards: Awards:  Exercise Da
Awards™®
l(zlfumber Number of or Base Va
Shares Securities Price of St
of an
Stock or Underlying Option Of
Grant Threshold Target = Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Units Options Awards Av
Name  Date ) $) $) (#) (#) (#) (#) (#) ($/sh)  ($)
(a) (b) (© (d) (e (® () (h) (i) @ (k) )
Plerre /A 0 1,429,932 2,859,864
Brondeau
2/27/2017 19,945 39,890 79,780 2,6
2/27/2017 18,559 1,0
2/27/2017 102,548 57.63 1,6
Paul N/A 0 418321 836,641
Graves
2/27/2017 2,893 5,785 11,570 38
2/27/2017 5,047 29(
2/27/2017 18,591 57.63 29
Mark A 0 418,862 837,724
Douglas
2/27/2017 2,435 4,869 9,738 32¢
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2/27/12017 4,248
2/27/12017 15,647 57.63

Eric. N/A 0 204737 409,474
Norris®
2/27/2017 1,202 2404 4.808
2/27/2017 2,097

2/27/2017 7,725 57.63

Andrea

Utecht N/A 0 305,738 611,475
2/27/2017 1,934 3,868 7,736
2/27/2017 3374

2/27/12017 12,430 57.63

The actual amount of the Annual Incentive paid to the NEO with respect to 2017 is stated in footnote (2) to
(1)Column (f) of the Summary Compensation Table. The annual incentive awards have possible payouts at any point
from zero to the respective maximums shown; therefore, no threshold is given.

For performance-based restricted stock units, which have a 2017-2019 performance period, a zero payout for each
measurement period is possible, with the first payout for a measurement period thereafter equal to .5 times the

(2)target. The threshold shown represents .5 times the target, although such amount is not a guaranteed amount.
Please see the narrative in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for further explanation of the awards and
how they are calculated.

Mr. Norris’ service with the Company ceased on October 31, 2017. See section heading “Eric Norris” under “Potential

(3)Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” for an explanation of how his grants of plan-based awards were
treated upon his termination.

Each of the awards contained in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table above are granted under the Incentive
Compensation and Stock Plan, which is administered by the Compensation Committee, in accordance with principles
set forth in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis. The Incentive Compensation and Stock Plan provides for
annual, as well as long term incentive awards.

FMC CORPORATION - Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement 37

100

24
24

16
12(
12(

25¢
19:
19:



OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END TABLE 2017

Name

(a)

Pierre
Brondeau

Paul
Graves

Mark
Douglas
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Option Awards
Equity
Incentive
Number of Number of Plan
Securities Securities Awards:
Underlying Underlying Number of
Unexercised Unexercised Securities
Options Options Underlying
Exercisable Unexercisable) Unexercised
# # Unearned
(b) (¢ Options
#)
(d)
72,992
68,424
73,524
57,574
47,717
80,267
82,137
203,533
102,548
12,246
10,252
13,986
36,175
18,591
2,198
11,960
11,244
9,565

Option
Exercise
Price

%

(e)

28.64

40.89
47.60
59.47
72.93
63.41
63.41
37.38
57.63

59.47

72.93
63.41
37.38
57.63

30.31

40.89
47.60
59.47

Option
Expiration
Date

)

2/18/2020

2/17/2021
2/16/2022
2/18/2023
2/17/2024
2/27/2025
2/27/2025
2/25/2026
2/27/2027

2/18/2023

2/17/2024
2/27/2025
2/25/2026
2/27/2027

3/22/2020

2/17/2021
2/16/2022
2/18/2023

Stock Awards

Number
of Shares
or Units of
Stock That
Have Not
Vested®®)
#

(g

30,823

31,100
18,559
57,9624
71,070
20,084

5,371

8,291
5,047
34,000
10,1054
2,913

7,000

4,520
6,978
4,248

Equity

Incentive

Plan
Market Awards:
Value of Number
Shares or of
Units of Unearned
Stock Shares,
That Units or
Have Not Other
Vested Rights
€3] That Have
(h) Not

Vested®

#

()

2,917,705

2,943,926
1,756,795
5,486,683
6,727,486 70,172©)
1,901,151 59,836®

508,419

784,826

471,749

3,218,440

956,539  9,978©)
275,745  8,678®)

662,620

427,863
660,537
402,116

101

Equit
Incen
Plan
Awar
Mark
or Pa;
Value
of
Uneal
Share
Units
Other
Right
That |
Not
Veste
®

§))

6,642,
5,664,

9445
821,4:
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8,629 72.93 2/17/2024 34,000 3,218,440
11,772 63.41 2/27/2025  8,504%) 804,989 8,398 794.,9!
30,446 37.38 2/25/2026 2,451 232,012  7,304® 691,3¢
15,647 57.63 212712017
Bric 1266 1198
Norris
334010 31,61¢
Andrea
Utecht(D 13,848 28.64 2/18/2020
10,616 40.89 2/17/2021
10,352 47.60 2/16/2022
8,106 59.47 2/18/2023
6,855 72.93 2/17/2024 6,672 631,5
9,352 63.41 212712025 5,802® 549,2
24,187 37.38 2/25/2026
12,430 57.63 2/25/2027

For the awards with an expiration date of 2/27/2025, the vesting date is 2/27/2018; for the awards with an

expiration date of 2/25/2026, the vesting date is 2/25/2019; for the awards with an expiration date of 2/27/2027, the
(1)vesting date is 2/27/2020. Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement (as defined in the “Potential

Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” section of this proxy statement under the “Retirement” heading),

her awards are not subject to forfeiture, and would become exercisable if her employment were to terminate.

With respect to Mr. Douglas’ award of 7,000 shares, the vesting date is 2/17/2018. With respect to Mr. Brondeau’s
award of 30,823 shares, Mr. Graves’ award of 5,371 shares, and Mr. Douglas’ award of 4,520 shares, the vesting
@) date is 2/27/2018. With respect to Mr. Brondeau’s award of 31,100 shares, Mr. Graves’ awards of 8,291 shares and
34,000 shares, and Mr. Douglas’ awards of 6,978 shares and 34,000 shares, the vesting date is 2/25/2019. With

respect to Mr. Brondeau’s award of 18,559 shares, Mr. Graves’ award of 5,047 shares, and Mr. Douglas’ award of

4,248 shares, the vesting date is 2/27/2020.

The stock award numbers shown in column (g) indicate the number of shares subject to outstanding awards as

adjusted in the case of banked PRSUs to reflect actual performance outcomes and dividend equivalent units
(3)credited with respect to those banked units. The stock award numbers shown in column (i) are unbanked PRSU

awards adjusted based on performance in the previous fiscal year (as dictated by SEC rules); actual performance
outcomes for those awards will not be determined until the applicable performance periods are completed.

These units represent the shares and corresponding dividend equivalent rights which were banked in respect of Mr.
(4)Brondeau’s special equity grant in 2015. These shares remained subject to time-based vesting based on continued
service through 2/27/18.

These units represent the portion of PRSUs granted in 2016 that were banked based on 2016 performance and 2017
performance, in each case at 200%. The numbers represented also include the dividend equivalent rights credited
with respect to those banked units. These shares remain subject to time- based vesting based on continued service
through 12/31/2018.

)
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These units represent the portion of PRSUs granted in 2016 that remain subject to an open performance period.

While no amount has yet been earned, they are shown here at 200% of target in accordance with SEC rules. If and

to the extent earned, these units will be delivered following the culmination of the performance period ended

12/31/18.

These units represent the portion of PRSUs granted in 2017 that were banked based on 2017 performance, at

(7) 200%. The numbers represented also include the dividend equivalent rights credited with respect to those banked

units. These shares remain subject to time-based vesting based on continued service through 12/31/2019.

These units represent the portion of PRSUs granted in 2017 that remain subject to an open performance period.

While no amount has yet been earned, they are shown here at 200% of target in accordance with SEC rules. If and

to the extent banked, these units will be subject to time-based vesting based on continued service through

12/31/19, other than for Ms. Utecht whose shares will be considered vested when banked because she is eligible

for Normal Retirement. However, such banked shares would not be delivered to her until after the culmination of

the performance period ended 12/31/19.

These units represent the PRSUs granted in 2016 that remain subject to an open performance period. Following

Mr. Norris’ termination in 2017, he only remains eligible to earn units in respect of the cumulative performance

(9) period from 2016-2018, prorated to reflect his service during that time. While no amount has yet been earned, the
units are shown here at 200% of target in accordance with SEC rules. If and to the extent earned, the units will be
delivered following the culmination of the performance period ended 12/31/18.
These units represent the PRSUs granted in 2017 that remain subject to an open performance period. Following
Mr. Norris’ termination in 2017, he only remains eligible to earn units in respect of the cumulative performance

(10)period from 2017-2019, prorated to reflect his service during that time. While no amount has yet been earned, the
units are shown here at 200% of target in accordance with SEC rules. If and to the extent earned, the units will be
delivered following the culmination of the performance period on 12/31/19.
Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, none of her RSUs or banked PRSUs are subject to
forfeiture. Therefore, there are no unvested shares to report for her in column (g). In the absence of her eligibility
for Normal Retirement, the following grants would have been reported for her in column (g): 3,523 RSUs

a 1)(otherwise vesting on 2/27/18), 14,000 RSUs (otherwise vesting on 2/25/19), 5,544 RSUs (otherwise vesting on
2/25/19), 3,374 RSUs (otherwise vesting on 2/27/20), 3,373 shares banked under the 2016 PRSU grant based on
2016 performance (otherwise vesting on 12/31/18), 3,383 shares banked under the 2016 PRSU grant based on
2017 performance (otherwise vesting on 12/31/18), and 1,948 shares banked under the 2017 PRSU grant based on
2017 performance (otherwise vesting on 12/31/19).

(6)

®)

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED TABLE 2017

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shares Value Realized Number of Shares  Value Realized
Acquired On Exercise On Exercise = Acquired On Vesting On Vesting

Name (#) $) # )

(@) (b) (c) (d) (e)

Pierre Brondeau O 0 19,771 1,143,357
Paul Graves 0 0 4,248 245,662
Mark Douglas 8,000 364,200 3,575 206,742
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Eric Norris 11,289 271,586 17,716(H) 1,605,664

Andrea Utecht 28,608 1,550,199 11,532 972,555

3,815 shares vested under Mr. Norris’ 2016 PRSU grant following his termination based on the Company’s 2016
and 2017 performance, and will be delivered after the culmination of the performance period ended 12/31/18. In

(1)addition, 1,005 shares vested under Mr. Norris’ 2017 PRSU grant following his termination, based on the
Company’s 2017 performance, and will be delivered after the culmination of the performance period ended
12/31/19.

3,374 shares represent the RSUs that were granted to Ms. Utecht in 2017. They will be delivered following the
otherwise applicable vesting date set forth in the grant (2/27/2020) or if sooner, upon certain termination events. In
addition, 3,383 shares were earned pursuant to Ms. Utecht’s 2016 PRSU grant, based on the Company’s 2017
performance, which will be delivered after the culmination of the performance period ended 12/31/18. 1,948 shares
were earned pursuant to Ms. Utecht’s 2017 PRSU grant, based on the Company’s 2017 performance, which will be
delivered after the culmination of the performance period ended 12/31/19. The shares are reported in this table
because Ms. Utecht was eligible for Normal Retirement when the RSUs were granted and the PRSUs were banked,
and therefore the shares are not subject to a risk of forfeiture.

2)

PENSION BENEFITS TABLE 2017

Number of Years Present Value of Payments During
Credited Service) Accumulated Benefit Last Fiscal Year
Name Plan Name # $) %
(a) (b) (©) (d) (e)
Pierre Brondeau Qualified Plan  N/A N/A N/A
Nonqualified Plan N/A N/A N/A
Paul Graves Qualified Plan  N/A N/A N/A
Nonqualified Plan N/A N/A N/A
Mark Douglas Qualified Plan ~ N/A N/A N/A
Nonqualified Plan N/A N/A N/A
Eric Norris Qualified Plan 16.25 556,526 —
Nonqualified Plan 16.25 925,643 —
Andrea Utecht Qualified Plan 16.50 779,970 —
Nonqualified Plan 16.50 2,112,981 —

(1) All credited years of service are the actual years of service under the relevant plan.
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Pension Plans

The FMC Salaried and Nonunion Hourly Employees Retirement Plan (the “Qualified Plan”) is a non-contributory
defined benefit plan that is intended to meet the requirements of Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the “IRC”), as a tax-qualified plan. Messrs. Brondeau, Graves and Douglas were hired after July 1, 2007
when the Qualified Plan was closed to new employees, and accordingly these NEOs do not participate in the Qualified
Plan, but do participate in defined contribution plans of the Company.

Under the Qualified Plan, an employee’s pension benefit is calculated based on credited company service and a final
average year earnings (“FAYE”) formula, and the annual benefit payable is subject to a statutory cap of $215,000 for
2017 (“maximum benefit limitation” cap). FAYE is determined using earnings from the highest 60 consecutive months
out of the last 120 calendar months that immediately precede the employee’s retirement date. Eligible compensation
includes base salary (see Column (c) of the Summary Compensation Table), Annual Incentive pay (see footnote (2) to
Column (f') of the Summary Compensation Table) and certain other performance payments and is subject to a
statutory cap of $270,000 for 2017 (“total earnings” cap). However, stock option gains, other equity awards and
long-term performance-based cash are not included in eligible compensation.

Normal retirement age is 65. Ms. Utecht is eligible for normal retirement. Benefits at normal retirement are calculated
using the formula described below.

The retirement formula is 1.0% of FAYE up to the Social Security covered compensation base plus 1.5% of FAYE in
excess of the Social Security covered compensation base times years of credited service (up to 35 years) plus 1.5% of
FAYE times years of credited service in excess of 35. The actual benefit amount depends on the form of payment
selected by the employee, i.e., individual life annuity, joint and survivor annuity or level income option. All benefits
under the Qualified Plan are paid as an annuity. The amounts reflected for the Qualified Plan in the Pension Table are
actuarial present values of the single life annuity that would be payable at age 62, which is the earliest age an NEO
can retire without a benefit reduction. There is no Social Security offset.

Early retirement is defined as retirement from active service when an employee reaches age 55 with a minimum of ten
years credited service. Employees who elect early retirement receive an actuarially reduced pension. This reduction is
4% per year for each year prior to age 62. The maximum reduction is 28% (62-55 x .04) of the age 65 benefit
calculation. The IRC limits the annual benefits that may be paid from a tax-qualified retirement plan and the
compensation that may be taken into account in calculating those benefits, as noted above.
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The Salaried Employees Equivalent Plan (the “Nonqualified Plan”) is a non-contributory retirement restoration plan that
restores the benefits earned under the Qualified Plan formula described above.

This plan represents an unfunded liability and all amounts listed in the table above for this plan are unsecured and
therefore not guaranteed to be fully paid in the event of the Company’s insolvency or bankruptcy. Messrs. Brondeau,
Graves and Douglas are participants in defined contribution plans and are not eligible to participate in the
Nonqualified Plan, as the plan does not cover employees who are not also covered by the Qualified Plan. These
supplemental benefits are calculated using the same formula described above without regard to the IRC limits, less
amounts payable under the Qualified Plan. The Nonqualified Plan amounts reflected in the Pension Benefits Table
above are paid in a lump sum on the later of attainment of age 55 or six months following the employee’s retirement.

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the present value of the accumulated benefits under the Qualified Plan and
Nonqualified Plan as of December 31, 2017 are as follows.

Sum of present value of qualified defined benefit accrued through December 31, 2017 plus present value of
nonqualified defined benefit accrued through December 31, 2017

Present value of qualified plan benefit calculated as amount payable at first unreduced age using December 31, 2017
ASC 715 disclosure assumptions (3.68%, RP2006 with generational MP2017 projection) and reflecting discounting of
present value back to December 31, 2017 using ASC 715 interest only (3.68%)

Present value of nonqualified plan benefit calculated as amount payable at first unreduced age using December 31,
2017 ASC 715 lump sum assumptions (2.80%, 417e2018) and reflecting discounting of present value back to
December 31, 2017 using ASC 715 interest only (3.29%) for Ms. Utecht

Unreduced benefits are first available at age 69.08 (immediately) for Ms. Utecht

Mr. Norris terminated effective October 31, 2017 and was eligible for the Health & Nutrition early retirement
enhancement upon termination. This allows Mr. Norris to receive his qualified pension benefit without an early
retirement reduction at age 62 (his first unreduced age)

Mr. Norris will be paid his nonqualified benefit as a lump sum at age 55. His nonqualified present value is calculated
as the amount payable at age 55 using December 31, 2017 ASC 715 lump sum assumptions (2.80%, 417¢2018) and
reflecting discounting of present value back to December 31, 2017 using ASC 715 interest only
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NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION TABLE 2017

Executive aggregate aggregate
contributions Registrant contributions Earnings aggregate Withdrawals/ Balance at
in Last FY® in Last FY® in Last FY Distributions Last FYE®)
Name $) ) ) ) %)
(a) (b) (© (d) (e ®
Pierre Brondeau 187,212 312,681 2,029,133 — 5,814,771
Paul Graves 72,512 106,221 (287,233 — 1,008,623
Mark Douglas 64,196 91,253 (©496,024  — 1,434,711
Eric Norris(? 42,780 23,424 21,695 — 159,128
Andrea Utecht 52,834 31,467 394936 — 1,984,315

The amounts listed in this column are reported as compensation in the amounts stated in Column (c), Salary, of the
Summary Compensation Table.

ey

The amounts listed in this column are reported as compensation in the amounts stated in Column (i), All Other
Compensation, of the Summary Compensation Table.

2)

The amounts listed in this column include the following amounts which were reported in the Summary
(3) Compensation Table in previous years: for Mr. Brondeau, $2,003,538; for Mr. Graves, $381,833; for Mr. Douglas,
$548,714; for Mr. Norris, $51,145; and for Ms. Utecht, $894,482; plus earnings on those amounts.

In addition to the Company’s matching contribution of $138,969, Mr. Brondeau received nonqualified core
contributions of 5% of compensation on his eligible earnings in excess of $270,000 in lieu of his participation in
the Salaried Employees’ Equivalent Retirement Plan, which participation is not available to employees hired after
July 1, 2007. The amount of the 5% contribution was $173,712.

“)

In addition to the Company’s matching contribution of $47,210, Mr. Graves received nonqualified core
contributions of 5% of compensation on his eligible earnings in excess of $270,000, in lieu of his participation in
the Salaried Employees’ Equivalent Retirement Plan, which participation is not available to employees hired after
July 1, 2007. The amount of the 5% contribution was $59,012.

(&)

(6)
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In addition to the Company’s matching contribution, of $40,557, Mr. Douglas received nonqualified core
contributions of 5% of compensation on his eligible earnings in excess of $270,000, in lieu of his participation in
the Salaried Employees’ Equivalent Retirement Plan, which participation is not available to employees hired after
July 1, 2007. The amount of the 5% contribution was $50,696.

(7)Mr. Norris’ service with the Company ceased on October 31, 2017.

The FMC Nonqualified Savings and Investment Plan (the “Nonqualified Savings Plan”) is a voluntary deferred
compensation plan available to employees whose annual compensation exceeds $140,000 ($250,000 in 2018). The
Nonqualified Savings Plan mirrors the FMC Corporation Savings and Investment Plan (the “Qualified Savings Plan”),
which is a tax-qualified savings plan under Section 401(k) of the IRC.

Participants in the Qualified Savings Plan are subject to certain contribution and earnings limits set under Sections
402(g) and 401(a) (17) of the IRC. The Nonqualified Savings Plan is used to facilitate the continuation of
contributions beyond the limits allowed under the Qualified Savings Plan. Employees may defer 1% to 50% of their
base salaries and up to 100% of their annual incentive compensation. In 2017, the Company’s matching contribution
under both plans was 80% of the amount deferred up to a maximum of 5% of eligible earnings, i.e. base salary and
annual incentive paid in fiscal year 2017. In addition to the Company’s matching contribution, employees hired after
July 1, 2007, who are not eligible to participate in the Qualified and Non-Qualified Plans, are entitled to receive
employer core contributions under the Qualified and Non-Qualified Savings Plans of 5% of eligible earnings in the
aggregate.

Compensation deferred under the Nonqualified Savings Plan is deemed invested by the participant in his or her choice
of more than 20 investment choices offered to all participants. All investments, except for the FMC Stock Fund, are
mutual funds, and all investments may be exchanged by the participant at any time. Earnings on investments are
market earnings. There are no programs or provisions for guaranteed rates of return. Distributions under the
Nonqualified Savings Plan must occur or commence at the earlier of separation of service plus six months or at a
designated time elected by the participant at the time of deferral. Distributions may be in lump sum or installments as
determined by the participant’s distribution election.

The Nonqualified Savings Plan is subject to certain disclosure and procedural requirements of ERISA, but as a “top hat”
plan is not subject to the eligibility, vesting, accrual, funding, fiduciary responsibility and similar requirements of
ERISA. This plan represents an unfunded liability and all amounts listed in the table above are unsecured and

therefore not guaranteed to be fully paid in the event of the Company’s insolvency or bankruptcy.
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Pay Ratio Disclosure

We are required to disclose the FMC CEO to median employee pay ratio as calculated in accordance with Item 402(u)
of Regulation S-K. We identified our median employee by examining the 2017 total cash compensation for all
employees, excluding our CEO, who were employed by FMC on December 31, 2017. We included all employees,
whether employed on a full-time, part-time, or seasonal basis. We annualized the compensation for any full-time
employee who was not employed by FMC for the full year in 2017. This includes the compensation of full-time
employees who transitioned to FMC upon our acquisition of DuPont’s crop protection and research and development
assets. We believe the use of total cash compensation for all employees is a consistently applied compensation
measure because it reasonably reflects the annual compensation of our employees, as we do not widely distribute
annual equity awards to employees. Only approximately 2 percent of our employees receive annual equity awards. For
non-U.S. employees, we applied a published currency exchange rate in effect as of December 31, 2017.

After identifying the median employee based on total cash compensation, we calculated annual total compensation for
such employee using the same methodology we use for our named executive officers as set forth in the 2017 Summary
Compensation Table in this proxy statement. Using this methodology, we have estimated that the median of the
annual total compensation of our employees, excluding our CEO, was $50,370, and the annual total compensation of
our CEO was $13,011,873. Our 2017 CEO to median employee pay ratio is 258:1.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Eric Norris

On April 4, 2017, the Company and Mr. Norris entered in to a retention letter in connection with the Company’s
planned divestiture of its Health and Nutrition business to DuPont. Effective October 31, 2017, Mr. Norris resigned
from the Company and his employment in all capacities ceased on such date. In accordance with the April 4 retention
letter, as modified in subsequent communications between the Company and Mr. Norris, Mr. Norris received, or will
receive, the following payments and benefits: (i) a cash retention payment of $205,900; (ii) a cash payment of $7,921
in respect of unused vacation allotment; (iii) a prorata annual incentive plan cash payment of $204,737 for 2017
calculated at target; (iv) three months of Company paid COBRA; (v) a pro rata cash payment for Mr. Norris’
outstanding 2015 performance- based cash award paid based on actual results at the end of the vesting period in 2017
(equal to $169,920); (vi) prorata vesting of restricted stock units held by Mr. Norris, based on the actual number of
days employed over the full vesting period (valued at $1,092,962 based on the price of FMC stock as of October 31,
2017); (vii) 2,072 shares representing performance-based restricted stock units banked under his 2016 PRSU grant
based on actual 2016 performance (valued at $192,406 based on the price of FMC stock as of October 31, 2017), and
(viii) 2,748 shares representing a prorated number of performance- based restricted stock units earned under his 2016
and 2017 PRSU grants in respect of the Company’s actual 2017 performance (valued at $163,005 based on the price of
FMC stock as of the close of the 2017 performance period on December 31, 2017). Mr. Norris will also remain
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eligible to earn a prorata portion of his units under his 2016 and 2017 PRSU grants based on the Company’s actual
cumulative performance during the three-year performance period from 2016- 2018 or 2017-2019, as applicable.
Assuming target performance, the value of these prorata awards are estimated to be $75,728.

In addition, based on a combination of age and years of Company service Mr. Norris will be eligible for the early
retirement pension subsidy on his qualified pension benefit resulting in an unreduced monthly pension plan benefit at
age 62. In addition, Mr. Norris will be paid his nonqualified pension benefit as a lump sum at age 55. The present
value of this benefit payable at age 55 as of December 31, 2017 (considering cessation of employment as of October
31,2017 and payment in a lump sum) is $925,643.

Other NEOs

The following disclosure and accompanying table reflects the amount of compensation payable to each of our NEOs
other than Mr. Norris, upon various events. The amounts shown in the table assume that such event was effective as of
December 31, 2017, the last day of our fiscal year, and thus include amounts earned through such time. The amounts
are calculated using various assumptions and are therefore only estimates of the amounts that could become payable to
our NEOs. The actual amounts to be paid out can only be determined at the time of an actual termination or change in
control. References to awards “vesting” throughout this ‘“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control”
section mean that the awards are no longer subject to a risk of forfeiture. In some cases, the cash or shares will be
delivered to the NEO promptly after termination. In other cases, the NEO must wait until he or she would otherwise
have received a payout had the NEO’s employment not terminated (and such deferred payouts are referred to as being
subject to a “Delayed Delivery”).

Change in Control Involving a Termination

Each NEO is party to an Executive Severance Agreement which provides that if a change in control (as described
below) of the Company occurs and, within two years after that change in control, the employment of an NEO is
terminated without cause or an NEO resigns his or her employment because his or her duties, location, salary,
compensation or benefits were substantially changed or reduced (each a “Change in Control Termination”), then the
NEO would be entitled, contingent on the NEO’s execution of a release in favor of the Company, to the following
payments and benefits:

36 months of base salary, payable in a lump sum

Three times target annual incentive (based on NEO’s highest historical target), payable in a lump sum

Prorated bonus for year of termination
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Outplacement services, with cost capped at 15% of NEO’s base salary

Health and welfare benefits continuation for three years

Under the terms of the Company’s equity incentive award agreements, contingent on the NEOs executing a release,
upon a Change in Control Termination:

All unvested stock options will vest and remain exercisable for up to three months

All unvested restricted stock units will vest, and shares will be delivered promptly thereafter

Banked performance-based restricted stock units will vest, and shares will be delivered thereafter

Performance-based restricted stock units whose measurement periods are not yet complete will vest as though target
level performance was attained for those measurement periods, and shares will be delivered thereafter

If all or any part of the benefits due to Ms. Utecht in connection with a Change in Control Termination are then
subject to an excise or similar tax under Section 4999 of the IRC, under the terms of her Executive Severance
Agreement and as consistent with the terms of a prior agreement, the Company would pay to Ms. Utecht an additional
cash amount to cover all such excise taxes. Messrs. Brondeau, Graves and Douglas are not entitled to an additional
cash payment to cover any excise taxes.

In general, the following are considered to be a change in control: (a) a third party’s acquisition of twenty percent or
more of the Company’s Common Stock; (b) a change in the majority of the Board of Directors; (c) completing certain
reorganization, merger, or consolidation transactions or a sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; or (d)
the complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

No NEO has an entitlement to benefits upon a change in control that is not followed by a termination.

Termination Not For Cause (Other than Following a Change in Control)
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The Company maintains Executive Severance Guidelines (“Guidelines”) setting forth payments and benefits to NEOs
who are terminated without cause in the normal course. However, no NEO has a contractual entitlement to these
benefits and the Compensation Committee has the discretion to enhance or reduce the benefits in any specific case.
Any NEO receiving payments or benefits pursuant to the Guidelines must sign a non-solicitation, non-compete and
confidentiality agreement as a condition to the payment of any benefit under the Guidelines.

The Guidelines provide:

12 months of base salary, payable in a lump sum

One time target annual incentive

Prorated target bonus for year of termination

Transition benefits (outplacement assistance and financial/tax planning)

Health benefits continuation for one year

By Letter Agreement dated October 23, 2009, as amended (the “Brondeau Letter Agreement”), if Mr. Brondeau is
terminated without cause in the normal course, he would be entitled to 24 months of base salary, payable in a lump
sum, in lieu of the 12 months of base salary and one time target annual incentive set forth in the Guidelines. In
addition to health benefits continuation at active employee rates for one year, he would also receive life insurance
benefits continuation at active employee rates during that year. These payments and benefits would be subject to his
execution of a release.

Treatment of the NEOs’equity incentive awards is as follows:

Vested options remain exercisable for one year following termination. Unvested options that would have vested
within one year following termination become exercisable on regularly scheduled dates, and remain exercisable for
one year thereafter

Unvested restricted stock units will vest prorata, and shares will be delivered promptly thereafter

Banked performance-based restricted stock units will vest, with shares subject to a Delayed Delivery
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Prorata vesting of units whose measurement periods are not yet complete, based on actual performance for each
applicable measurement period, with shares subject to a Delayed Delivery

Retirement

Under the terms of the Company’s long-term equity incentive award agreements, NEOs are considered retirement
eligible at age 65 (“Normal Retirement”) or at age 62, once they have completed at least ten years of service with the
Company (“Early Retirement”). As of December 31, 2017, only Ms. Utecht was eligible for such retirement.

If an NEO terminates employment after achieving Normal Retirement or Early Retirement:

All unvested stock options will vest, and remain exercisable for up to five years

All unvested restricted stock units will vest, with shares subject to a Delayed Delivery

Banked performance-based restricted stock units will vest, with shares subject to a Delayed Delivery

Performance-based restricted stock units whose measurement periods are not yet complete will vest prorata, based on
actual performance for each applicable measurement period, with shares subject to a Delayed Delivery

If an NEO terminates employment, effective after June 30 of the first year of the performance cycle for an outstanding
performance-based restricted stock unit award, after the NEO has achieved Normal Retirement or Early Retirement,
and has commenced succession planning with our human resources department at least six months prior to the
termination (“Approved Retirement”), those units will not be subject to proration. Rather, upon an Approved
Retirement, the NEO will continue to earn the units as if he or she had continued to be employed until the end of the
full performance period.

Any vesting of the performance-based restricted stock units upon retirement is contingent on the NEO’s execution of a
release under the terms of the performance-based restricted stock unit award agreements.

Pursuant to the Brondeau Letter Agreement, if Mr. Brondeau terminates employment after the Board has approved a
“definitive succession plan”, he will be considered to have attained Early Retirement for the purpose of vesting into his
options and restricted stock units. However, the special equity award granted February 27, 2015 to Mr. Brondeau,
consisting of options and performance-based restricted stock units, would have been forfeited had Mr. Brondeau
retired before those awards had vested.
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POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

The valuation of equity awards in the below table is based upon our stock price on December 31, 2017. The ultimate
value of any equity awards in the event of a termination will depend upon the stock price, (i) in the case of options, on

the date of exercise, and (ii) in the case of restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units, on

vesting and delivery of the shares.

PIERRE BRONDEAU
Executive Benefits and payments

upon termination or
change in control

(@)
Base Salary and Annual Incentive
Transition Benefits

Restricted Stock Units

Stock Options

change in control
termination

$)

(b)
7,920,000
180,000
7,618,426

20,530,848

Special Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

(“‘Special PRSUs”)

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units
(“PRSUSs”)

Welfare Benefits

totalL

paul. GRaVEs

Executive Benefits and Payments
Upon Termination or
Change in Control

(a)

Base Salary and Annual Incentive

5,374,208

14,781,916
64,032

56,469,430

(€]

“

()

©

an

an

13)

change in termination

control Without
termination cause
% %)

(b) ()

3,370,810 @ 1,123,603

(@)

termination
Without cause

($)

(©
2,400,000
20,000
5,042,675

5,075,125

5,075,641

10,050,399

21,344

27,685,184

Retirement®

6
(d)

N/A

(@)

(&)

O]

(10)

12

12

14

Retirement®

&)
(d)

N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

®)

®)

®)

®)
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Transition Benefits 105,000 “ 20,000 (6)) N/A
Restricted Stock Units 4,989,434 (© 3,059,322 () N/A
Stock Options 3,197,591 & 437,063 10 N/A

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units 2,115,272 an 1,435,393 (@12) N/A

Welfare Benefits 66,679 13 19,174 14  N/A
totalL 13,844,786 6,094,555
maRK DouGLas

change in termination

Executive Benefits and Payments

. . control Without Retirement®

Upon Termination or ..

Change in Control termination cause 6

@ $) $) @

(b) ()

Base Salary and Annual Incentive 3,073,821 1 1,024,607 @ N/A
Transition Benefits 90,000 “ 20,000 (6)) N/A
Restricted Stock Units 5,371,576  © 3,521,289 N/A

Stock Options 2,691,230 & 367,875 10 N/A

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units 1,780,176 a1 1,207,956 12) N/A

Welfare Benefits 62,979 13) 19,166 14 N/A
total 13,069,782 6,160,893
anDREa utEcHt

. change in termination
Executive B.e net'"lts and Payments control Without Retirement®
Upon Termination or .
Change in Control termination cause 6
@ $) $) @

(b) (c)

Base Salary and Annual Incentive 2,463,619 (1) 821,206 (@ N/A
Transition Benefits 77,000 “ 20,000 5) N/A
Restricted Stock Units 2,502,905 @© 2,502,905 ) 2,502,905 16
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Stock Options 2,137,964 © 2,137,964 10) 2,137,964 (17)

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units 1,426,242 (1) 1,426,242 12) 1,426,242  (18)

Welfare Benefits 67,385 13 12,228 (14 N/A
Pension Enhancement 532,544 (15 N/A N/A
Excise Tax Gross Up 0 N/A N/A
total 9,207,659 6,465,925 6,067,111
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(I)The amount shown is equal to three times the sum of base salary plus target annual incentive, calculated by using
the highest annualized target available to the NEO during his/her career with the Company.

(2)The amount shown is equal to the sum of 12 months of base salary plus target annual incentive, except that for Mr.
Brondeau, the amount is equal to 24 months of base salary.

(3)On December 31, 2017, Ms. Utecht was eligible for Normal Retirement; and Messrs. Brondeau, Graves and
Douglas were not eligible to retire.

The executives are entitled to transition benefits consisting of outplacement services. The transition benefits are

capped at 15% of the NEO’s base salary. The actual amounts paid in respect of such services will be determined

(4)based upon the outplacement services obtained, if any, by an NEO upon termination. However, the amounts

reflected in the table represent the maximum amounts that could be paid by the Company in respect of these

services.

(5) Transition benefits consist of outplacement services up to $20,000.

All unvested restricted stock units will vest. The amount shown is the market value of all unvested restricted stock
(6)units based on the stock price on December 31, 2017. Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, the
restricted stock units appearing in the table were already considered non-forfeitable.

Unvested restricted stock units will vest prorata, based on the amount of time that the NEO was employed during
the vesting period. The amount shown is the market value of these restricted stock units based on the stock price on
December 31, 2017. Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, her restricted stock units will not be
subject to proration.
Pursuant to the Brondeau Letter Agreement, any cessation of Mr. Brondeau’s service after December 31, 2015 and
the Board’s approval of a “definitive succession plan” will have the same impact on long-term incentive awards, other
than the options and Special PRSU award granted in 2015, as an early retirement for those age 62 and older with
ten years of credited service. Until such time as the Board formally approves a “definitive succession plan”, this
scenario is not applicable. The options and Special PRSU award granted in 2015 will be forfeited if retirement
occurs before they vest.
All unvested stock options will vest. The amount shown is the value of all unvested stock options based on the
difference between the exercise price and the stock price at December 31, 2017. Please note, however, that the
(9)ultimate value of the foregoing options will depend on the stock price on the date of exercise. Because Ms. Utecht
is eligible for Normal Retirement, the stock options appearing in the table were already considered non-forfeitable,
and they will become exercisable upon the Change in Control Termination.
The NEO has the right to retain stock options that would have vested on their own terms within one year from the
date of termination, with the right to exercise such options until twelve months after they vest, as well as the right
to exercise vested options until twelve months after termination. The amount shown is the market value of these
(10)unvested options based on the difference between the exercise price and the stock price on December 31, 2017.
Please note, however, that the ultimate value will depend on the stock price on the date of exercise. Because Ms.
Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, upon a termination without cause the treatment of her stock options will
be as set forth in footnote (17).
All PRSUs will vest as follows: those banked units whose measurement periods have ended will vest based on
actual performance (for Ms. Utecht, these were already considered non-forfeitable); those units whose
measurement periods are not yet complete will vest as if the target level performance was attained. The amount
shown in the table is the market value of such PRSUs based on the stock price on December 31, 2017.
(12) Banked PRSUs will vest. A prorated portion of all PRSUs subject to open performance periods will remain
outstanding. The proration is determined based on the time actually worked during the applicable performance

)

®)

D
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period. The payouts of these awards are illustrated above based on actual performance for banked units with

completed measurement periods and assuming target levels of performance for those units whose measurement

period has not yet been completed. In each case, the amounts actually due will be paid in a lump sum after the end

of the normal three-year performance cycle, based on actual TSR performance calculated in accordance with the

terms of the awards. Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, upon a termination without cause the

treatment of her PRSUs will be as set forth in footnote (18).

Welfare benefits of health care, life insurance and disability insurance continue for three years. The amounts

shown are the estimated cost to the Company for such benefits during the period.

Health care benefits continue for 12 months. Mr. Brondeau’s life insurance benefits also continue for 12 months.

The amounts shown are the estimated cost to the Company for such benefits during the period.

Under the terms of her Executive Severance Agreement with the Company, Ms. Utecht is credited with three

additional age and service years under the Nonqualified Plan.

Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, all of her restricted stock units are non-forfeitable.

However, such restricted stock units will not be delivered until they would otherwise have vested under the

normal vesting schedule. The amount shown is the market value of these undelivered restricted stock units based

on the stock price at December 31, 2017.

Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, all of her options are non-forfeitable, but during her

employment, they do not become exercisable until after the normal vesting date. Once exercisable, the options

remain exercisable until the earlier of the expiration date or five years following retirement. The amount shown is

the value of these outstanding stock options based on the difference between the exercise price and the stock price

on December 31, 2017. Please note, however, that the ultimate value will depend on the stock price on the date of

exercise.

Because Ms. Utecht is eligible for Normal Retirement, her banked PRSUs are non-forfeitable. Units whose

measurement periods are not yet complete will vest prorata based on actual performance for each applicable

(18) measurement period. The shares will be delivered after the end of the normal three-year performance cycle. Upon
an Approved Retirement, such units will not be subject to proration. The value of the PRSUs subject to an open
performance period are presented in the table assuming target level of performance and an “Approved Retirement”.

13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

a7
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In addition to the amounts set forth in the table, upon termination each NEO would be allowed to retain his or her
vested options set forth in Column (b) of the Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End Table 2017, subject to
the expiration provisions described above. Each NEO would also be paid his or her Annual Incentive for 2017 and the
2015-2017 performance-based cash award (see footnote (2) to Column (g) of the Summary Compensation Table for
the amounts of both of these awards), and the aggregate benefits accrued by the NEO in the nonqualified defined
contribution plan set forth in Column (f ) of the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table, payable commencing six
months after cessation of employment or in accordance with the NEO’s predetermined distribution elections. Ms.
Utecht would be entitled to her accumulated benefit under the Nonqualified Plan, payable in a lump sum at the later of
six months after cessation of employment or attainment of age 55. For Ms. Utecht, who is eligible for Normal
Retirement, the present value of her benefits as of December 31, 2017 (assuming cessation of employment as of
December 31, 2017 and payment in a lump sum) is $2,645,525. These are the same nonqualified pension benefits
disclosed above in the table entitled “Pension Benefits Table 2017”. The amounts described in this paragraph differ from
the present values reflected in Column (d) of the Pension Benefits Table because, under applicable SEC rules, the
Pension Benefits Table values are calculated using different interest rates and without regard to early retirement
adjustments otherwise applicable under the plan.

Termination Under Certain Other Circumstances

Death or Disability

In the event of termination upon death or disability, an NEO is eligible for benefits in programs available to US
salaried employees generally, as well as a supplemental disability benefit (in the event of disability) and a surviving
spouse benefit under the nonqualified deferred compensation plan (in the event of death). The supplemental disability
benefit is an insured product intended to provide NEOs with additional disability benefits above the benefit level
provided under the Company’s group disability plan. The supplemental plan, in conjunction with the Company’s group
plan, will yield up to 70% of an NEO’s annual salary with a maximum monthly benefit of $25,000.

Treatment of equity incentive awards is as follows:

All unvested stock options will vest, and remain exercisable for up to five years

All unvested restricted stock units will vest, and shares will be delivered promptly thereafter

Banked performance-based restricted stock units will vest, with shares subject to a Delayed Delivery
Performance-based restricted stock units whose measurement periods are not yet complete will vest prorata, based on
actual performance for the full measurement period with shares subject to a Delayed Delivery
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The market value for each NEO’s unvested restricted stock units and stock option awards as of year-end 2017 is set
forth in the relevant section of Column (b) of the table above. A value for each NEO’s performance-based restricted
stock unit awards, with the payout for banked units based on actual performance and the payout for unvested units
calculated based on an assumed level of performance at target, and prorated to reflect time employed during the
applicable performance period, is set forth in the relevant section of Column (c) of the table above.

Termination For Cause

In the event of a termination of an NEO for cause, all outstanding unvested equity awards would be cancelled. All
vested stock option awards would expire immediately.
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VII.OTHER MATTERS

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s directors and executive officers, and persons who own
more than ten percent of the Company’s Common Stock, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports
of changes in beneficial ownership of Common Stock. Executive officers, directors and greater than ten percent
stockholders (collectively, the “Reporting Persons”) are additionally required to furnish the Company with copies of all
Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based on a review of forms filed with the SEC and information provided by Reporting Persons to the Company, it is
believed that all Section 16(a) requirements were fully met by all Reporting Persons with respect to the year ended
December 31, 2017, except that for each of Mr. Brondeau, Mr. Graves, Mr. Douglas, Mr. Norris and Ms. Utecht, one
report was filed late with respect to the surrender of shares to satisfy a tax withholding requirement.

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee Report that follows shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing made by
the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, notwithstanding any general statement contained
in any such filing incorporating this proxy statement by reference, except to the extent the Company incorporates such
Report by specific reference.

During the past year, the Audit Committee met six times, including telephonic meetings, to discuss quarterly results
and other matters. In carrying out its duties, the Committee has:

Reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated financial statements with management and KPMG, the company’s
independent registered public accounting firm;

Discussed with KPMG the matters required to be discussed pursuant to the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board Auditing Standard No. 1301, “Communications with Audit Committees”;

Discussed various matters with KPMG related to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, including all
critical accounting policies and practices used, all alternative treatments for material items that have been discussed
with Company management, and all other material written communications between KPMG and management; and
Received the written disclosures and the letter from KPMG as required by The Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board, and has confirmed with KPMG its independence.
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In reliance upon the review and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of
Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017.

The preceding report has been furnished by the following members of the Audit Committee:

Eduardo E. Cordeiro, Chairman

G. Peter D’ Aloia

Paul J. Norris

Robert C. Pallash

Vincent R. Volpe, Jr.

Expenses Relating to this Proxy Solicitation

The Company will pay all expenses relating to this proxy solicitation. In addition to this solicitation by mail,
Company officers, directors and employees may solicit proxies by telephone or personal call without extra
compensation for that activity. The Company also expects to reimburse banks, brokers and other persons for
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in forwarding proxy material to beneficial owners of Company stock and obtaining
the proxies of those owners.

Andrea E. Utecht
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Designed & published by labrador-company.com
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VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com
Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information
up until 11:59 P.M Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your

proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your
records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY MATERIALS

If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by our company in mailing proxy materials, you

FMC can consent to receiving all future proxy statements, proxy cards and annual reports
CORPORATION  electronically via e-mail or the Internet. To sign up for electronic delivery, please follow the
2929 WALNUT instructions above to vote using the Internet and, when prompted, indicate that you agree to
STREET receive or access proxy materials electronically in future years.

PHILADELPHIA,

PA 19104

ATTN: ANDREA E.

UTECHT VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903

Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern
Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you
call and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL
Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have

provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY
11717.
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TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK
INK AS FOLLOWS:

E35148-P00296 KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS
DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONLY

THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED
AND DATED.

FMC CORPORATION

The Board of Directors recommends that you
vote FOR proposals 1, 2 and 3:

Election of eleven Directors
(nominees la.-1k.) to serve for a
one-year term expiring in 2019, as set
forth in the Proxy Statement.

Nominees: For Withhold Abstain
la Pierre
) Brondeau
b Eduardo E.
’ Cordeiro
le G. Peter
) D’ Aloia
C. Scott
1d. Greer
le. K’Lynne
Johnson
If Dirk A.
’ Kempthorne
| Paul J.
& Norris
™ Margareth
@vrum
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1 Robert C.
’ Pallash
li William H.
J: Powell
Vincent R.
Tk. Volpe, Jr.

For Against Abstain

Ratification of
the
appointment of
independent
registered
public
accounting
firm.

Approval, by
non-binding
3.  vote, of
executive
compensation.

NOTE: This proxy
delegates
discretionary
authority with
respect to any other
business as may
properly come
before the meeting
or any adjournment
or postponement
thereof.
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For address changes
and/or comments,
please check this
box and write them
on the back where
indicated.

Please sign exactly as your
name(s) appear(s) hereon.
When signing as attorney,
executor, administrator, or
other fiduciary, please
give full title as such. Joint
owners should each sign
personally. All holders
must sign. If a corporation
or partnership, please sign
in full corporate or
partnership name by
authorized officer.

Signature

[PLEASE Signature
SIGNte (Joint Date
WITHIN Owners)
BOX]
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Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting:

The Notice and Proxy Statement and Annual Report are available at www.proxyvote.com.

E35149-P00296

PROXY
FMC CORPORATION

This Proxy is Solicited on Behalf of the Board of Directors
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The undersigned hereby appoints Pierre Brondeau, Paul Graves and Andrea E. Utecht, and each of them, proxy for the
undersigned, with full power of substitution, to vote in the manner indicated on the reverse side of this proxy, and with
discretionary authority as to any other matters that may properly come before the meeting, all shares of common stock
of FMC Corporation which the undersigned is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of FMC
Corporation to be held at 2:00 P.M., Tuesday, April 24, 2018, on the 24th floor of the FMC Tower at Cira Centre
South, 2929 Walnut Street, or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

If shares of FMC Corporation common stock are held for the account of the undersigned under any employee plan that
grants to the undersigned the right to direct the voting of such shares (each such plan being referred to as a “Plan”), then
the undersigned hereby directs the trustee of each Plan to vote all shares of FMC Corporation common stock in the
undersigned’s account under such Plan at the Annual Meeting, or any adjournments or postponements thereof, in the
manner indicated on the reverse side of this proxy, and in the discretion of the trustee, as to any other matter that may
properly come before the Annual Meeting.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein by the stockholder. If no direction is
made, this proxy will be voted FOR Proposals 1, 2 and 3. If you are entitled to vote shares held under an
employee benefit plan and you either do not direct the trustee by April 20, 2018 how to vote these shares, or if
you vote on some but not all proposals, the trustee will, in the case of shares held in the FMC Corporation
Savings and Investment Plan, vote these undirected shares in proportion to the votes received from other
participants, and in the case of other Plans, vote these shares in the trustee’s discretion, except to the extent
that the Plan or applicable law provides otherwise.

Address Changes/Comments:

(If you noted any Address Changes/Comments above, please mark corresponding box on the reverse side.)

NOT VALID UNLESS DATED AND SIGNED ON THE REVERSE SIDE
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